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Schedule of Principal Properties

T EHAE
China Resources Building

LR
China Resources Times Square

R s — K
City Crossing Phase I

EH EA A CEEE £33
FUBARRAIE Tt F A (F7K)
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total Gross R ARER
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited Floor Area (m?) Type Lease Term
R EM KL 100% 65,222 # 0 A G
China Resources Building Medium Term
T R B AR P2k K 4783 Lease
No. 8 Jianguomen North Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing
LEERE S 100% 97,139 A E
China Resources Times Square Medium Term
7 4% Mall 51,190 #HC Lease
g 4 Office 36,843 # 0
bR R 85005
No. 500 Zhangyang Road, Pudong, Shanghai
Ry EMF o —H 100% 229,938 v IAE
City Crossing Phase 1 Medium Term
# % 3% The MIXc 133,281 #HC Lease
7% 32 M X JL China Resources Buliding 40,990 # 0
4% %3 Car Park 55,667 1% CP
YN B H B R A 28500155 A K % 4518815
No. 5001 Shennan East Road and
No.1881 Baoan South Road,
Luohu District, Shenzhen
Y| E K 100% 13,789 Y A E
Hua Rui Building Medium Term
EI B3 B K % %1001 Lease
No. 1001 Baoan South Road,
Luohu District, Shenzhen
B = i M —maz E—pz
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O - office R — Residential

ZRBNF AR
Annual Report 2008
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TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

Annual Report 2008

EH BA A CEES £33
FUBARRAIE Tt F A (F7 K)
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total Gross R ARER
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited Floor Area (m?) Type Lease Term
% E ALK 96.07% 36,184 #C A E
Xidan Cultural Centre Medium Term
b T ERE B F bk A7 1805 Lease
No.180 Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
EW KA 48.04% 54,214 1E/7 AR
Huawei Building R/C Medium Term
LT T EHME G E LKL Lease
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
EH KA 15.30% 70,058 /3 P AT
Huanan Building C/0 Medium Term
R T HME DBk Lease
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
BE R 96.07% 16,787 #C g Eiky
Grand Constellation Shopping Mall Medium Term
F A EREE A Lease
Huayuan Street, Xicheng District, Beijing
HEEH 5 96.07% 10,685 #C A E
U-Space Shopping Mall Medium Term
ST AR B R IS K A8 Lease
No. 8 Guangqumen Wai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
TAHA 96.07% 17,952 #C b AL
Jing Tong Shops Medium Term
ERTHGE A% Lease
Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing
B~z 1 — s A —sinz E—pz
C — Commercial CP — car Park O — office R — Residential
ZRENFERR



TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

EH EA A CEEE £33
HHUBRARAGAHE Tt F A (F7K)
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total Gross R ARER
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited Floor Area (m?) Type Lease Term
Tk 2% 96.07% 4,155 57 o 4
Building 22, Guanyingyuan R/C Medium Term
IR R E A AT b b Lease
Xinjiekou South Street, Xicheng District, Beijing
£ 2R 96.07% 3,926 7 C AL
Jin Hui Garden Medium Term
EETREE Lease
Daxing District, Beijing
JBBIR T £ A 96.07% 13,210 7 C AR
Phoenix City Commercial Street Medium Term
LRTHAGRZ M Lease
Sanyuan Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
HE AR SR 96.07% 5,681 A P HAE
Commercial Block No. 49, Medium Term
Jade City, Fortune Island Lease
IRTREE
Daxing District, Beijing
EREB2E1EA 96.07% 2,007 #C A E
Commercial Block No. 1 Medium Term
B2 District of Jade City Lease
ARTREE
Daxing District, Beijing

30 YRR b o 108 B 34,729F 7 ok
VAR JE 3 P 0 b T BRI~ T ARSI
NEE S EYEM P RS B R
o ORAR = eI RN RARARA N
MIEIER A RN R R KHBER
ABRANE S K22 EEIEE - BT R
NS 332,690,470 Fr k ag 1 E @ AL o

B =z 17— pps A —spaz
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O — office

Note: Not including 34,729 square metres of investment properties
in Beijing, and another 2,690,470 square metres of investment
properties which are currently under construction: Beijing
Phoenix Plaza, Beijing Oak Bay Commercial Property, Shenzhen
City Crossing Phase 2, Chengdu Jade City Commercial Property,
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Commercial Property, Chengdu Oak
Bay Commercial Property, Mianyang Project Commercial Property,
The MIXc in Hangzhou, Wuxi Taihu International Community
Commercial Property, Oriental Xanadu Hotel in Dalian and
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Commercial Property.

1 —pe
R — Residential

—REBENF LT
Annual Report 2008
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TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

BAmARE
EHER A f$ 3914
A FRAE ERS 3k (7 %K) 3t
J 35 g3 (FFR) Approximate A A B
BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated KR ENR
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
R = 96.07% 47,900 63,201 1E 054%7A eI
Phoenix City Phase 2 R Jul/05 Completed
LR HGEZAH
Sanyuan Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
BRI R 96.07% na 16,263 1% 05 7H eEL
Phoenix City Phase 2 Car Park CP Jul/05 Completed
LR HAGEZAH
Sanyuan Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
JER =4 96.07% 58,900 62,190 1E 074124 EEL
Phoenix City Phase 3 R Dec/07 Completed
LR ARG E =AM
Sanyuan Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
B g 96.07% na 4971 2 07412A EEL
Phoenix City Phase 3 Car Park CP Dec/07 Completed
ERTHGEZ M
Sanyuan Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
EEES = 96.07% 18,085 92,000  #/H 1146 A b ik
Majestic Garden Phase 3 0/C Jun/11 Planning
R I BAE MG in Progress
Jianxiang Bridge, Chaoyang District, Beijing
B4 96.07% 51,620 277538 15/ 096 A FLge
Eco Living R/C Jun/09 Construction
bR E KB 4 P15h K A3055% in Progress
No.305 Guanganmen Wai Aveune,
Xuanwu District, Beijing

C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

I TR, iR V]
Beijing Phoenix City Eco Living

6 ZRENFERR
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TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

B HALE
FMER A f$ 3914
A FRAE ffat (75 %) 3t
A F AR (FH%) Approximate P R:E
BRYWE Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated HRM R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor E 1l Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
bR A BE 98.00% 283,732 745,045 1E 09512 A Bzt
Beijing Oak Bay R Dec/09 Construction
AT THBEFT in Progress
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing
K155 96.07% 128,408 153,956 1E 115124 PP
Daxing Plot 15 R Dec/11 Construction
IRHTREE in Progress
Daxing District, Beijing
P38 A E B 96.07% 201,496 348,048 1E 115124 33 F
Mentougou Project R Dec/11 Planning in
ARTIARE Progress
Mentougou District, Beijing
K E1TH 96.07% 123,690 227,323 1E 115124 33 d
Daxing Plot 17 R Dec/11 Planning in
LRHTREE Progress
Daxing District, Beijing
LEBRE A 100% 26,569 29,081  {x/& 084124 LEL
The Bund Side Phase 1 R/C Dec/08 Completed
LETHBREE
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai
LR - S 100% na 13,542 1% 0812A LEL
The Bund Side Phase 1 Car Park CP Dec/08 Completed
LiETHEORER
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai
A — 12— g H—was £ —pe
C- Commercial CP— Car Park 0- Office R — Residential

I F AR
Beijing Oak Bay

- e

B2 2
The Bund Side

S RENI AR
Annual Report 2008
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Schedule of Principal Properties

BAmARE
FMER A EERHK
A FRAE ERS 3k (7 %K) 3t
JEtsF RS (FF %) Approximate H AR B

BREYHE Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated ERMR
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
LB E -8 100% 32,935 116,168 1/ 09512 A g
The Bund Side Phase 2 R/C Dec/09  Construction in
LETHREEHE Progress
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai

B3 il P B 100% na 17472 1% 095124 PP
The Bund Side Phase 2 Car Park CP Dec/09  Construction in
LETHBRAE Progress
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai

LiERAE - 100% 68,215 60,513  {E/H 09512 A g
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 1 RIC Dec/09  Construction in
b B A5 1088 5% Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

LiERAE = 100% 38,155 101,217 4&/7 10512 A gk
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 2 RIC Dec/10  Construction in
i 5 Ae 25 108835% Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

LENAE = 100% 37,877 117,402 12/% 115124 33 d
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 3 RIC Dec/11 Planning in
i H Ae 25 108855% Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

B~k 17— s A —waz £ —pe
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

LR LR
Shanghai Oak Bay 1 Shanghai Oak Bay 2

8 ZRENFERR
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Schedule of Principal Properties

B HALE
FMER A EERHK
A PR ffat (FF7%) A3t
J3tE 33 (FFR) Approximate %A A B
BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor E 1l Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
Y| EAEE 100% 14,265 111,039 1E 094£7A iy
Shenzhen Park Lane Manor R Jul/09  Construction in
e B S Progress
Baoan South Road, Shenzhen
RAFREBR—BEm N 100% 301,544 21317 {E/H 08412 A EEL
Chengdu Jade City Phase 1 to Phase 4 RIC Dec/08 Completed
AAT AR
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
RARE R — P Em e b 100% na 107,407 1% 0812A exL
Chengdu Jade City Phase 1 to Phase 4 CP Dec/08 Completed
Car Park
RART LR
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
AR 35 B AR 100% 69,384 297,621  fE/H 104124 En ik
Chengdu Jade City Phase 5 R/C Dec/10 Planning in
RAT LB Progress
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
AR BAR A B 100% na 73,235 1% 10£12A )
Chengdu Jade City Phase 5 Car Park CP Dec/10 Planning in
BT R Progress
Jinjiang District, Chengdu

B~ 77— pps A —waz E e
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

EHF A5 E A A
Shenzhen Park Lane Manor Chengdu Jade City

ZRBNF AR
Annual Report 2008
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Schedule of Principal Properties

B ALE
ZHER A f$ 3914
A PR BB 3k (FF%) A3t
J3tE g3 (FFR) Approximate A A B
BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
FRAR BB 5 — 2 100% 72,267 290,983 1E 0812A eI
Chengdu Phoenix City Phase 1 R Dec/08 Completed
RAZR A
South Third Ring Road, Chengdu
FRAR BB 344 2 100% 84,953 457,232 1E 105127 iy
Chengdu Phoenix City Later Phases R Dec/10  Construction in
RAZRHd Progress
South Third Ring Road, Chengdu
AR =+ w9 i — 2 100% 75,747 233,123 1E 09121 By
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Phase 1 R Dec/09  Construction in
ARSI R Progress
East Second Ring Road, Chengdu
AR =+ v 44 2 100% 476,445 1,579,994 1E 104124 By
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Later Phases R Dec/10  Construction in
ARSI R Progress
East Second Ring Road, Chengdu
AR A 100% 126,539 636,177 1E 0912 A B
Chengdu Oak Bay R Dec/09  Construction in
AR SR AL A A Progress
Hongguang Town, Pi County, Chengdu
HBIEIE R 100% 277,423 947,000 1E 114124 3t
Mianyang Project R Dec/11 Planning in
H BT A E B Progress
Kechuangyuan District, Mianyang

B =z 17— AE—waz £ —pz
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

IR AR IR A= vy
Chengdu Phoenix City Chengdu Twenty-Four City

1 0 ZRENFERR
Annual Report 2008



TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

AR
FMER A EERHK
A FRAE ERUR 3k (F% %) 3t
JEtsF R (EF %) Approximate PSR
BREYHE Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated HRMR
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
FE AR, 100% 50,464 30,658  fE/H 075124 LxL
Wuhan Phoenix City R/C Dec/07 Completed
RETX BB EH
Jiyu Bridge, Wuchang District, Wuhan
LR RS B2 100% na 5,920 1% 074124 LEL
Wuhan Phoenix City Car Park CP Dec/07 Completed
RETX BB EH
Jiyu Bridge, Wuchang District, Wuhan
XERIHKEH 100% 13,744 47800  fE/H 104124 By
Wuhan Minzhu Road Project RIC Dec/10  Construction in
RETXERR Z5% Progress
Minzhu Road, Wuchang District, Wuhan
KiE b kAR 100% 52,555 164,837  fE/A@ 0912 A By
Wuhan Central Park Phase 1 RIC Dec/09  Construction in
RE T LR B Progress
Hanyang District, Wuhan
KiE b AR %A 100% 71,265 225,602 B 104128 il
Wuhan Central Park Later Phases CP Dec/10 Planning in
KL T LR B Progress
Hanyang District, Wuhan

A — 1 — s HE— sz E—pz
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential
" |

B8 B LAY
Wuhan Phoenix City Wuhan Central Park

ZRENFEHR 11
Annual Report 2008



TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

B HALE
EHER A f$ 3914
A FRAE ERS 3k (75 %) 3t
A F S (FF %) Approximate &AM
BREYWE Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated BRI
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
BT AR 100% 144,265 34896  fE/H 0846 A LxL
Hefei French Annecy R/IC Jun/08 Completed
AT B R EH L
Shu Shan, Gaoxin District, Hefei
AR &A1 B 35 100% na 15,343 1% 0846 A EEL
Hefei French Annecy Car Park CP Jun/08 Completed
AT HHE B
Shu Shan, Gaoxin District, Hefei
Ale s 2 — 41 100% 76,552 238,326  {E/H 09512 A g
Hefei Park Lane Manor Phase 1 RIC Dec/09  Construction in
Alew 2 B RS H B R Progress
Crossing of Wangjiang West Road and
Hezuohua South Road, Hefei
SleEi 2= 100% 16,453 97474 12/T 115124 Exikd
Hefei Park Lane Manor Phase 2 R/C Dec/11 Planning in
Ale i I B RS LA L Progress
Crossing of Wangjiang West Road and Hezuohua
South Road, Hefei

B — 17— s HE— sz = pe
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

AP SHeF5E
Hefei French Annecy Hefei Park Lane Manor

12 N i
Annual Report 2008



TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

BAmARE
EHER A f$ 3914
A FRAE ffat (7 %K) 3t
J3tE 33 (FFR) Approximate %A A B
BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor E 1l Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
Fo M B 60% 23,556 51,640 1E 0912A o=
Hangzhou MIXc Residence R Dec/09  Construction in
M T B ve A A TITHR Progress
No.737, Fuchun Road, Sijiging Street,
Jianggan District, Hangzhou
M BRI XS 60% na 92,500 1E 124124 3t
Hangzhou MIXc Service Apartment R Dec/12 Planning in
HM T B £ A E RS T015 Progress
No.701, Fuchun Road, Sijiging Street,
Jianggan District, Hangzhou
A£G KRB BRARE—B 60% 132,864 108,943 1£ 09512 A Hgd
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/09  Construction in
Phase 1 Progress
£ A B 35883k
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
EH KR BRI 60% 101,976 219,379 1£ 09412 A Fi
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/09  Construction in
Phase 2 Progress
BT A B 3588
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
EHKNEBAR =4 60% 79,263 150,478 1E 104124 B
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/10  Construction in
Phase 3 Progress
85T AT %885
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
EHRKABRBALR % B 60% 356,259 769,199 1E 115124 e ik
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/11 Planning in
Later Phases Progress
BT A B8 88
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi

B —wx 17— rpn A —wmaz 1 —pz
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O - office R — Residential

B BETF B B R A 45 K 4 B AL B
Hangzhou MIXc Residence Hangzhou MIXc Wuxi Taihu International Community

ZRBNF AR 13
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TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

B HALE
EHER A f$ 3914
A FRAE ERS 3k (7 %K) 3t
3 dixi i (F7 %) Approximate ESN:

BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
Kb 5P H— 4 100% 74,418 179,448 1E 0912A Bz
Dalian Maritime Phase 1 R Dec/09  Construction in
KieHEBEENE Progress
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian

Kb 5P B =4 100% 59,410 223,983 1E 114124 b ik
Dalian Maritime Phase 2 R Dec/11 Planning in
REHERTEHE Progress
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian

K& B4 100% 323,729 1,032,835 i3 124128 S
Dalian Maritime Later Phases R Dec/12 Planning in
KM AR ENE Progress
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian

X2 H%EE2R—H 55% 71,400 95,869 1E 09412 A By
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 1 R Dec/09  Construction in
Ky e L hEmg Progress
Xinhaiwan Fourth Road, Shahekou District, Dalian

XieZH%EE2R_M 55% 10,374 77,690 1E 125114 33 d
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 2 R Nov/12 Planning in
K HiyTe B2 EEwR Progress
Xinhaiwan Fourth Road, Shahekou District, Dalian

Xk Z 5% 2R=H 55% 23,700 34,420 1E 12484 33 F
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 3 R Aug/12 Planning in
Ky e e L hsmg Progress
Xinhaiwan Fourth Road, Shahekou District, Dalian

B~k 17— s A —waz £ —pe
C — commercial CP — Car park O — office R — Residential

kit p B At B4H TR

Dalian Maritime Dalian Oriental Xanadu

1 4 ZRENFERR
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TR EME

Schedule of Principal Properties

B HALE
EHER A f$ 3914
A R E ffat (FF7%) 3t
JEtsF R (EF %) Approximate H B

BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor E 1l Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
EkF M s—4 100% 113,700 57,254 {E 0912A o= i
Ningbo Tuscany Lake Phase 1 R Dec/09  Construction in
ES ST L) Progress
Donggianhu District, Ningbo

ERFHANE =B 100% 96,442 68,834 i3 105124 Higp
Ningbo Tuscany Lake Phase 2 R Dec/10  Construction in
ERREHE Progress
Donggianhu District, Ningbo

ERFHHLZH 100% 107,013 54,786 1£ 115124 33 d
Ningbo Tuscany Lake Phase 3 R Dec/11 Planning in
FRRABYE Progress
Donggianhu District, Ningbo

Bk AGE NE— B 100% 31,020 30,943 1E 10£12A Bz
Ningbo Cixi Central Park Phase 1 R Dec/10  Construction in
BT R Progress
Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo

ES - Al YN 100% 47,125 124,733 1£ 10512 A b ik
Ningbo Cixi Central Park Phase 2 R Dec/10 Planning in
KT R Progress
Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo

LN S S EINF L 100% 72,244 195,342 £ 114124 iR
Ningbo Cixi Central Park Later Phases R Dec/11 Planning in
BT R Progress
Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo

=z 17— pn A —spaz 1 —pz
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O — orfice R — Residential

ERFHH ] FERFHHE2
Ningbo Tuscany Lake 1 Ningbo Tuscany Lake 2

ZRBNF AR 1 5
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Schedule of Principal Properties

BAmARE
FMER A EERHK
A FRAE ERS 3k (7 %K) 3t
J 35 g3 (FFR) Approximate A A B
BRETME Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated E R
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor # R Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
N PR 100% 96,564 105,119 1E 1046 A Bzt
Suzhou Villa R Jun/10  Construction in
HMTFILE Progress
Pingjiang District, Suzhou
BB — 100% 92,165 227,077 B 094127 sk
Changsha Phoenix City Phase 1 R Dec/09  Construction in
R R % Progress
Changsha County, Changsha
B R IR = 4 100% 129,306 446,207 1£ 105124 b ikl
Changsha Phoenix City Phase 2 R Dec/10 Planning in
KR % Progress
Changsha County, Changsha
BB 100% 162,354 689,392 1£ 115124 Exikd
Changsha Phoenix City Later Phases R Dec/11 Planning in
KR % Progress
Changsha County, Changsha
ki Z AR 100% 153,860 580,000 1£ 125124 Ex ik
Changsha Wang Jiang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
R TR A Progress
Hanpu Town, Wangcheng County, Changsha

B~z 17— A —maz £ —pz
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

M F PR & IR,
Suzhou Villa Changsha Phoenix City

1 6 ZRENFERR
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Schedule of Principal Properties

BAmARE
FMER A EERHK
A FRAE ffat (7 %K) 3t
JEtsF R (EF %) Approximate PSR
BREYHE Attributable Beneficial Approximate Unsold Estimated ERMR
Properties under Interest of China Total Site Gross Floor E 1l Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited Area (m?) Area (m?) Type Completion Completion
TR H R R 100% 171,686 702,572 & 12%127 A d
Chongqing Qianweichang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
FEWILLE KB A Progress
Dashiba Street, Jiangbei District, Chongging
T B+ ok —H 100% 86,840 396,585 1E 1046 A bo =
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Phase 1 R Jun/10  Construction in
TETAEKE X EPE Progress
Section P of Dayangshi, Jiulongpo District, Chongging
T B =+ w4 100% 322,082 1,589,150 1E 114124 3t
Chongging Twenty-Four City Later Phases R Dec/11 Planning in
THTARKE K EPE Progress
Section P of Dayangshi, Jiulongpo District, Chongging
EG AT 100% 445,238 1,042,150 1E 10512 A PP
Shenyang Oak Bay R Dec/10  Construction in
R WARET AW Progress
Dingxiangshi, Yuhong District, Shenyang
B P A BE 100% 94,623 361,287 1E 114124 33 d
Xiamen Oak Bay R Dec/11 Planning in
BT EEES LS Progress
Xingbei Road, Jimei District, Xiamen
K EABK 100% 105,800 177,182 1E 1145124 b i
Tianjin Xiangweidi R Dec/11 Planning in
R B A Progress
Jiulong Street,Shuanggang Town,
Jinnan District, Tianjin

B s 17— a5 A —waz 1 —nz
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential

o B g IEIGARB K A A
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Shenyang Oak Bay Tianjin Xiangweidi

ZRENFEHR 17
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ZFLBLAEHBLENKEM AL R &
P AHRE S o

The 91’0(1/0 's various businesses are gearl'zzy ﬁ’uz'/,

we are fu/f 0/ Conﬁ'Jence fo our promising fu/ure.

The year of 2008 was an eventful year. Since the outbreak of the US sub-
prime crisis in September 2007, the crisis has been evolving into a global
economic crisis in an unprecedented manner and speed, and global
credit crunch and demand slump thus resulted has further spread the
crisis into real economy, posting a serious threat to fundamental health
of global economy. On domestic front, Chinese economy, including
its real estate industry, has been negatively impacted in short-term by
factors such as the winter storms at the beginning of the year that is the
worst in one hundred years, and the Sichuan earthquake catastrophe in
May 2008.

Despite many uncertainties surrounding both domestic and international
economy and a challenging operating environment, the Group has
timely and effectively adjusted its products and marketing strategies to
cope with evolving market conditions. At the same time, the Group has
also made great efforts in strengthening its internal management, and
reinforcing its cost control measures with an aim to achieve a higher
operating efficiency. As a result, the Group achieved a balanced and
steady growth in its two core businesses, namely residential property

development and property leasing.
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AEFE S ERETRGASEEH BRI
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Annual Results and Dividend Distribution

During the year under review, the Group’s consolidated turnover and
profit attributable to shareholders were HK$9,134 million and HK$2,038
million respectively, representing an increase of 60.8% and 42.4% over
the corresponding period of 2007 respectively. As results of a large
increase in the sales of residential properties from the same period of
2007, turnover of the residential development business increased to
HK$6,949 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 60.4%. For the
year of 2008, the business of property leasing and management sustained
its growth, with an annual turnover of HK$ 1,131 million, an increase of
14.7% over the same period of 2007.

For 2008, gross profit margin of the residential development
business was 33.7%, representing a slight increase from 32.5% of the
corresponding period of 2007. The increase was mainly resulted from
higher average selling prices for most of our projects and an increased
portion of revenue coming from high margin projects. EBITDA profit
margin of property leasing business stayed above 70%, while the gross

profit margin of value-added services for the full year of 2008 was 12.0%.

In consistence with its payout policy, the Group declared a final dividend
of HK 8.3 cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of HK 3.4
cents per share, the annual dividend of 2008 reached HK 11.7 cents per
share, increased by 19.4% when compared with the annual dividend of

HK 9.8 cents per share for the corresponding period of 2007.

Land Bank

In the first half of 2008, the Group acquired new land parcels from its
major shareholder China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd. (“CR Holdings”)
by placing new shares to CR Holdings. The acquired projects began to
launch presales from the second half of 2008 onward. By building up a
land bank that well matches its national development strategy in terms
of its quality and geographic diversity, this acquisition has further
solidified the foundation for the Group’s sustainable and accelerated

growth in the years to come.

S RENI AR
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Our land bank portfolio is now ideally balanced in its proportion for
residential development and investment properties, and in its geographic
mix. The size of our land bank is sufficient for our development in the
coming years. While upholding its principals to ensure healthy cash flow
and balance sheet, and to accelerate development of existing land bank,
the Group will only increase its land reserves on a selective basis, and
constantly focus on acquiring quality land parcels with relatively low

costs.

Development Strategy

Our long-stated and well-articulated mission is to provide quality and
innovative properties and services in mainland China to constantly
enhance the productivity along the full value chain of the property
business by way of differentiation in product design and provision of
comprehensive and integrated services. We are also dedicated to cater
for the increasing demand for residential properties from middle-to-high
income consumers, the demand for rental premises from brand retailers
and that for office space from high-end corporate clients in order to raise
the brand awareness of our products and projects. Ultimately, the Group
aims to become a competitive and leading integrated provider of quality
property products and services in the real estate market in Mainland
China, and to become an industry leader both in terms of business scale

and in terms of profitability in the coming years.

During the past year, the Group continued to adhere to its mission and
strategy. In line with our strategy, we acquired from CR Holdings the
furniture manufacturing and sales business in the first half of 2008 for a
consideration of HK$197 million, and also 80% equity interest of Beijing
American Club Co., Ltd. on 28 November 2008 at the cost of merely
HK$1. The above purchases embodied the essence of our business

strategies.

The acquisition of the furniture manufacturing and sales business
further enhanced its uniqueness in the Group’s business model of
“residential development + property investment + value-added customer
services”. The move allows the Group to further explore integration
potential along its value chain of the property business, to strengthen
the competitive edge in its differentiated business model and to improve

its long-term profitability.
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Beijing American Club Co., Ltd. is the operating entity of the Beijing
American Club. The attributable net book value for the 80% equity was
HK$3,719,800 as of 31 October 2008. Beijing American Club itself is
one of the key tenants and clients of Beijing China Resources Building
Co., Ltd, which is a subsidiary of the Group. With a diverse and elite
membership culled from both local and expatriate communities,
Beijing American Club prides itself on having top drawer professionals,
entrepreneurs, ambassadors and celebrities by providing them with
exclusive and specialized services on food and beverage, meetings
and entertainments. This strategic acquisition not only maintains
and enhances the importance and the market image of Beijing China
Resources Building as a Grade A office building in the industry, but also

plays an influential role in its financial performance.

Prospects

The Group is confident about the sustainability of a steady and rapid
growth in China economy and the prospect of the real estate industry.

In the second half of 2008, the Chinese government implemented
specific measures with an aim to stimulate domestic demand.
Correspondingly, the central government adjusted its fiscal policy and
adopted a moderately relaxed monetary policy. Since September 2008,
most of the local governments also announced and implemented various
real-estate specific stimulative policies and measures catering to their
respective local market conditions. The entire stimulus package not
only is requisite for the sustainable growth of the economy, but also
has been and will continue to be effective in spurring and releasing
massive underlying demand for quality real estate products. The total
contracted value and the contracted area achieved by the Group this
year up to 22 March surged to RMB3,058 million and 390,000 square
meters, respectively with significant year-on-year growth. Including
the contracted value of RMB6,110 million property sales that has been
achieved in the course of 2008 but is to be recognized in 2009, the
Group has so far locked up total revenue of RMB8,644 million for the

residential property development business.

S RENI AR
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The underlying factors supporting the long-term development of the
property market in the PRC, including sustainable economic growth,
on-going urbanization and increasing demand for living improvement
continue to hold firm. Affordability-backed market demand remains
strong. The periodic correction that we are currently experiencing has
not and will not alter the fundamentals leading to a promising future for

the industry in the long-run.

As a major integrated real estate company, the Group enjoys competitive
advantages in terms of market reputation, capability and costs of
funding. In addition, the Group’s land bank is mainly located in prime
areas of major cities, and most of our properties are catered for end-
users. Furthermore, the Group is relatively less affected by the downturn
of residential property market, thanks to its unique business model and

its large portfolio of commercial properties.

The Board is fully confident of the Group’s future development and its
performance in 2009.

Song Lin

Chairman

27 March 2009, Hong Kong
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In the year of 2008, residential development of the Group delivered
satisfactory performances. Meanwhile, our leasing operations also
performed well, contributing steady cash flow and profits to the Group.
During the year under review, our projects progressed on schedule,
laying down a solid foundation of promising results for 2008 and 2009.

Review of Residential Development Business in
2008

For the year under review, the contracted value from residential
properties amounted to HK$7,995 million, with a contracted sales area
of 701,130 square meters (m?), representing an increase of 42.2% and
20.7% respectively over the same period of 2007.

Details sales breakdown for 2008 by cities are set out as follows:

SREeHE 4 @A

Contracted Value Area Sold
AR, ¥ 000 16 e Fr Kk 15k
RMB’000 % Sqm %

kF Beijing 753,064 9.4% 43211 6.2%
L Shanghai 918,197 11.5% 32,765 4.7%
A Chengdu 1,304,376 16.3% 204,230 29.1%
K Wuhan 172,503 2.2% 23,164 3.3%
N Hefei 430,027 5.4% 79,961 11.4%
A Hangzhou 2,653,463 33.2% 96,260 13.7%
Iy Wuxi 310,842 3.9% 42,239 6.0%
ik Ningbo 331,556 4.1% 23,861 3.4%
X ik Dalian 818,319 10.2% 77,910 11.1%
i Changsha 134,756 1.7% 41,566 5.9%
FM Suzhou 21,282 0.3% 735 0.1%
T Chongging 146,277 1.8% 35,229 5.0%
e Total 7,994,662 701,130

S RENI AR
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ZERBENFLFRERLBAR FMH4ER The following table shows the sales details of the Group by projects in
Fde T £ P F 2008:
REZRENF
+2Az+-8
FHetat ZRENE ZRENE
ELERS EA:E Accumulated HEAH FHER
AALH HERT Expected BAHY ES 304 area sold as of Area Sold Average Selling
Project Name City Completion Date Project Type Total GFA 31 December 2008 in 2008 Price in 2008
(FH£) (F74) (ARE/F74)
(m?) (m2) (RMB/m2)

BEA-H Phoenix City Phase 2 %3 L1 BEREE 185,030 121,829 232 20,679
Beijing Completed High Density Residential
BARKZH Phoenix City Phase 3 %3 LiL BEREE 171,583 109,393 12,500 28,672
Beijing Completed High Density Residential
HAE - Oak Bay Phase 1 %3 BV &3/ F & =y BEREE 307,157 149,833 16,621 15473
Beijing December 2009 High Density Residential
BRI Eco Living %3 ZE-RE5A PREREE 283,129 5,591 5,036 15,388
Beijing June 2010 Middle-Low Density Residential
LfEE Other Residential Projects kR LEL NA NA 738 9,754
in Beijing Beijing Completed
kT EEAH Total of Beijing Car Park %3 LiL NA NA 8,099 5,763
Beijing Completed
LER—B The Bund Side L% LiL BEREE 107,764 78,683 13,965 33,835
Shanghai Completed High Density Residential
e -4 Oak Bay Phase 1 L% =V &9/ F & =y BEREE 79,318 18,805 18,800 23,707
Shanghai December 2009 High Density Residential
BERZH Jade City Phase 3 AR LiL TREREE 189,409 174,168 3,158 11,655
Chengdu Completed  Middle-Low Density Residential
FRAmE Jade City Phase 4 AR LiL TREREE 333,426 147,976 86,730 6,551
Chengdu Completed ~ Middle-Low Density Residential
ZtmE—4 Twenty-Four City Phase 1 AR ZREAESR BEREE 362,764 129,641 62,703 6,514
Chengdu June 2009 High Density Residential
BAA—B Phoenix City Phase 1 AR L1 BEREE 394,255 103,272 39,248 6,139
Chengdu Completed High Density Residential
EESEY1 Car Park of Jade City AR L1 136,685 29,278 12,391 4,035
Chengdu Completed
AESR=H Phoenix City Phase 2 Kk LiL BEREE 157,300 126,642 20,761 7,784
Wuhan Completed High Density Residential

24 N i
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REZBENE

+zRAz+-8

FHekatt

fEE ST S AR ] Accumulated
BRAH HERT Expected EEE S
Project Name City Completion Date Project Type

wEFatk
Total GFA

area sold as of
31 December 2008
(F7R)

(m?)

ZRENE
HEaH
Area Sold

in 2008
(F7R)
(m?)

EE S N
AR
Average Selling
Price in 2008
(ARHE/F7 %)
(RMB/m?)

RE2p Wuhan Car Park K LiL 8,324 2,404 2,404 4,540
Wuhan Completed

WA French Annecy A LEL PRELEL 200,503 165,607 49,036 5,705
Hefei Completed  Middle-Low Density Residential

HEgsp French Annecy Car Park A LEL 24,983 9,640 4,684 2,594

Hefei Completed

-4 Park Lane Manor Phase 1 A ZREAETZA BEREE 264,566 26,240 26,240 5,263
Hefei December 2009 High Density Residential

Bk MIXc Residence M =V &9/ F & =y BEREE 147,900 96,260 96,260 27,566
Hangzhou December 2009 High Density Residential

&4 KHAKEE  Wuxi Taihu International &4 —EEAE+ZA PREREE 204,464 95,521 30,758 7,330
= Community Phase 1 Wuxi December 2009 Middle-Low Density Residential

&4 KHAEAKEE  Wuxi Taihu International &4 ZEEAE+ZA PREREE 230,859 11,480 11,480 7438
= Community Phase 2 Wuxi December 2009 Middle-Low Density Residential

FmH -8 Tuscany Lake Phase 1 ik ZREAETZA KEREE 71,152 19,898 19,898 14,689
Ningbo December 2009 Low Density Residential

PEANE -4 Central Park Phase 1 34 —R-R&+-f BEREE 31,832 3,949 3949 9475
Cixi December 2010 High Density Residential

BENER—0 Oriental Xanadu Phase 1 xig ZEEAET A PREEEE 108,916 13,046 13,046 26,719
Dalian December 2009 Middle-Low Density Residential

BTE-A Maritime Phase 1 X BV &9/ F & =y BEREE 244312 64,864 64,864 7202
Dalian December 2009 High Density Residential

Sl Suzhou Villa A ZE-RE5A KEREE 67,942 735 735 28974
Suzhou June 2010 Low Density Residential

RS —H Phoenix Phase 1 i =V S9/F & =y BEREE 224,636 41,566 41,566 3,242
Changsha December 2009 High Density Residential

- Twenty-Four City Phase 1 bl —E-%5+2R BEREE 179,485 35,229 35,229 4152
Chongqing December 2010 High Density Residential

ZRENFEHR
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SEENSH TR A

ZRENE AEBEAECHE LSS
¥ E A 69491 T - & &\ A 4682,531
ok 0 & LR R 38 K 60.4% Fe
50.1% °

AEB-—BREANFAOGAFHERALEH
b 0% L

B A& Project Name

Details of the projects completed and booked in
2008

During 2008, the Group’s residential development business achieved a
turnover of RMB6,949 million with 682,531 m? recognized, increased by
60.4% and 50.1% respectively over the corresponding period in 2007.

Details of the projects booked and turnover of the Group in 2008 are
listed below:

&R am EEX S
Area Booked Turnover Recognized
TR #1000

m? HK$'000

A Oak Bay 64,775 984,766
JER S = Phoenix City Phase 3 14,927 401,687
JEJR IR A 3 Phoenix Plaza 29,277 425,463
HAb Others 2,473 81,904
R H R N F Beijing Subtotal 111,452 1,893,820
LR R The Bund Side 26,774 977,060
A Oak Bay 4,171 187,914
LM )3t Shanghai Subtotal 30,945 1,164,974
35 B Jade City 257,798 1,839,003
JER IR, Phoenix City 103,272 749,337
JRARIL R 3 Chengdu Subtotal 361,070 2,588,341
R EUR Wuhan Phoenix City 23,164 193,741
A Re W & A Hefei French Annecy 69,340 419,404
A8 K B AL R Wuxi Taihu International Community 86,560 689,123
3t Total 682,531 6,949,402

ZEERFAR  AEBEARAHEY
EoBEZA-F =0 CEFTRELYH
A K H30.581% 4 0 45 & @ A39.00 % F 5
Ao HARZBRENFRBA K@K -

BT ARAEH SR U B AL R K
ER_ZEALFEHEGSHERZLI— B
HFCRFELK2201E > FRAEHBEAR
W2.941E 7T o LT F — &% & 5o AR =
RNF RS E28E  TRENHNBEAR
W17218 c REBAERT WY S — 2 B4
AR MBI AR RE B E1.96% F K
FAFLHBAARELS8EL o L THE X
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Since the beginning of 2009, the Group’s projects have been selling well.
As of 22 March 2009, the contracted value of sales was RMB3,058 million
with a sold area of 390,000 square meters, both increased significantly
over the same period of 2008.

In Beijing, Eco Living, which is located near western 2nd Ring road of
the city, is one of the high-end products the Group offered in 2009. The
project achieved a contracted value of RMB294 million with 201 units
sold. Since 2009, Phoenix City Phase 3, the Group’s another high-end
product in Beijing, also had satisfactory sales performances contributing
a contracted value of RMB172 million with 28 units sold. For the
Group’s Beijing Oak Bay project, 19,600 square meters were sold adding
RMB258 million in contracted value. The Group’s business in Beijing
had locked in a contracted value of RMB769 million.
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In Shanghai, 113 units of Oak Bay were sold, contributing a contracted
value of RMB176 million.

In Chengdu, 798 units of Jade City Phase 4 were sold with a contracted
value of RMB420 million; while 638 units of Chengdu Twenty-Four City
Phase 1 were sold with a contracted value of RMB360 million; and 137
units of Chengdu Phoenix City Phase 1 were sold with a contracted value
of RMB90 million. The whole Chengdu area had secured a contracted
value of RMB874 million.

In Wuhan, 96 units were sold in Central Park and Phoenix City projects
together adding a total contracted value of RMB121 million.

In Hefei, 182 units of French Annecy and Hefei Parklane Manor projects

together were sold, achieving a contracted value of RMB99 million.

In Wuxi, Taihu International Community project had satisfactory sales
performances with 476 units sold, and a contracted value of RMB326

million.

In Ningbo, Tuscany Lake, one of the Group’s high-end products, a
total of 15 units were sold with a contracted value of RMB87 million.
Moreover, Ningbo Cixi Central Park project also achieved a contracted
value of RMB53 million.

In Dalian, Oriental Xanadu and Maritime projects together had a total of

138 units sold, contributing a contracted value of RMB197 million.

In Changsha, Phoenix City had 452 units sold, with a contracted value of
RMB148 million achieved.

In Suzhou, 9 units of Suzhou Villa project, another high-end project of

the Group, were sold, adding a contracted value of RMB69 million.

In Chongqing, 240 units of Twenty-Four City were sold contributing a

contracted value of RMB107 million.
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The satisfactory sales performance achieved in 2009 to date have laid
down solid foundation of promising results for the whole year of 2009.
Together with a contracted value of RMB6,110 million achieved in
2008 that will be recognized in 2009, the Group has so far locked in

development revenue of RMB8,644 million.

Review of the Leasing Business in 2008

As of 31 December 2008, book value of the investment properties of the
Group totaled HK$9,998 million, including a revaluation gain of HK$370
million based on an appraisal conducted by an independent third party
during the year. The investment properties accounted for 14.1% of the
total assets of the Group. In 2008, the turnover of property leasing and
management business amounted to HK$967 million, representing an
increase of 12.0% over the corresponding period last year. Along with
rising rental income, the EBITDA profit margin of the leased properties

remained above 70%.

The following table sets out the turnover and occupancy rates of the key

investment properties:

B E 8 GEN000) 3 AR (%)

Turnover (HK$'000) Average Occupancy Rate (%)
—ERENF —ERELF Bl W3 & —BENF —REREHF ER % (2
2008 2007 % yoy 2008 2007 % yoy

Eo P & Beijing China Resources Building
Bl R 3 CR Land Beijing Others

LR RS CR Times Square

EY)E M Shenzhen City Crossing

LUk g Property Management

N i
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155,056 132,153 17.3% 96.4% 100.0% -3.6%

84,199 92,467 -8.9% 92.4% 94.5% -2.1%
173,707 164,198 5.8% 95.5% 95.5% 0.0%
554,233 474,620 16.8% 99.7% 99.7% 0.0%
163,727 122,924 33.2% N/A N/A N/A
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ghle details of the Group’s major leased properties in the PRC are listed
elow:

AEE
15 J& pe 45) Ak E | AR JEAS A& & AR
Interest (F7 &) (F7 k)
Attributable Total Attributable i
to the Group GFA GFA Usage

(m?) (m?)

I E M P —2

Shenzhen City Crossing Phase 1
& IR
The MIXc
EEIESPN o
China Resources Building
35
Car Park

EEIESPN
Hua Rui Building
LR
Shanghai CR Times Square
LE S
Mall
b 3
Office

Elv- 3PN §

China Resources Building

W E AL k35

Xidan Cultural Centre
B2 ET

Grand Constellation Shopping Mall
15 B 25

U-Space Mall

EECLE

Jing Tong Shops

b T RURUR % A7

Beijing Phoenix City Commercial Street
3K L

Huawei Centre

EXPN &

Huanan Building

L3 [ 224k

Building 22, Guanyingyuan

2EE

Jin Hui Garden

3 R k4B IR 5 A9HE

Building 49, Fortune Island, La Firenze
3 R IRB2E 14k

Building 1, Plot B2, La Firenze
b

Others

¥ Rk
Total GFA

Hod o REME

Comprising: Retail
e 3
Office

E I

el

L

Elbra
el
Elvra
el
Elvra
Elova
Elva
el
Elvra
Elor
Elbra
Elo

Bl

Shenzhen

Shenzhen

Shanghai

Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing
Beijing

Beijing

100% 229,938 229,938
133,281 133,281 2E
Retail
40,990 40,990 e 3
Office
55,667 55,667 15 &35
Car Park
100% 13,789 13,789 BB
Hotel

100% 97,139 97,139
51,190 51,190 e
Retail
36,843 36,843 p 2
Office
100% 65,222 65,222 o 3
Office
96.07% 36,184 34,762 RAE
Retail
96.07% 16,787 16,127 e
Retail
96.07% 10,685 10,265 RE
Retail
96.07% 17,952 17,246 2E
Retail
96.07% 13,210 12,691 R
Retail
48.04% 54,214 26,042 [y <
Residential/Retail
15.30% 70,058 10,718 P L4 ¥ 3
Retail/Office
96.07% 4,155 3,992 o 3
Office
96.07% 3,926 3,772 R
Retail
96.07% 5,681 5,457 2E
Retail
96.07% 2,007 1,928 RAE
Retail
96.07% 34,729 33,364 S EE
Office/Retail

675,676 582,453

501,551 409,549

174,124 172,903

o R eI ey R R L E O R WA =R o 4
BEE N S R EMF O RAR

2 3

15

ONFE S RAR = vg R - R AR AR A
F A BNE - RN R 28K
HMEBRAERANE  KEZHEEBE - T
e S 332,690,470 7 ok 6y 2
& Ax o

Not including Beijing Phoenix Plaza, Beijing Oak Bay Commercial
Property, Shenzhen City Crossing Phase 2, Chengdu Jade City
Commercial Property, Chengdu Twenty-Four City Commercial
Property, Chengdu Oak Bay Commercial Property, Mianyang
Project Commercial Property, The MIXc in Hangzhou, Wuxi Taihu
International Community Commercial Property, Oriental Xanadu
Hotel in Dalian and Chongqi Twenty-Four City Commercial Property,
all of which are currently under construction (2,690,470 square
metres in total).
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Review of Value-added Services

The acquisition of construction and renovation businesses in 2007,
together with the acquisition of both furniture manufacture and supply
business in July 2008 from CR Holdings and the Beijing American
Club in November 2008, have materially enhanced the Group’s project
management and customer service system and further reinforced the
Group’s competitive advantages at project levels. Turnover and gross
profit margin of the value-added services in 2008 were HK$1,053 million
and 12.0% respectively.

Land Bank

In July 2008, the Group added 4.29 million square meters to its land
bank at a total consideration of HK$9,015 million, which was satisfied by
issuing new shares to CR Holdings. Details of the land parcels recently
acquired with total area of 4.29 million square meters are set out as

follows:

I AR EsT ik
Total GFA Product Form
(F 7 K)

(m?)

T PIAKAR Eivb:a 348,048 AR EAEE
Beijing Mentougou project Beijing Middle-Low Density Residential
b K FL1TH#I IR B Elb 267,115 TARE EAEE
Beijing Daxing Plot 17 project Beijing Middle-Low Density Residential
N4 N Kk 423,315 TEEREEE
Wuhan Central Park Wuhan Middle-High Density Residential
by =Sk 5 1,916,011 W HmEAE
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Chongqing Middle-High Density Residential
E AR &by 1,025,300 PARE EAEE
Shenyang Oak Bay Shenyang Middle-Low Density Residential
Kik 25— K ik 312,164 LEE T RE
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Dalian AR e AR E B
Landmark comprising
hotel, residential,
commercial areas
il 4,291,953
Total
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After the acquisition, the total land bank of the Group amounts to 22.32

million square meters in terms of GFA. Details are set out below:

EE= 2ok §
Total GPA
(F7 K)
(m2)

Je* Beijing* 2,948,630
Lt Shanghai 567,168
w3 Shenzhen 545,805
FRAR Chengdu 4,765,851
Kt Wuhan 474,817
4 e Hefei 412,279
AL * Hangzhou* 808,459
EX Wuxi* 1,721,440
EIR Ningbo 556,090
X i * Dalian* 1,813,295
P30 Changsha 1,984,242
# Suzhou 105,961
k3 Chongging 3,027,258
&y Shenyang 1,042,150
%5 Mianyang 1,007,000
J P Xiamen 361,287
P83 Tianjin 177,182
3t Total 22,318,914

* AR B 450U RARAT A B a9 5 4 98.0%
AREB LT E LI H96.0%AE B
AEBEAEAMN - £ E EEH60.0%Z
HH o KRB K ZHEE KA R S
#55.0% ©

A AR ER EANFRN RE—F
SETAS EEREHCLRIH R L6
A8 IR, T 2EAP B 1T R T (BFENGENG) ©

* The Group’s interest in Beijing Oak Bay Project is 98.0%, the Group’s
interest in other Beijing land bank is 96.0%, the Group’s interests in
land bank in Hangzhou and Wuxi are both 60.0%, while the Group’s
interest in Dalian Oriental Xanadu is 55.0%.

A solid foundation for continued growth of the Group has been laid
down, with the Group’s current portfolio of land bank for its quality
and geographic breath. By now, the Group has further extended its
geographic reach to 17 cities, up from 16 cities (with the addition of
Shenyang).
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Fund-raising through Share Placement,
Borrowings and Debt Ratio

As of 31 December 2008, the Group had consolidated borrowings of
HK$21,093 million, as well as cash and bank balances of HK$5,553
million. The Group’s net debt to equity ratio stood at 46.0%.

As of 31 December 2008, 47.6% and 52.4% of the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in Renminbi and HK dollars respectively. Among
the total borrowings, approximately 19.3% of the bank borrowings are
due within one year while the remaining are long term borrowings.
As of 31 December 2008, the weighted average interest rate of its bank
loans (including Renminbi and HK dollars) was approximately 5.4% per

annum.

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As of 31 December 2008, the Group employed approximately 6,229 full
time staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including its property
management and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, work experience and the
prevailing market wage level. In addition, performance bonuses are
granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, share option scheme as

well as restricted share award scheme.

By order of the Board
Wang Yin

Managing Director

27 March 2009, Hong Kong
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Executive Directors

MR. SONG LIN, aged 46, was appointed Chairman of the Company
in February 2006. He is concurrently Chairman of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources National
Corporation, Chairman of China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited as well as China
Resources Microelectronics Limited. Mr. Song is the Deputy Chairman
of China Vanke Co., Ltd., which is a listed company in China. He is
also an Independent Non-Executive Director of Geely Automobile
Holdings Limited and The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited. Mr. Song
has extensive experience in corporate management and is currently
responsible for the overall business development and strategic planning
of the Group’s business. Mr. Song holds a Bachelor’s degree in Solid
Mechanics from the University of Tong Ji in Shanghai, China. He joined
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

MR. WANG YIN, aged 52, was appointed Managing Director of the
Company in August 2001. He is responsible for the execution of
strategies and day-to-day operation of the Group. He is also a Director
and a Deputy President of China Resources (Holdings) Co. Ltd. and a
Director of China Resources National Corporation. Mr Wang is also a
Director of China Vanke Co., Ltd, which is a listed company in China.
Mr. Wang has a Bachelor of Economics degree from Shangdong
University in China and an MBA degree from the University of San
Francisco in the United States. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1984.
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Non-Executive Directors

MR. JIANG WEI, aged 46, was appointed Non-Executive Director of
the Company in February 2006. Mr. Jiang is currently a Director, Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and China Resources National Corporation. Mr. Jiang
is a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Microelectronics Limited, China Assets (Holdings) Limited and is also
an Executive Director of Cosmos Machinery Enterprises Limited and
an Independent Non-Executive Director of Greentown China Holdings
Limited. He is also a Director of China Vanke Co., Ltd., a listed company
in China. Mr. Jiang obtained both his Bachelor’s degree in International
Trade and Master’s degree in International Business and Finance from
the University of International Business and Economics in Beijing,
China. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1988.

MR. YAN BIAO, aged 47, was appointed Executive Director of the
Company in August 1996 and was re-designated as Non-Executive
Director in February 2006. Mr. Yan is a Director of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources National Corporation.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited and is the Director of Legal Affairs of the China Resources
Group. He has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Peking University,
China and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in the
United States. He joined China Resource (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1985.

MR. LIU YANIJIE, aged 51, was appointed Non-Executive Director of the
Company in February 2006. Mr. Liu is an Assistant President of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and General Manager of the
personnel department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
He has a Bachelor’s degree from Renmin University, China. He joined

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1991.
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MR. LI FUZUO, aged 44, was appointed Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2007. He is currently an Assistant President of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and General Manager of its
Strategy Management Department. He is also a Non-Executive Director
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Gas Group
Limited and China Resources Microelectronics Limited. Mr. Li obtained
both his Bachelor’s and Master’s Degrees in Mechanical Manufacturing
Engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics. He

joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1990.

MR. DU WENMIN, aged 45, was appointed Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2007. He is also the Chief Auditor, Executive and
General Manager of the Internal Audit Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited and Non-Executive Director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited, and
China Resources Microelectronics Limited. Mr. Du has an MBA degree
from the University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

PROF. DING JIEMIN, aged 51, was appointed Non-Executive Director
of the Company in September 2008. Prof. Ding Jiemin is currently
President of the Architectural Design and Research Institute of Tongji
University, Assistant to President of Tongji University, Chairman of
Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology Industrial Co., Ltd. which
is a listed company in China. Prof. Ding is also a Director of the
Architectural Design and Research Institute of Tongji University, Deputy
Chairman of Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology Park Co., Ltd.
and Chairman of Shanghai Tongwen Property Co., Ltd. Prof. Ding has
extensive experience in corporate management. He is a Professor of
Structural Engineering at the Tongji University, Shanghai. He graduated
from Tongji University in Structural Engineering in 1990 with a Ph.D.
Professor Ding is a Fellow of the Institution of Structural Engineers and

a member of standing committee of China Civil Engineering Society.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

MR. WANG SHI, aged 58, was appointed Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 1997. Mr. Wang is also the Chairman
of China Vanke Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Stock Exchange of
Shenzhen, China. Mr. Wang is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of SOHU.Com Inc., Central China Real Estate Group Limited
and Shanghai Metersbonwe Fashion and Accessories Co., Ltd. He has a

Bachelor of Science degree from Lanzhou Railway College in China.

MR. ANDREW Y. YAN, aged 51, was appointed Independent Non-
Executive Director in July 2006. He also serves as the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee. Currently, he is the Managing
Partner of SAIF Partners III and SB Asia Investment Fund II, and the
Executive Managing Director of Softbank Asia Infrastructure Fund
(SAIF). Besides, Mr. Yan is also an Independent Non-Executive Director
of China Oilfield Service Limited, Digital China Holdings Limited, Fosun
International Limited and Stone Group Holdings Limited, all four are

listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Yan received his first Master’s degree in Sociology and Economics
from Beijing University in 1986 and second Master’s degree from
Princeton University in the United States in 1989. He obtained his
Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in
the PRC.

MR. HO HIN NGAI, BOSCO, aged 64, was appointed Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2005. Mr. Ho is a
graduate from the Department of Architecture of University of Hong
Kong. He worked in several renowned architectural practices in UK
and HK before founding Ho & Partners Architects Engineers and
Development Consultants Limited in 1980. He is Authorized Person
(Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and of Royal Institute of British Architects. His various projects can be
found in mainland China, Hong Kong, India, South-East Asia and Middle
East.
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MR. WAN KAM TO, PETER, aged 56, was appointed Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. Mr. Wan has been a
practicing accountant in Hong Kong for over 30 years and has extensive
experience in auditing, finance, advisory and management. He was a
partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and China firm until
his retirement on 30 June 2008. Mr Wan is currently an Independent
Director of Mindray Medical International Limited, a company listed in
the New York Stock Exchange, USA and United Commercial Bank (China)
Limited in Shanghai, P.R.C. and the Chairman of their respective Audit
Committee. He also serves as a director or committee member of a
number of non-government organizations and voluntary agencies. He is
a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Accountants, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of

Directors.
Senior Management

MR. WU XIANGDONG, aged 41, is the Senior Vice President of the
Company and the General Manager of China Resources (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. Mr. Wu has a double Bachelor’s degree in Architectural
Management and Mechanics from Tsinghua University, China and an
MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in the United States.
Mr. Wu has experience in corporate management and commercial
property operation. Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1993 and was the Vice General Manager of China Resources

Property Management Limited.

MR. CHEN YING, aged 38, is a Vice President of the Company and the
General Manager of China Resources Land (Beijing) Company Limited.
Mr. Chen has a Bachelor’s degree in Architectural Management from
Tsinghua University, China and an MBA degree from the University
of Oxford. Mr. Chen is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers. He has experience in property management and
corporate management. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993, and has worked for China Resources
Construction (Holdings) Co., Ltd.
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MR. TANG YONG, aged 37, is a Vice President of the Company and the
General Manager of China Resources Land (Chengdu) Limited. Mr. Tang
has a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial and Electrical Automation from
Tongji Universtity, China and an MBA degree from the University of
San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Tang has experience in property
management and corporate management. Mr. Tang joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993, and has worked for

China Resources Property Management Limited.

MR. WANG GUOHUA, aged 46, is the General Manager of Corporate
Finance and Planning Department of the Company. Mr. Wang received
his Bachelor’s degree in Inorganic High-temperature-resistant Materials
Engineering from Wuhan Polytech University and then Master of
Science degree in International Banking and Finance from Heriott-Watt
University in Edinburgh, the UK, as a recipient of Senior Scholarship
of British Foreign Office. He joined the company in 2006. Prior to that,
Mr. Wang had worked for over 10 years in Edinburgh, London and Hong
Kong respectively with several renowned international investment banks

in areas of fund management, equity research and corporate finance.

MS. ZHANG XIAOFENG, aged 39, is the Financial Controller of the
Company. Ms. Zhang has a Master’s degree in Economics from Capital
University of Economics and Business. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), and Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (CICPA). Ms. Zhang worked for a well-

known accounting firm. She joined the Company in 2003.
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Name of Director

# A7 #& F Executive Director
% #k Song Lin
I ¥F Wang Yin

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to the long-term stable development of the
Group. The Company has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices set out in the Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). A review of the Company’s corporate

governance in 2008 is set out as follows:

A.1 The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the issuer and
for the overall enhancement of the issuer’s business towards success.

The Board should make objective decisions to the interests of the issuer.

. As at 31 December 2008, the Board of the Company comprised
12 directors, including 2 executive directors, 6 non-executive
directors and 4 independent non-executive directors. Members
of the Board are not related to each other and the Chairman is
not related to the members of the Board, including financial,
business, family or other significant relationship. In accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received confirmation from each of the independent non-executive

directors, confirming their independence.

° The Board meets at least four times a year, to review the financial
performance of the Company, any major agenda and other matters
requiring decision of the Board. There were six Board meetings
held in 2008, the attendance of directors in meetings is detailed as

follows:

C e R

Attendance

3/6
5/6
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Name of Director

FE# 47 % F Non-Executive Director
#& % Jiang Wei

4 #& Yan Biao

%) # A& Liu Yan Jie

Z=4&#F Li Fuzuo

A L K, Du Wenmin

T # K Ding Jiemin (7~ =& ZX N A + = 8} £4E) (appointed on 12 September 2008)

1 5 JEH A7E F Independent Non-Executive Director
E % Wang Shi

B 3%, 7% Chan Mo Po, Paul

177 #8 %% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

f] % Andrew Y. Yan
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Note:

C = M

Attendance

1/6
2/6
2/6
5/6
6/6
1/2%*

1/6
3/6
5/6
2/6

* After the date of appointment, there were two Board meetings.

All directors have access to advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures

are complied with;

Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees are kept
by a designated secretary and are available for the inspection of

directors upon notice of a reasonable period;

The Board has established a policy for directors to seek
professional advice, whereby directors may seek independent
professional advice after appropriate procedures at the Company’s

expense;

If a substantial shareholder or director has a conflict of interest in
a material matter in respect of matters to the consideration of the
Board, such matter shall not be considered by means of document
circulation. Independent non-executive directors who have no
significant interests in the transaction shall attend the relevant

Board meeting.

Deviation: None.
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A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Issuer should separate its operating management into two major
aspects: management of the Board and day-to-day management of the
issuers’ business. On the Board level, the two aspects must be clearly

distinguished to ensure a balanced allocation of power and authority.

The posts of Chairman and Managing Director of the Company are
held separately by Mr. Song Lin and Mr. Wang Yin respectively. The
segregation of duties of the Chairman and the Managing Director
ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s responsibility to manage
the Board and the Managing Director’s responsibility to manage the

Company’s day-to-day business.
Deviation: None.

A.3 Board Composition

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the issuer, and should ensure
that any change in composition shall not cause any undue disruption.
The Board should have a balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) to
ensure the adequate independence of the Board so that independent
judgment can effectively be exercised. There should be a sufficient
number of non-executive directors with appropriate skills to reach

influential advice.

. Members of the Board and their detailed biographies are set out on
pages 33 to 37. All corporate correspondence which sets out names
of directors clearly state the identity of each director, including
executive director, non-executive director and independent non-

executive directors.

Deviation: None.
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A.4 Appointments, Re-election and Removal

The Board should formulate formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment of new directors, and establish orderly
plans for the succession of directors. All directors should be re-elected
regularly and issuer should state reasons for any resignation or removal

of directors.

° The Board has set up a Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference. Its duties included those required
under Code Provision A.4.5(a) to (d).

° As at 31 December 2008, members of Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive directors namely, Mr.
Chan Mo Po, Paul (Chairman), Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin
Ngai, Bosco, and Mr. Song Lin. The duties of the Nomination
Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board and to make recommendation after such review and
to assess the suitability and qualification of any proposed director
candidate. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee
are then put forward for consideration and adoption, when

appropriate, by the Board.

° On 12 September, 2008, Mr. Ding Jiemin was nominated by
the Nomination Committee of the Company through a written
resolution and was appointed by the Board at a meeting as non-
executive director of the Company. The Nomination Committee
has assessed the qualification and experience of Mr. Ding before
making recommendation to the Board. The detailed biography of
Mr. Ding is set out on Page 35.

. With effect from 1 January 2009, Myr. Chan Mo Po, Paul resigned
as independent non-executive director of the Company in order
to spend more time on the work of the Legislative Council.
At the same time, Mr. Chan also resigned as Chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Company, Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company, and member of the Remuneration

Committee of the Company.
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Deviation:

On 3 March 2009, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter was nominated by
the Nomination Committee of the Company through a written
resolution and was appointed by the Board at a meeting as
independent non-executive director of the Company. At the
same time, Mr. Wan was also appointed as Chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Company, member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company, and member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. The Nomination Committee has
assessed the qualification and experience of Mr. Wan before
making recommendation to the Board. The detailed biography of
Mr. Wan is set out on Page 37.

The experience and views of independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard. The Company has appointed 4
independent non-executive directors, exceeding the minimum
requirement under the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors. The detailed

biographies of directors are set out on pages 36 to 37.

During the year under review, except independent
non-executive directors Mr. Chan Mo Po, Paul and Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan have been appointed for a fixed term of
three years, all directors of the Company (including
executive and non-executive directors) are not appointed
for a fixed period, but the articles of the Company
stipulate that every director (including executive and
non-executive directors) retires and be re-elected at
least once every three years. Therefore, the Company
has adopted adequate measures to ensure the corporate
governance of the Company complies with the same level
to that required under the Code.
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A.5 Responsibilities of Directors

All directors are required to keep abreast of their responsibilities as a
director and of the conduct, business activities and development of that
issuer. Since the Board is an overall group in substance, non-executive
and executive directors should equally be required to act in a cautious
and skillful manner.

. Every newly appointed director shall receive a comprehensive and
formal induction on the responsibilities of directors and to ensure
that the directors understand their duties;

° Non-executive directors of the Company are equipped with
adequate experience and skills to fully participate in the Board to
perform the functions under Code Provisions A.5.2(a) to (d);

° Every director shall acknowledge that sufficient time should be
contributed to the affairs of the Company;

o The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code of best practices
for the securities transactions by directors of the Company. After
specific enquiries by the Company, all directors confirm that they
have complied with the Model Code throughout the year under
review. The Company has also formulated a code of conduct
for the securities transactions by relevant officers to govern the
securities transactions of officers who come into contact with
price-sensitive information due to their office.

Deviation: None.

A.6 Supply of and Access to Information

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information so as to enable them to make an informed decision and to
discharge their duties and responsibilities as a director.

° Documents of meetings are generally sent to members of the
Board or Board Committees three days before the meetings of the

Board or Board Committee.

Deviation: None.
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B.1 Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

Issuer shall establish a formal and transparent procedure for setting

policies for fixing the remuneration packages of directors. No director

shall be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

° The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with specific
written terms of reference. Its duties include those required under
Code Provisions B.1.3(a) to (f).

° As at 31 December 2008, a majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company were independent non-
executive directors. Mr. Andrew Y.Yan was the Chairman and
other members included Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Chan Mo
Po, Paul and Mr. Wang Yin.

Attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee at meetings
held in 2008 is detailed as follows:

E N P& ¢

Attendance

0/1
171
0/1
171

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the incentive mechanism of the Company and approved remuneration of

members of the Board and senior management.

Deviation: None.
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C.1 Financial Reporting
The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible

assessment of the issuer’s performance, state of affairs and prospects.

° The directors are responsible for the supervision of the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company, to ensure that the
financial statements give a true and fair view of the operating and
financial status of the Company. In the preparation of the financial
statements as at 31 December 2008, the directors of the Company
have selected and applied appropriate accounting policies and have
made cautious and reasonable judgments and estimates based on

the principle of going concern;

. In 2008, audit fees were approximately HK$2,390,000 and there

was no fees for non-audit related services;

° The statement of responsibilities expressed by the auditor of
the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
page 71.

Deviation: None.

C.2 Internal Controls
The Board should maintain a sound and effective internal controls

system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s assets.

o The Board is responsible for the internal control system of the
Company and conduct regular review on the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company. During the year under
review, the Board believes the current internal control system has
been further improved and is sound and effective to safeguard the

shareholders’ investments and the issuer’s assets.

Deviation: None.
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* % Wang Shi

15T 28 2% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco
% %, % Chan Mo Po, Paul
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C.3 Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2008, all members of the Audit Committee of
the Company were independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Chan Mo Po, Paul (Chairman), Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Ho Hin
Ngai, Bosco, and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, while Mr. Chan Mo Po, Paul

held accounting-related professional qualifications;

Current terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the
Company include the duties set out in Code Provisions C.3.3(a) to

(n);

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings to review the financial statements of the Company
and discussed with the external auditor the impacts of the
changes in accounting policies on the Company, the application
of accounting standards and of the Listing Rules etc. and made
recommendations thereof, as well as advising the management
on the enhancement of the level of corporate governance of the

Company on an on-going basis;

Attendance of members of the Audit Committee at meetings held
in 2008 is detailed as follows:

E N P& 4

Attendance

0/3
2/3
3/3
3/3

Minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee are kept by a

designated secretary and sent to all members of the Board.

Deviation: None.
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D.1 Delegation by the Board

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board
for its decision and should give clear directions to management as to the
matters that must be approved by the Board.

° The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies,
objectives and business plans for the Company, and to supervise
and control the implementation of strategies of the Company and
its operations and financial performance. In addition, the Board
is also responsible for maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance of Company.

° The Board delegates the duties of the implementation of
strategies and the decision-making of daily operations to the
Managing Director. The Management regularly meets to review
the strategic goals, corporate structure, operating procedures,
budget implementation, major projects and business plans of the
Company.

Deviation: None.

E.1 Effective Communication

The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings to
communicate with shareholders.

o The Company enhances the communication with Shareholders
by means of publication of interim and annual results report
and press release and timely publication of information on the
Company’s website.

° The Company also promotes the communication with
shareholders through various investor relation activities to provide
shareholders with more channels to understand the strategies and
the latest development of the Company.

During the year under review, the Company participated in roadshows
in Hong Kong, Singapore, Dubai, London, New York City and Tokyo
organised by Citigroup, J.P. Morgan and Macquarie respectively, covering
issues on the results announcement and significant acquisitions and
presented to investors operating results, development strategies and
latest business status of the Company.
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At the same time, the Company participated in various investment
conferences held by UBS, J.P. Morgan, CLSA, Macquarie, Citigroup,
Morgan Stanley in Shanghai, Beijing, Guangzhou, Macau, Hong
Kong, Singapore and frequently met on an one-on-one basis with
fund managers and investors in Hong Kong and overseas, as well as
arranged on-site visits to the Company’s properties to actively create
opportunities for communication with investors, so as to enable them to
timely understand the latest business development of the Company and
the industry environment of the real estate business of China to enhance
their understanding and confidence on the Company.

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve and perfect the
communication with investors and to provide them with more
opportunities to understand the business of the Company as well as to
enable the management of the Company to have a better understanding
of the requirements of the market on the Company, with an aim
to continue to enhance the internal management, profitability and
governance of the Company.

Due to business trip, Chairman of the Company did not
attend the annual general meeting held on 30 May 2008.

Deviation:

Due to other business commitments or being out of
town, all independent non-executive directors did not
attend the extraordinary general meeting held on 14 July
2008.

E.2 Voting by Poll

The issuer should regularly inform shareholders of the procedures for
voting by poll and ensure compliance with the requirements about
voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules and the constitutional
documents of the issuer.

° Details on the procedures for voting by poll of the Company are
set out in the shareholder circular convening the general meeting.
When voting on resolutions requiring a poll, the Company engages
external scrutineer to ensure proper counting of the votes.

Deviation: None.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting to shareholders their report
and audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are shown on page
147 to 157.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 7 to the

financial statements.

Group Profit
The consolidated income statement set out on page 73 shows the

Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Dividends

The Board of Directors recommend the declaration of a final dividend of
HK8.3 cents (2007: HK7.4 cents) per share, together with the interim
dividend of HK3.4 cents per share, dividends per share for the year
amounting to HK11.7 cents. The final dividend is payable on 3 July 2009
to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the

Company on 3 June 2009.

Property, Plan and Equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out

in note 17 to the financial statements.

Properties
A schedule of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages 3
to 17.

Share Capital

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 35 to the

financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves at the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. Reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2008 amounted to HK$22,594,081,000
(2007: HK$16,715,857,000).

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this

report are:

Chairman
Mr. Song Lin

Managing Director
Mr. Wang Yin

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Wei
Mr. Yan Biao
Mr. Liu Yan Jie
Mr. Li Fuzuo
Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Ding Jiemin
(Appointed on 12 September 2008)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Shi
Mr. Chan Mo Po, Paul
(Resigned on 1 January 2009)
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco
Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
(Appointed on 3 March 2009)
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According to Articles 99 and 116 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Wang Yin, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ding Jiemin and Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter shall
retire and are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence
from all the independent non-executive directors, and considers that
all the independent non-executive directors are independent of the

Company.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 33 to 38.

Share Option

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of
promoting additional commitment and dedication to the objective of
the Company by the participants. During the year under review, the
Company operates two share option schemes, namely the “New Scheme”
and the “Old Scheme”.

The Old Scheme refers to the share option scheme which subsisted
until 31 January 2002 and was terminated on 31 January 2002. Eligible
participants of the Old Scheme were the employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries (including the directors). The maximum entitlement
of each participant did not exceed the maximum limit as permitted by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) applicable before 1st September,
2001. The exercise prices of the share options were determined at
the entire discretion of the Board of Directors, but did not exceed the
maximum discount permitted by the Listing Rules applicable prior to 1
September 2001.
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The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme which was approved
by the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting held on
31 January 2002 and shall expire on 31 January 2012. The Board of
Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible participants
including employees, executive or non-executive directors of the Group
(or any proposed candidates), any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employee, executive or non-executive director
of the Group, any executive or employee (or any proposed candidates)
of consultants, professional and other advisors to the Group, chief
executive, substantial shareholders of the Company, associated
companies of the Group, associates of directors, chief executive and
substantial shareholders of the Company, and employees of substantial
shareholders. The maximum entitlement of each participant (including
options to be granted to the directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders or any of their respective associates) is equal to the
maximum limit permitted under the prevailing Listing Rules. The
exercise prices of the share options are determined pursuant to the
provision of prevailing Listing Rules.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 23rd May, 2006, shareholders
approved the ordinary resolution to refresh the mandate limit of the
New Scheme, whereby further share options can be granted to subscribe
up to 313,138,369 shares.

As at the date of this report, the number of shares available for issue
under the New Scheme is 340,450,869 shares and represents 7.21% of

the issued share capital of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options under both schemes may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon the payment of a

nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Share options disclosed below and granted on or after 31 January 2002
were issued under the New Scheme while the remaining options were
under the Old Scheme. Share options granted under the Old Scheme are
exercisable before 27 May 2007, and those under the New Scheme are
exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of grant. Certain share
options are fully vested or exercisable within ten years from the date of
grant while part of them are vested within four years after the date of

grant.
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Save as disclosed below, no other share options has been granted,

exercised, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant share

option scheme during the year in relation to each of the directors, chief

executive, substantial shareholders of the Company or their respective

associates and employees of substantial shareholders.

(F) % (a) Directors
AZEENF+_A=+—H ' F7 As at 31 December 2008, the following directors had interests in
FTERAMRIERNG) ZF - E RS respect of options to subscribe for shares under both New and Old
MW E W RE KA AR Schemes of the Company:
ANE B A
BT
T * EL Price of the
Number of share option” Company's share
2008% 2008% HK$
1A18 12A318
BRI AREE AREE ARER AREE BRI
Option ® itk B2 [ &4 Option [E: & [ Xig:d
¥dAd  AEREE outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Expired  Outstanding RbiE B ik
S Date of Exercise at during during during during at Option Option
¥4 Name Capacity Grant Price 1/1/2008 the year the year the year the year 31/12/2008 granted exercised
% # || Song Lin FEAHAA 1/6/2005 123 900,000 - - - - 900,000 - -
Beneficial Owner
##A || LiuYanlie FEEAA 1/6/2005 123 250,000 - - - - 250,000 - -
Beneficial Owner
44 || Li Fuzuo FaBAA 1/6/2005 123 250,000 - - - - 250,000 - -
Beneficial Owner
BEK || DuWenmin  FHEHEAA 1/6/2005 123 250,000 - - - - 250,000 - -
Beneficial Owner
i 32 ¢ Notes:
1. Ay B HE S B 35 B B A A X R 1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying

3] A8 M By o
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shares in the Company covered by the share options.
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(Z) BB AR At d (b) Employees and other participants
ATFARNGRERRER (REHE Details of share options granted to the employees (other than
F ) B b A 1 3%k 64 B Ay B AR directors) of the Group and other participants by the Company are
L o set out below:
(i) HAE(Fé&#ETF) (i)  Employees (Other than directors)
ANFRARAEY
e 1% CE Price of
Number of share option”’ Company's share”
2008% 2008% HK$
1418 AREE AREE AREE AREE 124318
HASHE ®a itk 4 % AT & e
Option Granted Exercised Cancelled Expired Option LiE T Btk
E SR i & ¢:3 outstanding during during during during outstanding Option Option
Date of Grant Exercise Price at 1/112008 the year the year the year the year at 31/12/2008 granted exercised
/102002 096 1,200,000 - 20000 - - 1,180,000 - 728
28042004 104 3,265,000 - 855,000 - - 2440000 - 1114
2942005 142 5812500 - 1,180,000 - - 4632500 - 967
262005 127 250,000 - 100,000 - - 150,000 - 754
27162005 134 400,000 - 200,000 - - 200,000 - 1102
3172006 325 24,700,000 - 975,000 - - 17,725,000 = 1384
1722006 3965 1,875,000 - 250,000 - - 1625,000 - 1070
26612006 358 2850000 - - - - 2850000 - -
Mhez Notes:
1. JE Ay I A S B 38 AR A AR Y R Number of share options refers to the number of
X E) AR R o underlying shares in the Company covered by the share
options.
2. S AT R R B #)fz VLS S The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the
B BB A 0 By By e options exercised during the year is the weighted average
AT B AT —18 % B R A of the closing prices quoted on the Stock Exchange
g;; BT BT 3RO T AR Z A AR T 35 immediately before the date of exercise of options.
(i) H b2 (ii)  Other participants
ANE B RAEY
5 T E CE Price of
Number of share option"’ Company's share”
2008% 2008% HK$
1418 IRER IRER IRER IRER 124318
REXiEd ®4 [igd B2 %3k AT % & [J¥ix:
Option Granted Exercised Cancelled Expired Option B Rty
EE:E kR outstanding during during during during outstanding Option Option
Date of Grant Exercise Price at 1/112008 the year the year the year the year at 31/12/2008 granted exercised
4/3/2002 159 4,990,000 - 3,040,000 - - 1,950,000 - 1357
1/6/2005 1.23 3,350,000 - 1,725,000 - - 1,625,000 - 11.92
M3z ¢ Notes:
1. R Ay A0 HE S B 35 By BAHE S R Number of share options refers to the number of
Z R E) AR B o underlying shares in the Company covered by the share
options.
2. FhEAT 1E B Ay B HE BT E 2R The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the

OB B AR AE 0 B & R Ay A HE
488 AT — 18R 8 A
b 3B BT 20T AR Z R 3

# o

options exercised during the year is the weighted average
of the closing prices quoted on the Stock Exchange
immediately before the date of exercise of options.
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Directors’ Interest in Securities

As at 31 December, 2008, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”)) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including
interests and short positions which the directors and chief executive of
the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO, or which are required to be recorded in the register maintained
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be
notified to Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the
“Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

RS Company:

AAMBHE RO BB T O

TR A L% & Number of Approximate

Long position/ Number underlying Ex percentage

&4 Name Short position of Shares shares'” Capacity of interest®

Kk Song Lin T A — 900,000 FREAA 0.019
Long position Beneficial owner

I ¥ Wang Yin FA 5,230,000 - KRHFAA 0.111
Long position Beneficial owner

EL Jiang Wei FA 892,000 - KHRAFAA 0.019
Long position Beneficial owner

MR Yan Biao T A 1,992,000 - KRFHA 0.042
Long position Beneficial owner

Bl E A Liu Yan Jie FA 550,000 250,000 KEARFAA 0.017
Long position Beneficial owner

A Li Fuzuo FA 750,000 250,000 KAFAA 0.021
Long position Beneficial owner

XK Du Wenmin T A 790,000 250,000 KRFHA 0.022
Long position Beneficial owner

M2z Notes:

(1) #FwEX[mpIgaE ] —pFike
F ok Ry SR AR BT 5 R 8d A 3] AR B RE
o EERNAAEL A ETAE
Wy A R AATE TR o

(2) 25 AP & A 8) R A AR MR
DHHAZEEANFTZA =+ —H
1A 8] B AT R R A B 80 A I o
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(1)  This refers to underlying shares of the Company covered by
share options granted as detailed above under the section
headed “Share Option Schemes”, such options being unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives.

(2)  This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December, 2008.
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(Z0) AR 3] 40 ik B—E M A £A4 A (b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
g ([ WA £ ) e 847518 % 248 1 Resources Enterprise Limited (“CRE”), an associated corporation
B o A ey HE A of the Company:

AR M B E B O FE BB T 5
HE R ¥R Number of Approximate
Long position/ Number underlying percentage
Ei¥A Name Short position of Shares shares" of interest®
R
ER
#
B
LR,
M2z : Notes:
(1) FeApdf3Em Al £l B et Je g (1)  This refers to underlying shares of CRE, covered by share option
b R HAHE BT 0 Boad 32 AN £ AR B IR granted under the Share Option Scheme of CRE, such option
W HmERA IR B A TR being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.
RN IEASTE TR o
(2) 354 £ FT 3 2ty 3 M A E M AR M (2)  This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
B HEA_EBENF+ =+ — in shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share
B 1k 5 M A £ BT RKLA G T 5 capital of the CRE as at 31 December, 2008.
e o
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() 74N 3] AR B o5 B —2 MR R4 A (c)
oo &) ([ 3 MR R ) (AT 4% 3 1 B 3¢

A RG] ) B AT 538 B A& AR BB A

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China

Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”, previously known as

China Resources Logic Limited ), an associated corporation of the

TR AR R Company:
A8 MR E B EAEHER T H @
b T ety 3B Number of Approximate
Long position/ Number underlying percentage
4 Name Short position of Shares shares" of interest”
I ¥ Wang Yin A 30,000 — 0.002
Long position
ZAaAF Li Fuzuo FA 51,000 — 0.004
Long position
LK, Du Wenmin ¥F B 54,000 — 0.004
Long position
fH 22 Notes:
(1) F5ARdk 3 R & R A=) J ek (1)  This refers to underlying shares of CR Gas covered by share
b R BARE BT o R 8% 3B M MR R AR MR option granted under the Share Option Scheme of the CR Gas,
W FER AR B L TAE such option being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.
P EANA R ARATE TR o
(2)  F5%F £ 7 35 B8y 3E MR KA B4R M (2)  This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions

BAr B A EEANF T =4 —
B 5 MR A C BT K B F S
o
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in shares and underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued
share capital of the CR Gas as at 31 December, 2008.
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(T) ARNGMBFE—FMEHIERA (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
fRo &) (3EME H) e Ai7-518 % 248 Resources Power Holdings Limited (“CR Power”), an associated
MRy R GG R corporation of the Company:

M BRHERO EAEAER T S
HE R ¥R Number of Approximate
Long position/ Number underlying percentage
fi4 Name Short position of Shares shares'” of interest”
R
ER
ELE 3
B
Bl A
B
AR
MH2E - Notes:
(1) F5HRIEEME AR MAEFD Je sk (1) This refers to underlying shares of CR Power covered by share
th B Ay BN HE BT B R SR A8 W Ik options granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR Power,
W EER AR BAEETAT such option being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.
DR ARATE TR o
(2) 3T AFTF AN ERET DN AN (2)  This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
B B A ZRRENFE+ A =+ — in shares and underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued
01535 ME ) LR AT KRB IG T 5 share capital of the CR Power as at 31 December, 2008.

)1
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(%) AKNE BT F B —EMHmTTFAHR (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
NE] (EMMET) CATEE A AR Resources Microelectronics Limited (“CR Microelectronics”), an
MR Ay P B a9 FE S associated corporation of the Company:
AR M B E B O FE BB T 5
HE R ¥R Number of Approximate
Long position/ Number underlying percentage
Ei¥A Name Short position of Shares shares" of interest®
R
R
#
B A
ES R
AR,
i3z ¢ Notes:
(1) FSHIEEMME TR R e (1)  This refers to underlying shares of CR Microelectronics covered
¥ b R AR AE BT 25 R6h M T TR by share options granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR
M B Ay » ZE R AR B JE B Microelectronics, such option being unlisted physically settled
AR MR AT A TR o equity derivatives.
(2) 35T B R H A0 EMME T RN A (2)  This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
HMHBDBREA_RENET A in shares and underlying shares of CR Microelectronics to the
=+ — A1 ERMT FORFEARL total issued share capital of the CR Microelectronics as at 31
FHugF o e December, 2008.
ZEEALER
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Interests in Underlying Shares of Associated

Corporation

physically settled equity derivatives:

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in options to
subscribe shares granted under the share option schemes of associated

corporations (within the meaning of SFO), such options being unlisted

ey AATAE T B ¢
(V) A3 —r a0 B—EME H R H (@) Options outstanding under the share option schemes of an
FEZH B 3% o 6 Ay A A associated corporation, CR Power:
20084F12 A 318 & &R 474%
EL B8 FAEAR A Option outstanding
¥4 Name Capacity Date of Grant Exercise Price at 31/12/2008
BT
HKS$
A& Song Lin FamAA 12/11/2003™ 2.8 800,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.99 540,000
E Wang Yin ERBAA 12/11/2003M 2.8 120,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005® 3.99 300,000
M Jiang Wei TR A 12/11/2003™ 2.8 200,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.99 360,000
"3 Yan Biao FamAA 12/11/2003™ 2.8 240,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.99 320,000
Bl REX Liu Yan Jie ERBAA 12/11/2003™ 2.8 50,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.99 180,000
ES RS Li Fuzuo TR A 12/11/2003™ 2.8 90,000
Beneficial owner 18/3/2005? 3.99 180,000
LR, Du Wenmin FamAA 12/11/2003™ 2.8 180,000
Beneficial owner
M=t e Notes:
(1) B IEET 5> Z 4718 F4120% (1)  Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 6
T _EEwWHE s —_RRAHF - R October 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5 October 2013.
BxF -~ ZRRLFAZRRNFT
AxBE_R—=%+ A28 HMAT
1 o
(2) Ry HIAMET > ZEATE - FFH120% - (2)  Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 18
THoEENF s ZRELF -~ K March 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 to 17 March 2015.
BNF -~ ZRENFARA R —-RF =
A+ ANBE-—E—#2%=A+tBH
M AT 4 o
(3) Bk My B4 A R AR A 1.00 (3) Consideration for each of the grants mentioned above is
B HK$1.00
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Restricted Share Award Scheme

As an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the continual
operation and development of the Group, the Board of the Company
resolved to adopt the Restricted Share Award Scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”). Unless sooner terminated by
the Board of Directors, the Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption
Date and shall continue in full force and effect for a term of 10 years.
According to the Scheme, shares up to 2.5% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the Adoption Date will be purchased by the Trustee
from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in
trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested
with the relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions
of the Scheme.

Up to 31 December 2008, under the existing Restricted Share Award
Scheme, the Trustee has purchased 19,900,000 shares, representing
0.4931% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date, from the market at an aggregate consideration of
HK$162,241,728.96 (including transaction costs). As of the date of this

report, the purchased shares have been held in trust by the Trustee.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
Save as disclosed above under “Restricted Share Award Scheme”, neither
the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s list securities (whether on Stock Exchange or otherwise)
during the year ended 31 December 2008.

Directors’ Service Contracts

As at 31 December 2008, none of the Directors has any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable
by the employing company within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries
were a party and in which any director of the Company had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or

at any time during the year.
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Shareholders with Notifiable Interests

As at 31 December 2008, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register maintained by the

Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

T
#A2008412A318
P 4 B 6955 £
EE TP ON|
LEATRAME 2k
Percentage of
the aggregate
long position in
shares to the issued
HEBRE share capital of
4 Nature of 278 & the Company as at
B RS Name Capacity interest Number of Shares 31 December 2008
Finetex International Finetex International TEWAA EHEMHR 847,604,218 17.98
Limited ([ Finetex |) ) Limited (“Finetex”)® Beneficial owner Beneficial interest
E (S£E) A RAE China Resources (Holdings) KHRBAA FHEMS 125,300,000 2.66
([#mER )W Company Limited (“CRH”)® Beneficial owner Beneficial interest
Gain Ahead Group Limited Gain Ahead Group Limited KBHBAA Kams 2,200,497,022 46.67
([ Gain Ahead ) (“Gain Ahead”) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest
£ (£ ) A RAE China Resources (Holdings) TR AN MR NE HEH 3,048,401,240 64.65
([#EMER]) D Company Limited (“CRH”)® Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest
CRC Bluesky Limited CRC Bluesky Limited FAEHEINE M E NE R 3,173,401,240 67.30
([Bluesky]) ® (‘Bluesky”)® Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest
£ B A A T3] China Resources Co., Limited ZAEH AN MR NE R 3,173,401,240 67.30
(E: 35223l (“CRC")™ Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest
LisE N China Resources National FEAN L NE A 3,173,401,240 67.30
([ EEwM])D Corporation (“CRNC”)® Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest
M3 Notes:

(1) Finetex L4244 A2 3] 847,604,218%% + Gain
Ahead & 4 # A A 2 8] 2,200,497,022 f& +
% 1 % B % Finetex & Gain Ahead % " — %
BRI EMEBLABREA NS
125,300,000 8% » 5 3£ 1 £ B £ Bluesky # &
H B8]+ Bluesky & 3 M B Ay 69 & A
B 8] o 2 IR 99.98% 44 A 5 2 Wy P
B E M4 Bt E2MEE - Bluesky
OB 2 M AL A A A E

e

3,173,401, 240 B B A 69 HE 3. o

(1) 847,604,218 and 2,200,497,022 shares of the Company are directly
held by Finetex and Gain Ahead respectively, CRH is the sole
shareholder of Finetex and Gain Ahead. Moreover, 125,300,000 shares
of the Company are directly held by CRH, which is a 100% subsidiary
of Bluesky, which is in turn owned as to 100% by CRC. Limited, which
is in turn held as to 99.98% by CRNC. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and
CRNC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 3,173,401,240

shares in the Company.
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2008, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.

Subsidiaries and Associates
Particulars regarding the subsidiaries and associates are set out on pages
147 to 157.

Financial Derivative Instruments

During the year under review, the Company timely seized the
opportunity of current subdued interest rate level caused by the sub-
prime mortgage crisis outbreak in the United States, and has fixed the
interest costs of a portion of its HK$ loans at relatively low levels by
entering into interest rate swap transactions. The swap transactions
involved HK$3 billion in total, of which HK$1 billion had a swap period
of four years and the rest in a five year period. Due to decreases in swap
rates in the market since our transactions, the Company recorded a

mark-to-market loss as disclosed in the annual results.

Specific Performance Obligations on Controlling
Shareholder

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$1,000,000,000,
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”) is required
to maintain the control in the Company’s management by directly or
indirectly holding not less than 35% beneficial interest in the share
of the Company. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no outstanding
balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable within five

years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$400,000,000, CRH
is required to maintain the control in the Company’s management
by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35% beneficial interest
in the share of the Company. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within five years.
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Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$500,000,000, CRH
is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder of the
Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35% beneficial
interest in the shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December,
2008, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is

fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to another loan agreement for the amount of HK$500,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder
of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
beneficial interest in the shares of the Company, while the PRC
Government’s shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at
31 December, 2008, there was no outstanding balance under the loan

agreement and is fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$2,500,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder
of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in
CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$2,000,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder
of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in
CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within five years.
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Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$3,000,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder
of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in
CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$200,000,000, CRH
is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder of
the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35% shares
of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in CRH
shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, the outstanding
loan owed by the Company under the loan agreement amounted to
HK$160,000,000 and is fully repayable within three years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$300,000,000, CRH
is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder of
the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35% shares
of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in CRH
shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within three years.

Pursuant to another loan agreement for the amount of HK$200,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder
of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in
CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, there was no
outstanding balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable

within three years.
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Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$350,000,000, CRH
is required to maintain its status as the single largest shareholder of
the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35% shares
of the Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in CRH
shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December, 2008, the outstanding
loan owed by the Company under the loan agreement amounted to
HK$120,000,000 and is fully repayable within four years.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 6 June 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with Gain
Ahead Group Limited (“Gain Ahead”) to acquire 100% stake of its
wholly-owned subsidiary Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”).
Smooth Day is an investment holding company and its principal assets
are its indirect interests in i) the project sites located in Beijing, Wuhan,
Chonggqing, Shenyang and Dalian; and ii) the Logic Furniture Group
which is engaged in the furniture manufacturing and sale business in
the PRC. The consideration was HK$9,212.17 million (satisfied as to
HK$197.00 million by cash and the remaining HK$9,015.17 million
by the allotment and issue of 675,799,850 consideration shares at the
issue price of HK$13.34 each allotted and issued credited as fully paid
up to the vendor), which was determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the said parties. As Gain Ahead is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRH, and CRH has a 61.87% interest in the Company, the agreement
constituted a major and connected transaction of the Company pursuant
to Listing Rules, and was approved by shareholders at a general meeting
held on 14 July 2008.
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During the year under review, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
namely Beijing China Resources Building Co. Ltd., China Resources
Land (Shanghai) Limited (“CR Shanghai”), China Resources (Shenzhen)
Ltd. (“CR Shengzhen “), and members of CRH entered into certain
contracts in respect of leasing and concessionaire arrangements, which
constituted continuing connected transactions. At the same time, the
Company purchased construction and decoration business from CRH on
22 June, 2007, together with the furniture business purchased from CRH
on 6 June 2008, the services provided by the construction, decoration
and furniture subsidiaries of the Company to CRH and its subsidiaries
also constituted continuing connected transactions. Pursuant to Rule
14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) have reviewed and confirmed the continuing
connected transactions contemplated under this section have been
entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii)  onan arm’s length basis;

(iii) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third

parties; and

(iv) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the

interests of the shareholders of the Group as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon
procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group. The auditor has reported their factual findings on these
procedures to the board of directors, and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under this section

entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008:
(i)  have received the approval of the board of directors;
(ii)  are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

(iii) have been entered into in accordance with the terms of the

relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv) have not exceed the annual caps disclosed in the relevant

announcements/circulars of the Company.

Model Code Regarding Securities Transactions by
the Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rule as code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
directors. Having made specific enquiry with all directors, the Company
confirmed that all directors has complied with the required standard set

out in the Model Code during the year under review.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued

shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers
During the year under review, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers together accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s

purchases and sales respectively.
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Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group

for the past five financial years is set out on page 164.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights

under the laws in the Cayman Island.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Wang
Shi, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, all of them
being independent non-executive directors of the Company. The audit
committee has reviewed, together with the management and the
Company’s auditors, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial

reporting matters including the financial statements for the year.

Auditors

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the end of the

forthcoming annual general meeting and is eligible for reappointment.

By order of the Board
Song Lin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2009
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 163
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal controls relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the
Group’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors
of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of its
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 March 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

BEZRENF+ A =+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2008

Bk p BT
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
K& Revenue 6 9,133,605 5,681,095
SHE R A Cost of sales (5,875,379) (3,597,462)
ESbil Gross profit 3,258,226 2,083,633
BEYENTHE K S Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 308,098 799,955
MELRR AR T M ED Gain on changes in fair value of
NTAEE IR inventory of properties transferred
to investment properties 61,706 -
g T AN-TEE R Loss on changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments (100,665) -
H A AN Other income 8 384,379 389,695
GHAE T A i R Selling and marketing expenses (341,390) (141,504)
— A% B AT R General and administration expenses (473,216) (275,233)
JEAL T 2 8] E B Share of results of associates 97,094 67,715
Bt ?’ J Finance costs 11 (137,312) (152,827)
PR FLAT i A Profit before taxation 3,056,920 2,771,434
P AR HLER 2 Income tax expense 12 (965,596) (1,296,192)
79 33 A Profit for the year 13 2,091,324 1,475,242
JEAL Attributable to:
RNE) BERER A Equity holders of the Company 2,037,631 1,431,082
b HRE R AE S Minority interests 53,693 44,160
2,091,324 1,475,242
i Dividends 14
et Paid 458,917 281,013
Bk Proposed 391,373 297,865
%2 A Earnings per share 15 HEHEL6.9400 #4539.844
AR Basic HK46.9 cents HK39.8 cents
46,500 HUE39.24
4 Diluted HK46.5 cents HK39.2 cents

ZRENFER
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

AZBRENF+=_A=+—8

At 31 December 2008

ARG EE

A

WE -~ BB RHA
FAAHALE 2R
BHAEME

AT NG XS
JE N — R B 8] #0A
EECEEE S

Ik 3EHLIRFE

R FE

W E G

FAATALE HA

LB g

JEN R AR~ H A MR IR
B CAt e
JEWE P A IARAE

JENCTF] 5 T 8 2 8] 3R
TN B e B0 B) B0A

Fi -l s

R RARAT 4 A
R E

JEAT BR B b AT AR A

FREMECKITE

JeAT B P A4 A2 H R
JEAT R % W B ] 478
JEAT Y B R BIR

BATH B ——F N E
JEATHLA

FFE

FE QARG &

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Investment properties
Interests in associates
Amount due from an associate
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred taxation assets

Current assets

Inventory of properties

Prepaid lease payments

Other inventories

Trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits paid

Amounts due from customers for
contract works

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due from immediate holding
company

Tax prepaid

Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits received from pre-sales
of properties
Amounts due to customers for
contract works
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Amounts due to minority shareholders
Bank borrowings — due within one year
Taxation payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24
18
25
26

27
28

28

29

30

31

27
32
32
33

AR AR

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

(£7])

(Restated)
87,459 50,423
2,263,789 1,273,490
2,876,565 2,399,137
9,998,305 8,967,812
731,099 593,600
265,178 237,464
187,994 196,220
395,333 374,174
16,805,722 14,092,320
38,024,692 22,097,459
75,485 41,686
59,363 12,734
9,876,713 6,766,924
210,929 190,784
15,598 2,791
7,629 5,026
128,731 528589
5,553,441 4,516,801
53,952,581 33,686,737
4,226,299 2,096,676
5,689,910 3,573,992
341,963 124,248
13,098 425
911,573 503,084
4,062,895 2,712,212
686,238 863,635
15,931,976 9,874,272
38,020,605 23,812,465
54,826,327 37,904,785
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Bk p BT
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
(Z7])
(Restated)
) & & Capital and reserves
JE R Share capital 35 471,535 402,520
lExia Reserves 33,333,600 21,726,941
A B) B A A EAS B A Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 33,805,135 22,129,461
M RAEH Minority interests 2,334,009 1,776,649
36,139,144 23,906,110
El%-Ki 3 Non-current liabilities
SRATAE B — —F £ 2| A Bank borrowings — due after one year 33 17,030,097 12,721,736
Uk 2E AR A 1h Deferred taxation liabilities 23 1,520,162 1,276,939
TAEARIE Derivative financial instruments 34 136,924 =
18,687,183 13,998,675
54,826,327 37,904,785
R Song Lin
3 Director
ERY Wang Yin
T H# Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WMEZEREANF+_A=+—8LFE For the year ended 31 December 2008

A RARAARA
Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARRS

$ R
RRD  RARD
i 3 Sharesheld #2444
G ELBE forRestriced Employee DX
BA RBER FABHE  —BEE  Ivestment Exchange  Share  sharebased SHPEH  AZEA (S 31
Share Share Capital General  revaluation translation ~ Award  compensation Hedging  Retained #3 Minority it
capital ~ premium  reserve reserves reserve reserve Scheme reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

BT BEtR BETA BFTA REtR BETA BRRTA RfTa BEPA BETA RRTR BER BETA
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

() (B237)
(Note) (Note 37)
AZRELE-A—R AtlJanuary 2007 332281 7746812 1131520 61,634 - 362581 - 30,124 - 1858405 11513357 219817 11733174
BEAELL Exchange translation reserve
EXRE arising on translation - - - - - 925,606 - - - - 925,606 1719 942801
THEEREATFHA  Fairvalue gain on
fi&:1 available-for-sale investments - - - - 11280 - - - - - 11280 - 11280

BRARARR Total income recognised
ZHNBH directly in equity - - - - 11,280 925,606 - - - - 936,386 17,19 954,081

£WEA Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1431082 1431,082 44160 1,475,242
BETHREERE Realised gain on disposal of
ZEEANE available-for-sale investments - - - - (11,280) - - = = = (11,280) = (11,280)
ENEHDMANRHE  Total recognised income
for the year - - - - - 925,606 - - - 1431082 2,356,688 61,355 2418043
BARK LR Recognition of equity- settled
share based payments - - - - - - - 14,176 - - 14,176 - 14,176
ST BN Bt Transfer of reserve in subsidiaries - - = 34,555 = = = = - (3455%) = = =
BB Placement of new shares 40,000 3,881,214 - - - - - - - - 3921214 - 3921214
ikl 144 Exercise of share options 3,330 89,639 - - - - - (16,730) - - 76,239 - 76,239
LR R Shares issued 26909 4,501,891 - - - - - - - - 4528800 - 4528800
g 10 I Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 1329231 1329231
BRREN A Acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (128,002)  (128,002)
ZERLERBAE  Final dividend for 2007 - - - - - - - - - (169464)  (169,464) - (169,464)
LEELWAMBE  Additional final dividend
for prior year - - - - - - - - - 21517) (21517 - (21,517)
ZERNSERBAA  Interim dividend for 2008 - - - - - - - - - (90,032)  (90,032) - (90,032)
ABELE At 31 December 2007
+ZAz+-1H (as originally stated)
(%R EZ7]) 402,520 16,219,556 1,131,520 96,189 - 1218187 - 21570 - 2973919 22129461 1482401 23,611,862

LB ATREER BN Reallocation of net assets
FESETHAR of subsidiaries acquired in

(H3) prior year (Note 3) - - - - - - - - - - - 204248 294248
#E7 As restated 402,520 16,219,556 1,131,520 96,189 - 1218187 - 21510 - 2913919 22129461 1,776,649 23,906,110
A EEZE % Exchange translation reserve

arising on translation - - - - - 1238975 - - - - 1238975 134635 1,373,610
AAFIHHZAFMA  Fairvalue change on

2% cash flow hedges - - - - - - - - (36,259) - (36,259) - (36,259)
ERERABR Total income recognised

LN | directly in equity - - - - - 1238975 - - (36,259) - 1,202,716 134,635 1,337,351
£9iEA Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 2037631 2,037,631 53,693 2,091,324

AREAEDKANLHE  Total recognised income
for the year - - - - - 1238975 - - (36,259) 2,037,631 3240347 188328 3428675
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ANE BARA AR
Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RA BBER
Share Share
capital  premium

TAmM

Capital
reserve

AR

$ R
RRD  RARD
#E Sharesheld B2
G ELRE forRestricted Employee DE
—# &% Tnvestment Exchange  Share  share-based E¥EA  REEA (S 31
General  revaluation translation ~ Award  compensation Hedging  Retained #3 Minority it
reserves reserve reserve Scheme reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

RiEEL BEFA AT BETL BETR RETL BETA RRE BETA RSTr BEEL BER RER

HES'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§000  HK§000  HKS000  HKS'000
(i) (H2237)
(Note) (Note 37)
AR ALERAHAE Recognition of equity-settled
share based payments - - - - - - - 7835 - - 7835 - 7835
200 DY Transfer of reserve in subsidiaries - = A = - = = - (4700 - = =
BEMh LR Purchase of shares under Share
HRA Award Scheme - - - - - - (162242) - - - (162242) - (162242)
il 1 Exercise of share options 1,435 45,611 - - - - - (13,626) - - 33420 - 33420
LRTRE Shares issued 67,580 8,947,590 - - - - - - - - 9015170 - 9015170
100 V| Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 61 - - - - - - = 61 380,182 389243
BB-MREAE Acquisition of additional interest
#a ina subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (15406)  (15,406)
ZEEXERMBE  Final dividend for 2007 - - - - - - - - - (297,865 (297,865 (4,744)  (302,609)
ERREARASRAE  Additional final dividend
for prior year - - - - - - - - - (758) (758) - (758)
ZEENERHEE  Interim dividend for 2008 - - - - - - - - - (160,294)  (160,294) - (160,294)
At 31 December 2008
471,535 25212,757 1,131,581 143216 - 2517162 (162,242) 21,7719 (36,259) 4,505,606 33,805,135 2,334,009 36,139,144
P3: 0 KSR ) 64 — A A L6 K 4R I JEAS B P9 I B A 3] Note:  The Group’s general reserves comprise the Group’s share of the post acquisition statutory surplus

W5 R R BR A R RN R A B B R o

AP Bl A M AL AL AR R R B P B R X
B8] W dn kAR B AR 0 S N 8) R AN KAK
3% R 2B AR (kR R T Z MBI ) &
H 4 P A 10% 5% 5 3 454 £ ok % A SRR Rk

TN o

AR A ST P A g A SR B N ] SR ARG 4 3
Z AR (Heik R M A AT MBI T T) & 0 HF
A 10% 3 £k R kAL - B EAMAGE
FHYE R T ENGEHGETE L E L LR
)&

AR MR AL R R B AR R A S
15T R AARAR 18 42 4R JE 2B 4R RO he AT BN B A AR
e RN 3 A RIAE T R A 5 BN 3) o AR B LSRR A
Rk E AL o

reserve, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries in the

Chinese Mainland.

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC and the provision of the
articles of association of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, theses subsidiaries
were required to appropriate 10% and 5% of the profit for the year after setting off the
accumulated losses brought forward (based on the figures reported in the statutory
financial statements) to the statutory surplus reserve and the statutory public welfare fund,

respectively.

The Group’s subsidiaries which are established as foreign investment enterprises are required
to appropriate 10% of the profit for the year after setting off the accumulated losses brought
forward (based on the figures reported in the statutory financial statements) to the statutory
reserve fund and a certain percentage of the profit for the year to enterprise expansion fund

at the discretion of the board of directors of the respective companies.

The statutory surplus reserve and statutory reserve fund can only be used to make good of
previous years’ losses or to increase the capital of respective companies upon the approval of
relevant authority, the statutory public welfare fund can only be used in capital expenditure
for collective companies or to expand their production scale upon approval by the relevant

authorities.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

WMEZEREANF+_A=+—8LFE For the year ended 31 December 2008

e s

BT RN
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
EEEH OPERATING ACTIVITIES
PR FLAT 3 A Profit before taxation 3,056,920 2,771,434
JE Adjustments for:
B A% A Finance costs 137,312 152,827
SRATH BN Bank interest income (74,736) (79,694)
JE N — M B N 8] FoA Imputed interest income in respect of amount due
ZAE F A BN from an associate (12,403) =
&N — M BN 8] FoA Fair value adjustment of amount due from an associate
AR - 24,322
L/E ok o Xk ac] Reversal of impairment for inventory of properties (18,966) =
32 Bk — P TS N 3] Discount on acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary
HEB 2 HR (2,708) (20,415)
BAEMENTEE KR Gain on changes in fair value of investment properties (308,098) (799,955)
LSS RS F S Gain on changes in fair value of inventory of properties
0 T {H 8 Bl transferred to investment properties (61,706) =
AR I ENTA% B ER Loss on changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments 100,665 =
& TR E R A RS Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments (765) (17,570)
WE -~ BB BAEZATE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45,000 32,316
B EYE - BRERFZMEZIER Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,353 -
FAATAL G A Z sk Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 1,116 923
F A MK PR IR A 28 X R AA 5 4R Impairment loss recognised on other receivables 44,710 28,387
FE ALK S R A A Recognition of equity-settled share based payment 7,835 14,176
JE AL B N 8] E 4R Share of results of associates (97,094) (67,715)
BEFLEPNZILEERLATE Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 2,818,435 2,039,036
Wy G H K Ae Increase in inventory of properties (10,087,217) (7,080,456)
H A5 H Ry Decrease in other inventories 1,886 328
JEMC R~ H A R BRR Decrease (increase) in trade receivables, other receivables
B EAT R Y (3 m) and deposits paid 2,750,421 (1,387,146)
JEANLE P A4 T A2 B A 3G Hn Increase in amounts due from customers for contract work (7,978) (115,903)
JENC ] 4 W B o8] 278 (3% 4m) 'y (Increase) decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (11,696) 1,197
JE N B BR8] # IR 38 e Increase in amount due from immediate holding company (2,282) (5,026)
JEAT B B R Fo A JEAT B SR 3% m (R Y )  Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 1,907,410 (297,492)
FaE M k3T A ¥ e Increase in deposits received from pre-sales of properties 1,887,983 1,605,124
JEAT B P A4 TAZ B A 3G o Increase in amounts due to customers for contract works 209,791 87,426
JEAT ) % T B o 3] BB R D Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (97,999) (91,286)
EEEH TR AL Cash used in operations (631,246) (5,244,198)
et P B P M AR Chinese Mainland Tax paid (1,112,500) (236,845)
BB B Ay 55 B3t ) R At 3k Payment for purchase of shares for share award scheme (162,242) =
FEXHATRALFH NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1,905,988) (5,481,043)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

L s |

BT T T
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
BHEEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dia AW PA| Acquisition of subsidiaries
(B IR TN LR AL L) (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) 38 152,789 (20,559)

32 pE — P T B ) A S Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary (12,698) (107,587)
e A & Interest received 74,736 55,372
& WK B R R PTIRHOR Proceeds on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 635 771
& ST ARk R & AT BOR Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale

investments 765 19,570
A E - BB R B Purchases of property, plant and equipment (915,450) (303,164)
A AW E Purchase of investment properties (21,865)
CARFET L E R AZE A RA Investment cost in available-for-sale

investments refunded 12,237
BEAEHPRARELFH NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (708,851) (355,597)
AL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
73 SRAT B New bank loans raised 11,952,090 12,250,853
18 B AAT R Repayments of bank loans (7,204,162) (7,104,821)
b HE RIS Advance from minority shareholders 62,748 =
e AT IR 8 Dividends paid (458,917) (281,013)
e At A B Interest paid (981,462) (671,154)
fie. & #7 IR T A% 2oa Proceeds on placement of new shares - 3,921,214
BAT WAy BT AT #0R Proceeds of issue of shares 33,420 76,239
18 38 B 432 I 8] #0R Repayment to immediate holding company - (1,228,300)
BEEHIFRLIEHE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 3,403,717 6,963,018
RERRAEFERE G 8 NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 788,878 1,126,378
SRR EHYE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGE 247,762 32,795
—A—BREERLFE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 4,516,801 3,357,628
+o A=t —BRLARLEHK CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 5,553,441 4,516,801
REBRREFHLEHRISH ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AR ARAT Cash and bank balances 5,553,441 4,516,801
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZRENF+ZAZ+—BEFE
KNG B— M EH B GRS A RN
3 LMy EA BRI G PTRRAE ([F#
R LW o AZERENFF A=+ —
B oM (ER)AMRAG ([EMER]) ALE
PG o TER AT E N EM R ZZP
Bl EMand ([P EEM]) 72 AN Z Rk 4kdE
BN E] o ANE R M FRA LI LS E B
HEASE R A E) R P ARE o

WA RN G A REM R L ETFAE K
WAFRBRT ET o KT HHEAE
HoHAAEERLABREERANARER
2 B IE LR R R B A A
FANREI T FRARND ZHETEA
R o RG] KoM BN T EHNLE
¥ EIRAARYAR B R o

FERZ IR EFAHMERRE  BAAEER
EERENIRF -

2. BRI TR T HBM HIE R

AREE  REBERER T ARG
G ([ A Bt g ) bt = RENF—
A — B B %5 2 R ) B B AR AR AR A
3T A (A7 A a5 4R 42 ) -

A kgt A A 4 399% A gk K E

B A A 4R 2R A) A5

FTH (TR

& (RBMHRE28 FRMHRSEn

AEA)-REHIE 2% £BAR
Je Ry R Sy

AR (BB HREDE R F2H

FEE) - BHI2%

AR (A BRYHREDE SR ER

ZREE)-RBEAE B9 BRKE
HEZ IR
RIKEEERA
CEEEE 1 E

RN A R A 3R R R R M R At
M LR BRI B EREN TS T
KBE - WA R R A

S RENIF R
Annual Report 2008

For the year ended 31 December 2008

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The immediate holding company as at 31 December 2008 is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”). The directors regard the ultimate
holding company of the Company to be China Resources National Corporation
(“CRNC”), a company incorporated in the Chinese Mainland. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the

Corporate Information of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is different from the functional currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”) as the
Company is a public company incorporated in Hong Kong with the shares listed
on Hong Kong Stock Exchange, where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong and therefore, the directors consider that Hong Kong dollars is preferable in
presenting the operating result and financial position of the Company and the Group.
The majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are operating in the Chinese Mainland

with RMB as their functional currency.

The principal activities of the Group are property development, investment and

management and construction and decoration services.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following new
interpretations and amendments (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning 1 January 2008.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Reclassification of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC) — Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and Treasury

Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 Service Concession Arranagements

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

Requirements and their Interaction

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the results and
financial position for the current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and

presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards,

amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendment)

HEKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC) — Int 9 & HKAS 39

(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 13

HK(IFRIC) - Int 15

HK(IFRIC) - Int 16

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs!
Presentation of Financial Statements?
Borrowing Costs?
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements?
Puttable Financial Instruments and

Obligations Arising on Liquidation?

Eligible Hedged Items?

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,

Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate?
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations?
Business Combinations?

Improving Disclosures about Financial

Instruments?

Operating Segments?

Embedded Derivatives*

Customer Loyalty Programmes?

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate?

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign

Operation®

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners?

Transfers of Assets from Customers?

—REBENFEF
Annual Report 2008
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except the amendments
to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

4 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008
7 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for business
combination for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the
accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.
The application of the amendment to HKAS 40 “Investment Property” which is
contained in HKFRSs (Amendments) “Improvement to HKFRS” may affect the
accounting for property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property of the Group. The amendment to HKAS 40 brings such property
within the scope of HKAS 40 which, therefore, shall be accounted for under the
fair value model in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such property
is currently accounted for at cost less impairment in accordance with HKAS 16
“Property, Plant and Equipment”. The amendment is to be applied prospectively and is

effective for the Group’s financial period beginning 1 January 2009.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on

the results and the financial position of the Group.

REALLOCATION OF THE NET ASSETS OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACQUIRED IN PRIOR YEAR

During the year, the Group has completed an exercise of assessing the appropriate
classification of the assets and liabilities acquired in respect of the acquisition
of 100% equity interest of Speedy Gain Investments Limited (“Speedy Gain”) in
December 2007. The acquisition of Speedy Gain was accounted for as the acquisition
of assets in the 2007 financial statements.

Upon the completion of the above review, the directors of the Company made certain
reclassification entries which increased the initial carrying amounts of prepaid
lease payment, inventory of properties and minority interests by HK$2,038 million,
HK$144 million and HK$294 million, respectively and decreased the initial carrying
amount of the construction in progress (included in property, plant and equipment)
by HK$1,888 million. The comparative figures in the consolidated balance sheet have
been restated accordingly.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for certain investment properties and financial instruments, which are

measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the

effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the

Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on

consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and
the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to

cover the losses.

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary is recorded at the Group’s book value
of the net assets attributable to the interests. The excess of the carrying amounts of
net assets attributable to the interest over the cost of acquisition is recognised as

discount on acquisition in the profit and loss.

—REBENFEF
Annual Report 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. The
cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3

Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the
minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of businesses for which the agreement date is
on or after 1 January 2005 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the relevant businesses at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Capitalised goodwill arising
on an acquisition of businesses is presented separately in the consolidated balance

sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is
allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets
of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated income

statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss

on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is

neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the normal

course of business, net of discount.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business is

recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

. the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant properties
has been completed and collectability of related receivables is reasonably

assured;

. neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated

with ownership nor effective control over the properties are retained;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will

flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be

measured reliably.

—REBENFEF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from sales of furniture goods are recognised when goods are delivered and

title has been passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of

the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Property management income and service income are recognised when services are

provided.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives
after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment in the course
of construction for production or for its own use purposes. Property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as an investment property is classified as
property, plant and equipment and carried at cost less recognised impairment loss
until construction or development is complete, at which time it is reclassified to
and subsequently accounted for as investment property. Any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included

in the consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasehold land and building under development for future owner-occupied purpose
When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the leasehold land component is classified
as a prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line basis over the lease
term. During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided for the

leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.

Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment

losses.

Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they
are in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the

manner intended by management).

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit

or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated income statement in the year in

which the item is derecognised.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it is evidenced by
the commencement of an operating lease to another party. The difference between
the fair value and the carrying amount at the date of transfer is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

—REBENFEF
Annual Report 2008

87



88

4R e

- e R
—RE
Annual

B 3R T 31

EZEBE ()

BT R AT A E (T ARTR) (L ECA KA
Z A3 EOR) ZORAE A
AERAZEA B RIATVALET & AR
1 BEZF A ED T B RAEATIRAL S 4 5
oo b A E Z T BCwE A B AE KA L AR E AR
A FE X R @ A A RORE TR A5 o RIE
AR AR L -

14 IRARJE5 28 IS A% 3 = - A A E AR A S £ 4
WiTfET TR ® 28 R ®E k@A
O AR R 8 R 3 Rk A E SRR
JEGAR 0 7 X AR E AR o IRAR RS 4R B = Bp B AE SR
BN o

RELY

fHRE T ESHX &R A LEL A
B8 TR B B FOR A BARIRE S B
HEAT TAZ 9 A 89 A A A5 3 A 49 R R Z e )
HE 0 AT AR AT T E A RS o A
BIRZER  REAELBAERE P HE
a7 K3t o

AT FEAESHZER - AT I
)P R 6 A ROR B R A S A o B H R
A E A M FEIR AR 3 o A KRR AT
A AWM R - A FA ST AR B B AR T A B
% o

T4 38 4 F & 09 A K R R m B BE R AR & B
REFRAR W AT 0 R £ SRR P
A TAZHOA o N EAT AR ML S E & 0 S
R A L HERR B AR LB AR 0 B £ 8 7
ﬁFH%FA%lﬁ%%°f%lﬁﬁﬁﬁ&

HOAME A At NGRS T E At ATIE e
@#o%?h*iﬁ(i%%%+AV A
B 4R b A JECRR AR~ B RRE A At
Ao

AE

AR 29 W 2 A 58 K 3 2 P HERUIR AL SR B
LA BIA ALK Tk gk H ALY o FTAT AL
ALE FIAE B AL o

AN AR
Report 2008

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and
costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at
the balance sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for
work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where this
would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work,
claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed

with the customer.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will
be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract

revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses
exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for
contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts
due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated balance sheet, as a liability, as advances
received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are
included in the consolidated balance sheet under trade receivables, other receivables

and deposits paid.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets to the lessee. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental

expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered
separately for the purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, in which case, the
entire contract is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made

reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as operating leases.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical

cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are

also recognised directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet
date, and their income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity (the
exchange translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or

loss in the year in which a foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are

incurred.

Government grant

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
them with the related costs. Grants related to depreciable assets are presented as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant assets and are released to income
over the useful lives of the assets. Grants related to expense items are recognised in
the same period as those expenses are charged in the consolidated income statement

and are reported separately as “other income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
taxation is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the balance sheet date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,

in which case the deferred taxation is also dealt with in equity.

Inventory of properties
Inventory of properties includes properties under development and properties held

for sale which are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

The carrying value of inventory of properties comprises the leasehold interest in
land together with development expenditure, which includes construction costs and

borrowing costs capitalised.

Other inventories
Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is

calculated using the weighted average method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables and available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time

frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of

the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits paid, amounts from due an associate, immediate
holding company and fellow subsidiaries and bank balances) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see

accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and

receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in
equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at
which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is removed
from equity and recognised in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment

loss on financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that
are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments,
they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition (see accounting policy on impairment loss on

financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets

have been impacted.
For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of

impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

. default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value

of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

—REBENFEF
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent

periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the
amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be reversed
in profit or loss in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent
to impairment loss is recognised directly in equity. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the

recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities

represent other financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to minority shareholders and bank borrowings are

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net

of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair values at each balance
sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the

hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily interest rate swap) to
hedge its exposure against changes in interest rate on bank borrowings. At the
inception of the hedging relationship the entity documents the relationship between
the hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

—REBENFEF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to the

ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as other gain or losses.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the

hedged item is recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship,
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that
time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised

immediately in profit or loss

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance
with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation

recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or

loss that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments transactions
Share options/awarded shares granted to employees after 7 November 2002 and

vested on or after 1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share
options and awarded shares granted at the grant date is expensed as staff costs on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in employee

share-based compensation reserve and share award reserve respectively.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
and the awarded shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to employee share-based compensation reserve

and the share award reserve respectively.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.

At the time when the awarded shares are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share award reserve and the amount of the relevant treasury shares will be transferred

to retained profits.

Share options granted to employees on or before 7 November 2002, or granted after
7 November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the consolidated
financial statements until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge is
recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of the value of options
granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess
of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as
share premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are

deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Shares issued for the acquisition of assets

Shares issued for the acquisition of assets are measured at the fair values of the
assets acquired, unless that fair value cannot be measured reliably in which case the
assets acquired are measured by reference to the fair value of the shares issued at the
completion date. The shares issued arising from the assets acquired has been reflected

in share capital and share premium.

Retirement benefit contributions
Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an

expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

—REBENFEF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note
4, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year.

Impairment loss on inventory of properties

Included in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2008 are inventory of
properties of HK$38,024,692,000 (2007: HK$22,097,459,000) which are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Management conducts assessments on the
net realisable value of inventories by reference to their estimated net selling price
and other economic conditions of the markets in which the Group’s properties are
situated. If the actual selling prices of inventory of properties are substantially less
than expected due to an adverse market condition or other factors, impairment loss
on inventory of properties may result. No impairment loss was made in the current

year.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2008, a deferred taxation asset of HK$395,333,000 (2007:
HK$374,174,000) in relation to allowance for bad and doubtful debts, write down of
inventory of properties, impairment loss of available-for-sale investments and the
provision of Land Appreciation Tax has been recognised in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of
HK$257,767,000 (2007: HK$180,491,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future assessable profits generated are less than or
more than expected, a reversal or recognition of the deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in the consolidated income statement for the period in

which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. K 6. REVENUE
W HIGAE RN E - AN - hEFH Revenue represents income from sale of developed properties, rental income, property
SR B MRS VA BIE SR BB AS RS P AR RN 3 management and related services and construction and decoration services as follows:
Hde T
Rk BT T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
AiE CBEEME Sale of developed properties 6,949,401 4,333,536
AL YN Rental income 811,683 738,957
My R 2R AR M IR A Property management and related services 319,494 247,405
FE B ENG IR Construction and decoration services
HELY Construction contracts 920,287 361,197
TRt Bk B AR Furniture manufacturing and sales 132,740 -
9,133,605 5,681,095
7. ¥HRBREB>BAAH 7. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(a) EX (a) Business segments
BRE_RENF+_A=+—BLFE Year ended 31 December 2008
WERF
SHE LR VAL EER
¥ Property S R H
Sale of investments Construction
developed and and decoration RS
properties management services Consolidated
T BT FET T T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000
B Revenue
Y144 External sales 6,949,401 1,131,177 1,053,027 9,133,605
e Result
e Segment result 1,814,018 1,021,684 66,368 2,902,070
Ko BA| BN Unallocated interest income 74,736
PO N N Unallocated other income 187,979
A oBienE) Unallocated corporate expenses (67,647)
JEAL T A N 8] Share of results of associates = 97,094 = 97,094
MR A Finance costs (137,312)
FRAL AT %55 A Profit before taxation 3,056,920
A Taxation (965,596)
S A Profit for the year 2,091,324

—REBENFEF 99
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. E BRI 38 A () 7. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
(a) 35548 (4%) (a) Business segments (continued)
BREZEENE+_HA=+—8LFE Year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)
(%)
WERF
SR AR P B EER
Lk 3 Property BN TR H
Sale of investments Construction
developed and and decoration K e Leges
properties management services Unallocated Consolidated
BT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
oAb A Other information
KRR Capital additions 530,209 540,298 71,852 681 1,143,040
B Y& 2 Depreciation and amortisation 39,686 4,157 1,770 503 46,116
BEMENTE Gain on changes of fair value
E 5L & of investment properties = 308,098 = - 308,098
LSS R -5 & Y Gain on changes of fair value
HE AT IEE S of inventory of properties
K E transferred to investment
properties - 61,706 - - 61,706
iR & Exchange gain = = = 168,399 168,399
AZEBRENF+ A =+—8 At 31 December 2008
WERF
SEE LR il EER
¥ Property B AS R
Sale of investments Construction
developed and and decoration b
properties management services Consolidated

BT T T BT BT
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000

#E Assets

SaKE Segment assets 50,572,198 12,083,043 807,930 63,463,171

AT E NG XA S Interests in associates = 731,099 = 731,099

JENC T % F) 3R Amount due from an associate 265,178 = = 265,178

Ko a & E Unallocated corporate assets 6,298,855

YRR EHAE Consolidated total assets 70,758,303
At Liabilities

238 Atk Segment liabilities 10,020,984 556,884 693,745 11,271,613

R oBena éik Unallocated corporate liabilities 23,347,546

LA A ME Consolidated total liabilities 34,619,159

S REN LR
Annual Report 2008
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. EHAMBESEEH @) 7.  BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
(a)  EHa# ) (a)  Business segments (continued)
HE_ERELE+ A =+—HILFE Year ended 31 December 2007
WERE
SEE R B EER
¥ Property B AL R FH
Sale of investments Construction
developed and and decoration EEE
properties management services Consolidated
BT B v Bl BT
HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$000
B Revenue
Eit External sales 4,333,536 986,362 361,197 5,681,095
EX Result
N HAE Segment result 1,200,551 1,297,377 13,492 2,511,420
Ko EA| BN Unallocated interest income 79,694
PO N N Unallocated other income 310,001
A oBen ) Tk Unallocated corporate expenses (44,569)
JE AL B8 5N 8] 4 Share of results of associates = 67,715 = 67,715
M A Finance costs (152,827)
FRALAT i3 A1) Profit before taxation 2,771,434
A Taxation (1,296,192)
s A Profit for the year 1,475,242
UET & )
SR LA T 18 EER
W Property HAG IR H
Sale of investments Construction
developed and and decoration Ko (e
properties management services Unallocated Consolidated

T Y

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
(& E&731) (&Z7) (Z7))
(restated) (restated) (restated)
o FoR Other information
ARG Capital additions 134,058 2,441,061 52,551 604 2,628,274
W R HEAE Depreciation and amortisation 26,503 6,049 411 276 33,239
BAEMENTE Gain on changes in fair value
S/l & of investment properties - 799,955 = = 799,955
R & Exchange gain - - - 267,745 267,745

ZRENFEIFR
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EH R AB 5 EEH ()
(a) £ oda (4)
HAZEEEFE+=_A=+—08

#E

Ly

AT AR
RO 23] 3R
koo d K E

Go kAR
bt
A

R oBeoad 1k

”

B 4

\1‘

Assets
Segment assets
Interests in associates
Amount due from an associate

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets
Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)

(a) Business segments (continued)

At 31 December 2007

e TR
LU

Sale of
developed
properties

BT
HK$'000
(12 % 7))
(restated)

31,374,291

237,464

5,184,253

W ERH
&
Property
investments
and

management
P g

HK$000

9,840,272
593,600

536,828

EER
FAG IR A
Construction
and decoration

services

BT
HK$'000

584,601

577,344

Consolidated

BHF L
HK$’000
(&)
(restated)

41,799,164
593,600
237,464

5,148,829

47,779,057

6,298,425

17,574,522

23,872,947

(b) @%$%@ﬁﬁ%%%¥%%?ﬂmm

CEAME P AEATENL 5

i‘?&@fﬁk%% oy FEAL AT B b
EEESIESREIPRIPRE S i

ZRENFESR
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(b) No geographical segment analysis is shown as more than 90% of the Group’s

businesses are derived from activities in, and from customers located in, the

Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the carrying values of assets of the

Group are situated in the Chinese Mainland.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8.  HEAbMA 8.  OTHER INCOME
| 200 2007
Rk HET L
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
R & Exchange gain 168,399 267,745
SRATH) BN Bank interest income 74,736 79,694
JE N — P B A 8] BOR X Imputed interest income in respect of amount due from
A& FA) BN an associate 12,403 =
B AR BE (B 32) Government grants (Note) 53,658 =
T A 1 AR B AN 64 Recovery of other receivable written off
BN S & & in the prior years 17,933 =
EAnEVE PN i) Reversal of allowance for inventory of properties 18,966 =
3 BT B N 8] JF i R HE S Discount on acquisition of additional non-controlling
Z IR interests in a subsidiary 2,708 20,415
HE TR E R F 2R Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 765 17,570
H A Others 34,811 4,271
384,379 389,695
W3z SR £ R R P B 9 & 3 T SO SR P AR AR Note:  The amount represents mainly the compensations, subsidies and refunds of various taxes as
b BB B 6 6 BLAF AR A o incentives by the government authorities in various cities of the Chinese Mainland.

I S
Annual Repm’yt\2008 103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. FTE®A 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
AT F AT TI28 (BB LFE 1 124) 4= The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 12 (2007: 12) directors were as
Z B A e T follows:
3
HEA  THRR O BXR B RA B RAR ZRRAAE
ZRENE K i i i Liu Ding Du Li 1% Andrew Ho  ChanMo Total
2008 SongLin -~ WangYin  Jiang Wei Yan Biao Yan Jie Jie Min Wen Min FuZuo ~ Wang Shi Y. Yan Hin Ngai Po, Paul 2008

104

BETA RETL BETL REFL RRPA RBAA BRPA RRPA #REA #RfR REtL BRTA RETA

HES$'000 HES$'000 HKS$'000 HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HEK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HES$'000 HES000 HES$000 HES000
(S Fees
WiEE Executive directors 10 10 = = S = - - - - - - 140
FiirEE Non-esecutve diretors - - (] (] (] il 10 ( - - - - kil
Biksi Independent non-executive
33 directors - - - - - - - - 120 120 120 120 ]
0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 120 120 120 120 991
Eodle Other emoluments
FAREWAH  Salaries and other benefits = 3050 = = = = = = - - - - 3,00
k#4132 Contribution to retirement
#a benefit schemes - 112 - = = = - - - - - _ 112
BN L Share option expense = - - = 6 = b § = = = = 18
oty Total emoluments = 3162 = = § o § b - - - - 3,180
#hE ORI REE Mk MERE RRE —ERi4
ZERxE Rk 1 #h MR Xie Du Li IE  Andrew Ho  ChanMo Total
2007 SongLin -~ WangYin  JiangWei  YanBiao YanJie  ShengXi ~ WenMin FuZuo ~ Wang Shi Y. Yan Hin Ngai Po, Paul 2007

BETA RERL BEEA RRFL BEPA O RRFL BREA RERA RREA BEEA RRPA BEEA #REA

HES$000 HES000 HES000 HKS'000 HES$'000 HES$000 HES§ 000 HES$'000 HK$'000 HES$000 HES000 HES000 HES'000
(S Fees
3% Executive directors 10 70 - - - - - - - - - - 140
Fifigs Non-execuive directors - - 0 0 0 46 % % - - - - 304
Baiir Independent non-executive
% directors - - - - - - - - 120 120 120 120 480
0 0 0 0 0 46 U P! 120 120 120 120 924
Fode Other emoluments
FARLMAF  Salaries and other benefits - 2513 - - - - - - - - - - 2513
#4443 Contribution to retirement
B benefit schemes - 100 - - - - - = = = = = 100
BRAER L Share option expense - - - - 206 - 206 206 - - - - 618
Bany Total emoluments - 2613 - - 206 - 206 206 - - - - 3231
M3z 1 7 ’}Fﬁ}*’iﬁ FREFTFMNE(ZBRRLE Note:  During the year, none of the directors have waived the directors’ emoluments (2007:
A) o s B R e NS e AR A 8] il None). None of the directors have received any inducement pay for joining or upon joining
TAEFTIE & © the Company.
ZRENF
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10. & B @4 10.
4:%@]11%&5%&%/&& HF—H(ZREL
Fr—B)ANEAEF LM eRA LW
9og%mg,:ggk$:mzykfzwé

B2 N

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one (2007: one)
was director of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2007: four) individuals were as

follows:

Rk HET L
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
¥R HEAAg A Salaries and other benefits 6,546 7,915
lﬁﬁi/‘mﬁ 3+ %5: Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 281 226
e R AR Z Performance related incentive payments 2,230 2,813
9,057 10,954

WEZBEAF T RE

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

1 B A%

No. of employees

#11,000,001T £ # #2,000,000 T
#12,000,001T £ 7% %3,000,000T
#13,000,001T £ # #4,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000

1 1
3 1
- 2
4 4

ZRENFER
Annual Report 2008
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11. ,ﬂd’%%»ﬁ’}ﬂ 11. FINANCE COSTS
Rk T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
JAFT 7 IR R AR B2 Interest on bank loans wholly repayable:
FATR A G ¢
AFEN Within five years (965,188) (659,076)
¥ 3 Over five years (16,274) (12,078)
4B B R A Total borrowing cost (981,462) (671,154)
JEANL — P B 8] B TR N -F A Fair value adjustment of amount due from an associate - (24,322)
o AR RBEARET Less: Amount capitalised in properties under development
MERRZAE for specific bank borrowings 844,150 542,649
(137,312) (152,827)
12. PR X 12.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE
BT T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
PR HLE X &L45 ¢ The income tax expense comprises:
K EHLIE Current tax:
A A F AL Hong Kong Profit Tax (1,894) (410)
Wb B P9 A BT AR AL Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax (512,506) (474,971)
(514,400) (475,381)
B P9 £ g A A ([ 2308 4EAL ]) Land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in the Chinese Mainland (296,581) (256,965)
i 3 ALE (M 2223) Deferred taxation (note 23)
A Current year (154,615) (185,520)
GRS & 3 Attributable to changes in tax rates - (378,326)
(154,615) (563,846)
(965,596) (1,296,192)
ZRENFESR
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12.

FTAFALEA 3 (4)

—ZEEANFAAA D FELEGES

(ZBENEBNEBEEY B LA BHA

4@n%ﬂﬁﬁmem'££A/'*
h#‘v%ﬁ#‘ﬁiixi At 7&75‘*7&] ﬁﬁ.a‘k

P9 A SRR AL A 49 16.5% (= BB L

17.5%) H4

P B P H A AT AR AL B AR @ R
%¢@mmm&zﬂ<ﬁMA%% Hhik e
JB 8] ZAESHERAL B A A o

LR AL REAETH - HOTT
Ja it o

—RERLHF=ZA+xE *@]#m}i“%?ﬁ@]”
‘ﬁA§%¢lA%ﬁ 3 ALk ([ HLik ])

B+ A58 PEEG I‘E’nﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁmé&
% m%f% o F Bt ik BOR A6 3T R 35 T B
ey A ZRENSF—A —BA2H33% L%
#£25% o

P BLTE B 3 AR A8 B RO BIRALAT A 2
Hide T

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Revenue Bill 2008
which reduced corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year
of assessment 2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at
16.5% (2007: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Provision for Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax for both years has been made
based on the subsidiaries’ estimated assessable profits calculated in accordance with
the relevant enterprise income tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland.

LAT is calculated at progressive rates on the appreciated value, with certain allowable

deductions.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
tax (the “New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6 December
2007, the State Council of the PRC issued Implementation Regulations of the New
Law. The New Law and Implementation Regulations will change the tax rate from
33% to 25% for certain subsidiaries from 1 January 2008.

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the
consolidated income statement as follows:

BT T T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
FhALAT 3 A Profit before taxation 3,056,920 2,771,434
Y A ALF250% (=B R L4 : 33%) Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%)

A ZALIA R X (764,230) (914,573)
JEAL T 5N E) EHRZ ALY Tax effect of share of results of associates 24,274 22,346
AT BLE L XA E Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose (31,974) (51,848)
FrIB R BN Z L 7 B Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 22,495 27,206
KA AHLIA AR (ﬁ%‘%‘g' “@ Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (30,530) (2,939)
B R 18 4E 3 K A BLIE B AR Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 15,414 50,100
Yot BALE X P IFHL Income taxed at concessionary rate 22,532 108,886
P B 8] T B AL 2 % 4 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (1,141) 15,123
+ 33 AHL Land appreciation tax (296,581) (256,965)
RIS A Tax effect of land appreciation tax 74,145 84,798
B B Rk 2 AR A E Effect on opening deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting

R A EZ from changes in applicable tax rates - (378,326)
A B ALIA B I Taxation charge for the year (965,596) (1,296,192)

—REBENFEF
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13. #=™EA 13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Rk T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
FNEBA A Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:
+F o4 Directors’ emoluments
i Fees 991 924
R A B A Salaries and other emoluments 3,180 3,231
b B TR A Other staff costs 326,684 153,550
BIRFEA R ROIET HEF Retirement benefit cost, excluding amount included
B A 258 in directors’ emoluments 42,185 24,201
MR A L (Rt A Share option benefits expenses (excluding
FTEH AL HKA) amount included in directors’ emoluments) 7,817 13,559
B ks Total staff costs 380,857 195,465
RCBEABRETHEARZILE Less: Amount capitalised in the properties under development (109,520) (28,152)
271,337 167,313
FEZR BB XA H R Cost of inventories recognised as expense 4,249,726 2,926,697
P il Auditor’s remuneration 1,510 1,250
FaATAL G HA HE4E Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 1,116 923
b JEOK BR TR 2 R 2R IRAA B AR Impairment losses recognised on other receivables 44,710 28,387
W~ R RARITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45,000 32,316
BB E S RERBMAZ AR Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,353 =
oAb T BN B LB (B F A EAE Share of tax of associates (included in share of results
o E) £ ) of associates) (30,884) (13,373)
343 AATF &R and after crediting:
HEY LML RN E Gross rental income from investment properties 811,683 708,745
RN E AN Less: Direct operating expenses from investment
BEMEZ AL L properties that generated rental income
during the year (77,673) (89,037)
734,010 619,708
i 22 NSRS 8] 3 A % 3 1379,320,000 Note:  Profit of the Company for 2008 amounted to approximately HK$379,320,000 (2007:
RS #H194,144,000T) © approximately HK$94,144,000).
ZRENF
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14. k&,

(=

AT AR &

FRNERBEZ T IR L
—é&%ﬁ&%%mm
(Z=RERLF T BUF2.440)

'*3%#*%& BB AR
— G Lhéﬂmm

—RENFRRE IR
— B BB S 1A

) 471 A R AE e AE A7 A% 0 38 S
TR IR 8

BRI L
ESOE T & & )N
— A JE 38 A R 834
—RBEEFE BT AW)

14. DIVIDENDS

Dividend paid:

Interim dividend paid during the year

— HK3.4 cents (2007: HK2.4 cents) per ordinary share

Final dividend in respect of 2007, approved and paid

— HK7.4 cents per ordinary share

Final dividend in respect of 2006, approved and paid

— HKB5.1 cents per ordinary share

Additional final dividend for prior year due to exercise
of share options and placement of new shares

Dividend proposed:
Final dividend proposed for the year

— HK8.3 cents (2007: HK7.4 cents) per ordinary share

2007
BT ok o
HKS 000 HKS$ 000
160,294 90,032
297,865 =
- 169,464
758 21,517
458,917 281,013
391,373 297,865

AAAEFLRRMBE-EE

= — Bk B 6 R I B A IR A8 IR R
H8.34h %‘ir}%»%ﬁ CEAT R A $ B 4,
RS AR RN EE R R EIAE - F

THE o

15. HMB A A

KB BB RF A A AR A KA B

GUE:S73E &) 41 A

et

Gl

FAAE S A Rk R RS B A
Z B A (AN 3] AT H AMEAE
RS EBA)

AF A=A

715,346,168

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the

The final dividend of HK8.3 cents per ordinary share in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2008 has been proposed by the directors of the Company which
is based on the latest number of shares of 4,715,346,168 in issue and is subject to
approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.

ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings
per share (profit for the year attributable to equity holders

of the Company)

2008

BT

HKS$ 000

2,037,631

2007
BT
HKS$ 000

1,431,082

By # B

FAE 3 F5 Ok K B A X o A

T ¥EE R
SRR AHE P 3 B B A AR A
#4538

T A 5t A B 3 5 28 A 2 e A
P35 LaE SR

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on
share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
for the purposes of diluted earnings per share

4,347,896,126

30,706,426

3,599,933,445

47,443,349

4,378,602,552

3,647,376,794

ZRENFEIFR
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16. ®*& 16. GOODWILL
T
HK$ 000

BRI COST

—EENF—HA—R At 1 January 2008 50,423

B I B T B 8] E A& (P 3238) Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 38) 37,036

—EENE+_A=+—81 At 31 December 2008 87,459

P& A CARRYING AMOUNTS

—EENF+_A=+—81 At 31 December 2008 87,459

—RELF+—_HA=+—8 At 31 December 2007 50,423
AEBAEH - HIEAZHRIEFAHNZEZES The Group uses business segments as its primary segment for reporting segment
o AEATRIAAR  BROUSTREZERE information. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill have been allocated
BreEARE([REELER]) QTN to the construction and decoration cash generating units (CGUs), including various
HERBEEH»IEZ S RHENE o subsidiaries included in the construction and decoration segment.
AZEENF+ A=+ — A X HREDIEY The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2008 is allocated as follows:
B4 T ©

PN
HKS$ 000

EERELEH Construction and decoration business 87,459
BE_BEEANF+_A=+—RLFHE  KAER During the year ended 31 December 2008, management of the Group determines that
FRRAL LRI AL E L FA5 AR there are no impairments of its CGUs containing goodwill.
Lt EAELZ TR EA AL TR The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their major underlying
PR REE T R Tl assumptions are summarised below:
Ji% 5@ BFNEH Construction and decoration business

FAz 2 W] M e £ TG AR IR AR R AR AR ALk The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a value in use

Ti o % FT SL IR AR IR L RGBT W E B B B R 0 B calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
HIAFALLA% (=B R F 0 10%) %74 approved by management covering a 5-year period, and discount rate of 11.4% (2007:
RAERE - AFHGALAETRA2% (=R 10%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% (2007:
REF 1 200) R R EHE - R E IR 29%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts
HAMATERRTARE TR MITEY and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.
FHEMEEE M RABMEF AL IR Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of cash
B O/ ARNAd (L mE inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is
AR EA) » mEAEF AR BB AR based on the unit’s past performance and management’s expectations for the market
RBAERRFTHEEGTARmAEL - TFRER development. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
B AT ERBROSREESE AT HE these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU of
S REANS LA E 2k B A5 0% ARk 48 4H A VTl construction and decoration to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of this CGU.

= M o

ZRENF LA
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17. ¥ BRERZE 17.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
R A B3R Ak ERIAR
#F  Furniture and Motor  Construction il
Buildings equipment vehicles in progress Total

B

—RELF—A—H

AL 2

INE

BB B 2 3] BT AT
(P 2£38)

1

—RELE+=A=+—0

A 38

RE

WIS T B A 8] B A%
(M2£38)

&

—EENFT=A=+—H

DR VT 2

—EEt$f—A—H
WA 3
KA AR

el

—RELEF-A=+—8H

WA 3
AR B A
Ak B4

—EENFF-AZF—R

AE

—EEAFFZAZ+—H

COST

At 1 January 2007
Currency realignment
Additions

Acquired on acquisition of

subsidiaries (Note 38)
Disposal

At 31 December 2007
Currency realignment
Additions

Acquired on acquisition of

subsidiaries (Note 38)
Disposal

At 31 December 2008

DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2007

Currency realignment

Provided for the year

Write-off

At 31 December 2007
Currency realignment
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposal

At 31 December 2008

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2008

—REXHF+=_A=+—8 At31 December 2007

FUET T BT BT BT BT

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

(£7]) (£7])

(restated) (restated)

(T 32)
(Note)

564,402 90,659 21,033 277,742 953,836
36,123 10,337 3,115 31,808 81,383
252 11,874 2,638 288,400 303,164
149 8,626 3,272 100,592 112,639
- (6,993) (2,835) - (9,828)
600,926 114,503 27,223 698,542 1,441,194
35,891 6,839 1,626 41,721 86,077
- 14,455 14,010 886,985 915,450
2,358 19,039 4,831 19,549 45,777
(11,553) (2,116) (5,327) - (18,996)
627,622 152,720 42,363 1,646,797 2,469,502
88,732 33,945 13,328 - 136,005
3,882 3,233 1,325 - 8,440
16,837 11,451 4,028 - 32,316
(2,279) (2,056) (4,722) - (9,057)
107,172 46,573 13,959 - 167,704
6,401 2,782 834 - 10,017
15,053 23,108 6,839 - 45,000
(10,545) (1,521) (4,942) - (17,008)
118,081 70,942 16,690 - 205,713
509,541 81,778 25,673 1,646,797 2,263,789
493,754 67,930 13,264 698,542 1,273,490

e : IR RAERE TRAHEARDGER
TAZ o 3R AR A BRI A AR A R

Rt o

Note:  Construction in progress represents the Group’s development in some investment property

projects which are intended to be held for earning rentals or for capital appreciation

purposes.

ZRENF R
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17. % ~ BRER B () 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
HFAATE N AT MY EFR o Buildings are located in the Chinese Mainland and are situated on land held under
medium-term leases.
Pl oy L ¥E S BRERBMER The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
VA T AE 32 SF B LAk . progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis with the following estimated useful
lives:
R 40 S AL T T Buildings 40 years or over the unexpired term of lease,
PE T whichever is shorter
AR B AR 5% Furniture and equipment 5 years
et 2 54 Motor vehicles 5 years
18. Fast# g #a 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
KEBZFAAAG Z A AT E M vAb The Group’s prepaid lease payments are situated in the Chinese Mainland and held
FLE A o FAATAL G 218 539 £ 504 AL A Hk under medium-term leases. The prepaid lease payments are amortised over their
AH o KSR Hehl a8 A HOFA3274,000T (B R lease terms of 39 to 50 years. The amortisation for the year is HK$43,274,000 (2007:
0 B H923,000T) 0 b ok 42,158,000 HK$923,000), of which HK$42,158,000 (2007: HK$Nil) is capitalised in construction
A(ZEBERLF: )V EEZIRER A in progress included in property, plant and equipment.
Wk~ RS RBAE o
19. #FSHE 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ki g
HK$ 000
A i FAIR VALUE
—EEt$—A—H At 1 January 2007 7,619,400
HE A 2 Currency realignment 548,457
AR IR B R R N TR 3 e Increase in fair value recognised in consolidated income statement 799,955
—REEF+=_A=+—n At 31 December 2007 8,967,812
WA 3R e Currency realignment 576,911
B AW EARE (H3E) Transfer from inventory of properties (Note) 123,619
5{‘_%_ Additions 21,865
AE IR B R RN TR 3 e Increase in fair value recognised in consolidated income statement 308,098
—EEANF+=A=+—8 At 31 December 2008 9,998,305

M ZRAOHEBBERADERLETHEAR

Z ARG A 29 5 %761,706,000 T ©

AEBRBRADES_EEANF+—_A=+—8n
ZATFH I ERAER AN EZ B I AT
R S A AR BT T R IR AR AT TR ) A B&f
Z AR A o W FRARIE AL A PR 8] Bl Al K
%vﬁﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ%%&ﬁm%kzﬁ%o
A MAEIE T R A A s £ A M b B A X
R TR BAE BB RLE  SHE A RNR
VAT HOE NG o

ZRENFESR
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Note:  The amount includes an increase in fair value of certain inventory of properties upon the

transfer to investment properties of approximately HK$61,706,000.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2008 have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out as of that date by CB Richard Ellis
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group.
CB Richard Ellis Limited has appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation was arrived at
by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary income potential using
the applicable market yields for the respective locations and types of properties as the
discount rates.
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19. &AW E ) 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
A LR B A A BRI B A ARG A R iR G
i%&ﬁ?ié%%%ﬁﬁ%u»%ﬁ&i%
R DY T3 SN2

All of the Group’s property interests in leasehold land and building to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are
classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The investment properties are located in the Chinese Mainland under medium-term

BAMELEATE NN - P RMYFR o

lease.
20, ABENGZHER 20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
| 200 2007
BT BT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
AT N E) Z I B AR A Cost of unlisted investments in associates T4TTT 70,294
JEAE N RE % S A) » Edelh B & Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividend received 656,322 523,306
731,099 593,600

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out

A LR BN E) M A AR R I e T

below:
2008 2007
BT HEF T
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
A E MR Total assets 1,695,948 2,067,574
A 1k 405 Total liabilities (385,624) (880,025)
BRI Net assets 1,310,324 1,187,549
AIE B JEAE TSN G 2 K E A Group’s share of net assets of associates 627,215 593,600
Pl & Revenue 337,937 136,896
P9 3 A Profit for the year 203,925 132,114
FRNAEBRBAEH SN ZERE Group’s share of results of associates for the year 97,094 67,715

AR B T N B) 23 AN 3246(C) ©

Particulars of the Group’s associates are set out in note 46(c).

ZRENFER
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21.

22.

M — R I E] 3R

JE e — FIBN B) #ROOA AT~ S B B &
BRI o ANAEERALZFICRFAN KRR
+ =@ A NIKE - HIIEIE A B HE o I
B ARIA LR PT R 9 B ISR A R 5% ( Le\éi

A 5U) o A 2k BRI & A3 89 5
EE s VS PV LR T B S

AR SR E A RN B B BORHME o

TG ERA

21.

22.

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and does not have fixed
terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the amount
will not be repayable in the next twelve months, and accordingly, it is shown as non-
current. The effective imputed interest rate per annum on the non-current balances
is 5% (2007: 5%). The Group assessed the credit quality of the amount due from an
associate regularly based on its financial position and considered no allowance for the

amount from an associate should be provided at the balance sheet date.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

BT T T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
AR B R 0 Available-for-sale investments comprise:
R P9 IE B R A 0 R A Unlisted equity securities in the Chinese Mainland, at cost 435,141 431,627
L ORAE AR Less: Impairment losses (247,147) (235,407)
187,994 196,220

- eE
—RE
Annual

W AR F A E W AR A B 4B

ZHBNFHEZEE LR ABANTEER
HATEEETRFE R ERTHEERE

B B R R de IR IRAE T AR o

AFE AEBRFLTRAXTZIRARADT
W= 1 12,237,0000 o KRB A ok 4 A
PRE A A R 2k B B RIE (B B AT 4R K
Jo PR BAR 5 48 ) BR) o o Bl E R 9 765,000 T
TARF LR 3 AR o

A B A R ‘m # ’Qa‘bz’\ﬁh?&ﬂﬁkléﬁ
W ERF NS FAE R H o
NSRS R

Report 2008

The above available-for-sale investments were stated at cost less impairment at each
balance sheet date since the equity investments do not have a quoted market price in
an active market and the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be reliably

measured.

In the current year, the Group’s investment cost in an unlisted equity investment
had been refunded in the amount of HK$12,237,000. The Group had also disposed
of certain unlisted equity investments with carrying amount of nil, which had been
carried at cost less impairment before the disposal. A gain on disposal of HK$765,000

has been recognised in profit or loss in the current year.

The Group’s remaining available-for-sale investments represent certain unlisted

equity securities in a property investment company incorporated in Beijing.
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23. HEMAFE(E4F)
VAT A RS A il AR S B R X Tk 3t
BB F A (A RA M ET) o

DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
The followings are the major deferred taxation assets (liabilities) recognised and

movements thereon during the current and prior years.

oAb £ 58

(M 32)

KRR EHEEAM Other

BHWE Allowance Land temporary
Investment for doubtful Appreciation differences 43t
properties debts Tax (Note) Total

BT AT RN BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
—EEkE—H—R At 1 January 2007 (666,289) 217,573 54,752 97,078 (296,886)
e 1H 38 Currency realignment (67,394) 9,791 6,910 7,380 (43,313)
lli BETH B o 3] Acquisition of subsidiaries - 1,308 - (28) 1,280
Je g ) FAREE (Charge) credit to consolidated
AR B R income statement for the year (256,858) 7,097 64,241 = (185,520)
REREZIHE Effect of changes in tax rate (286,398) (53,438) (13,909) (24,581) (378,326)
—REXHF+=_A=+—8 At31 December 2007 (1,276,939) 182,331 111,994 79,849 (902,765)
Al 2 Currency realignment (80,886) 11,890 6,817 3,780 (58,399)
Hﬁ( LAY AR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - (9,050) (9,050)
Je g ) FAREE (Charge) credit to consolidated
A8 3 R income statement for the year (153,289) 19,406 (24,204) 3,472 (154,615)
—BENF+ A =+—H8 At 31 December 2008 (1,511,114) 213,627 94,607 78,051 (1,124,829)

M3 s Rk 28 L RN E A K AT 4
B AR B AR AT E A T e R £

oo

A B XA R A T

Note:  Other temporary differences mainly represent the deductible temporary differences arising
from the write down of inventory of properties and impairment loss of available-for-sale
investments.

Analysis of the deferred taxation balances at the balance sheet date is as follows:

BT FUEF T
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
I IEHLIA A E Deferred taxation assets 395,333 374,174
Ik 2 FLIB A 1R Deferred taxation liabilities (1,520,162) (1,276,939)
(1,124,829) (902,765)

ZRENFER
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23.

24.

L R ES
HFEDHE

I HLIA K E (B ) (4
ANEEFRL  wAZEWBNG B % EA
BB REE R ¥ & sk # 257,767,000 T
(=B R 0 #180,491,000T ) 2 4% 3 HLIA
TR AR R EALIR A E o AABE R ST L
E

Fe PR A B BB R AL R 40 By T B4R A oY A
2008 % 13t % + —RBENF— A — B AP E
A A Ik 6 BB A s P B E PR i
JAMARI T A D LRI E S ETRHEF3
BOTHEVA BN T PLA A K RN B & KT RHLE
e A 91l P BT o HAKRLEET

PR Y 2B D M B R £ T A
TRM AT GHED - MEEMFRENE £

& B B N 8] 1,807,000 (=R R L
#) B3 A AL W I £ AR R AEALE o

E X

Properties held for sale

23.

24.

Properties under development

DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS (LIABILITIES) (continued)

No deferred taxation asset has been recognised in respect of estimated tax losses of
HK$257,767,000 (2007: HK$180,491,000) as, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are uncertain. The tax loss

could be carried forward for a maximum of five years.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend distributed out of the profits generated
since 1 January 2008 shall be subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax and which held
by the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law Concerning
Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises and Article 91 of the
Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the Income Tax Law for Enterprises with
Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting
to HK$1,807,000,000 (2007: nil) as the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is possible that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

INVENTORY OF PROPERTIES
2007
AT A AT A
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
(Z31)
(restated)
33,374,389 20,304,679
4,650,303 1,792,780
38,024,692 22,097,459

HEHFEATENE AP HMYHL o
RaMfTAE Lt @A Bk
EABETAANGEFSEAMER K
HErBAADEE - FRBEFTAL
Aomstt @A #EROHEET RS
% 74 30,716,194,000 T (= B B L F ¢ B
18,239,072,0007T.) °

ZRENFESR
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The inventory of properties was located in the Chinese Mainland under medium-
term lease. Inventory of properties which are expected to be recovered in more than
twelve months after the balance sheet date are classified under current asset as it
is expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating cycle. The amounts of
inventory of properties that are expected by the management to be realised after
more than twelve months after the balance sheet date are HK$30,716,194,000 (2007:
HK$18,239,072,000).



4R a M R RN 2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. HiEHE 25. OTHER INVENTORIES
BT BT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
JR A Raw materials 55,853 1,661
H AL S A H b Consumables and others 3,510 11,073
59,363 12,734
26. JEMK © F bR TR R EATIT A 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS
PAID
BT EETL
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
JENC PR 2 Trade receivables 1,188,149 641,084
2 R Less: Accumulated impairments (349,888) (328,696)
838,261 312,388
SERCHE £ 30k R HE e AT s (T 32) Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights (Note) 8,090,094 5,509,152
J 4 JEOKCRR IR Other receivables 771,890 868,441
2 3t iRdE Less: Accumulated impairments (320,200) (258,442)
451,690 609,999
FAM R AT A Prepayments and deposits 496,668 335,385
9,876,713 6,766,924
B3 0 A B B B KR B P B e b A A Note:  The amount represents the partial payments made by the Group for the acquisition of land
Jﬂ Ve ERRITZ AT EEm  RELF use right in the Chinese Mainland for property development. The land use right certificates
CREEA R R R RS o B have not yet been obtained by the Group at the balance sheet date. The management
?5 HAEGER T @A TG EEA expects the deposits paid that they would obtain the land use right certificates in the
HEZ P AT é’] J}gr/i\}% B 2,236,112,000 T (=& coming twelve months after the balance sheet date are HK$2,236,112,000 (2007:
RAHF 0 #HU3,412,596,000T) © HK$3,412,596,000).
B E Y EW B IEER R TR s & Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled in accordance with
fHo —fmE WEHFRA a“i% BEWMHEREAE the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Generally, purchasers of
308 N I ATEAZ SR R EHAETIE R A o properties are required to settle the balance within 30 days as specified in the sales

and purchase agreements or not granted with any credit period.

fhdh B 4 £ ey BN F A s o ARIER M RE X Except for the proceeds receivable from sales of properties, rental income from
fHeg AL T M AL B E A B EE - K lease of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which are payable in
EB—REEFEPANBBISKGEZRH - accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a

credit period of not exceeding 45 days to its customers.

ZRENFER
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26.

AR ~ H ALK ARTA R EATIT A
(#%)
ONCE OB BR AR R E MR R 2 | A R
738460007@ ”"éizt% %”“‘16815000
C M L8 AR E A RED
éé;kaf%’“wi@ °

AL EBME P AT - FIRIEPIAGZ T
HHEHZRAREP GERART BB M

FEPHIERRA TAELAAXRBAETR
SHAE o
VAT 45 AR JEKBE 2 08 BRI A7

& do B IR AR 09 JE M PRk 0 PR % AT

26.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS
PAID (continued)

Retention receivables included in trade receivables amounted to HK$73,846,000
(2007: HK$16,815,000) are interest-free and receivable at the end of the retention
period of individual construction contracts.

Before accepting any customers, the Group uses an internal credit assessment system
to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and defines credit limits by customer,
and considers adequate allowance has been made at the balance sheet date.

The followings are the aged analysis of trade receivables at the balance sheet date:

Aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment

Bk p BT
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
—% N Within one year 632,091 195,848
A —F Over one year 206,170 116,540
838,261 312,388
2.3 A2 & R AR 49 FE K BR 2K 69 BR S AT Aged analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

BT FhET T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
—%R Within one year 145,245 10,061
A —F Over one year 96,905 90,914
242,150 100,975
PN N FE @ #4H Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying

memmuzgzk% #100,975,000
7U) 8 K BRF - EHF R iﬂﬁ z’\é&i B # e
B AR E G AR IRALEGE A o ii‘f
B esbid M IR A BRGCETHER

a A HE o

b R ARSR S s B KEBRAA
AERERE B¢ Edia ie—F Rk
= o

AEBEABENERFERER M BHER
PR R AL B BRIB G 1E R KT - BB R
HERNBEHERT LS o AT 4o ihiR
A8 64 Fo Al JE N BR TR BR S AT 0 JE LB HAfe &
AR 0 H e JEKCBRIA BRI AT AR R o

ZRENFESR
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amount of HK$242,150,000 (2007: HK$100,975,000) which are past due at the
reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group
has retained the legal ownership of the property sold to the property buyer for
overdue debtor balances.

There are no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group considers they

are repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year from the date of advance.

The Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records and considered adequate allowance
has been made at the balance sheet date. The aged analysis of other receivables net
of impairment presented below should be the same as the ageing of other receivables

past due but not impaired.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS
PAID (continued)
The following is an aged analysis of other receivables net of impairments at the

balance sheet date:

Other receivables

—% N Within one year
A8 —F Over one year

BHEF ok

HKS 000 HKS$ 000
250,585 544,288
201,105 65,711
451,690 609,999

ROE MR G o R A B 349,888,000 T
1 320,200,000 T (= B R X
328,696,000 7T & # U 258,442,000 7T ) 44 18 A i
A B B 2 2 o JE M RRTE o S EMRR A
PR E FE B FEVOKE o KEE G AR H S
EREGIEAT o VAT B B AR R A LA B BR A 89
R RALE B o

JENMCRE . F 3T RA 4 )

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade
receivables and other receivables of HK$349,888,000 and HK$320,200,000 (2007:
HK$328,696,000 and HK$258,442,000) respectively, which have been in severe
financial difficulties and irrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. The followings are the movement in the accumulated impairments
for trade receivables and other receivables.

Movement in the accumulated impairments for trade receivables

Bk p BT
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
S 4k Balance at beginning of the year 328,696 308,913
I 59 % Exchange realignment 21,192 19,783
B S Balance at the end of the year 349,888 328,696

H b R AR R R ST RE S B

Movement in the accumulated impairments for other receivables:

BT AT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
E R Balance at beginning of the year 258,442 213,301
R E:S Exchange realignment 17,048 16,754
H A JBOC R TR BT A 32 64 IRABL I 48 (9 32 ) Impairment losses recognised on other receivables (Note) 44,710 28,387
Pk Balance at the end of the year 320,200 258,442

T3E @ A M BRSO E R M o BOR LA AR
HiE A 4k 4 oh TR0 B AR RUA

Note:  The amount represents the partial impairment made for the loan advance to an outsider

after considering its financial position and ability to repay during the year.

ZRENFER
Annual Repurt2008 ]- 19
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T () % P -8 TAZ KR

27.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT
WORK

BT T T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
“AgEEIE Contracts in progress at the balance sheet date
CE A 65 TAE R A Im CAER Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less
AR EAE R AR recognised losses 4,458,873 2,833,692
Ko KR Less: progress billings (4,589,907) (2,767,156)
(131,034) 66,536
SEHRAEI>AT Analysed for reporting purposes as:
JEN B P A4 TR IR Amounts due from customers for contract works 210,929 190,784
JEAT B P A4 AL HOR Amounts due to customers for contract works (341,963) (124,248)
(131,034) 66,536

28.

- eE
—RE
Annual

AZRENFTZAZ+—8 0 RN E
Pﬁ%ﬁlﬁ%ﬁ%%%éé%%wmwm

(ZRRXH 0 H1H16,815000T) o H1b
ﬁ%‘l‘?ﬁiﬁl"laﬂié)’éﬁ/\*ﬁlﬁi 3R By B
64,662,000 T ( = & & L F : # 421,128,000
A) o AZRENFRZRRLHFE - FRKT
FE PO AR REA R R PP IAT
M E TR AR KT8 A DK
R oo

TR % W B 2 8) /L 4 RN 8) 3
R

AW A 2T KR BT - A
= Mm A P o

NSRS R
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28.

At 31 December 2008, retentions held by customers for contract works included in
trade receivables amounted to HK$73,846,000 (2007: HK$16,815,000). Advances
received from customers for contract work included in other payables amounted to
HK$64,662,000 (2007: HK$21,128,000). In both 2008 and 2007, the management
expects both the retentions held by customers for contract works and advances
received from customers for contract works will be realised within twelve months

after the balance sheet date.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY
The amounts are unsecured, trade in nature and recoverable within 12 months after

the balance sheet date.



Fa M AR AR GE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

29. BAERBITEHG
RAERBITEFOIERTHFNE0362 E
3258 (ZRELF 0722 £3332)F &
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AR AL RRTEHF TR T AR
4,469,038,000 7T (48 & # # ¥ 5,076,380,000 T.)
(ZEELF 1 ARH3,652,077,000T (48 % #
#63,899,689,0007T ) ) A AR, A 0 M AR
HERIT Bl e

A BARAT A T R A

29.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits carry interest at market
rates which range from 0.36% to 3.25% (2007: 0.72% to 3.33%) per annum.

Included in cash and bank balances, there is a total balance amounting to
RMB4,469,038,000 (equivalent to HK$5,076,380,000) (2007: RMB3,652,077,000
(equivalent to HK$3,899,689,000) denominated in RMB which is not a freely

convertible currency.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

BT FUT T
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
W (A 4 B o 3] 69 91 ) Hong Kong dollar (foreign currency of the relevant group entity) 465,249 592,546
AR, e Renminbi 5,076,380 3,899,689
(7 United States Dollar 10,543 20,511
b Others 1,269 4,055
5,553,441 4,516,801
30. JEATRRZK B A b AT BRA 30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BT T T
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
JEAT BR 2 Trade payables 2,467,300 1,199,422
4 JEAT BE A BUE ST B A Other payables and accrued charges 1,758,999 897,254
4,226,299 2,096,676

AEE SR ZEAT BB 5 AT 4 T

—% N Within one year
—F L b Over one year

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the balance sheet date:

A A
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
927,328 501,789
1,539,972 697,633
2,467,300 1,199,422

ZRENFEIFR
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32.

33.

REMETIHEE
WA SRR ER SR AFRAL
FATAL LD %+ =mA KR 5 AR E
o FRBTAMT AL B %+ =18 A IRy
o A #065,382,301,000T (=R R L HF
13,240,149,000T.) o

AR 4 W BAE) B RFKA
JEATR) 4 B8 BOR B AT HRE o A M#
B AT fEmAARRBEIRE o B4V H
MR BIAT EBR Y BRI R B BRI
9 B HAAAERIFIRE o

SRAT A B

31.

32.

33.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED FROM PRE-SALES OF PROPERTIES

The amounts which are expected to be realised in more than twelve months after

the balance sheet date are classified under current liabilities as it is within the

Group’s normal operating cycle. The amounts that are expected by the management

to be realised in the coming twelve months after the balance sheet date are

HK$5,382,301,000 (2007: HK$3,240,149,000).

AMOUNTS DUE TO FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/MINORITY

SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are trade in nature. The amounts are

unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The amounts due to minority

shareholders represent mainly the loan advances from the minority shareholder, and

which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BANK BORROWINGS

BT T T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
H AT Secured 4,477,710 2,338,782
I-¥ %1l Unsecured 16,615,282 13,095,166
21,092,992 15,433,948
AT 7 B E B BRE AL Carrying amount repayable:
BERR—FN On demand or within one year 4,062,895 2,712,212
— VA A2 R A More than one year but not exceeding two years 1,240,762 3,167,660
WA e AR B SR More than two years but not more than five years 15,583,453 9,307,147
AFVAE More than five years 205,882 246,929
21,092,992 15,433,948
W RE AT — Less: Amounts due within one year
2| A2 #OR shown under current liabilities (4,062,895) (2,712,212)
17,030,097 12,721,736
ZRENFESR
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BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the functional

currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

| 00 2007

R ki e
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
11,180,000 8,236,676

ﬁm&%ﬁ%&%%ai#ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ

REF 1612)FEZIRERFTHER
%#991299200075( R k& ,,M;c

7,197,272,000 T ) % 4% % B 5 A £ 2.94 2 (
R 1378 ) 3 B A e A A BRAT FI%@VF.E’:
10282 20832 (= KK XLF @« F B4

FlEAT 80348 ) X &8 5 A 3 & 2% &
154 1 11,180,000,000 T (= B R L 45 1 B

8,236,676,000 T ) © R IR A8 M & K ) 2R P A%k
B AR RIAS BB A — R o

AEBAELHERT  BHFEAL(ZERL
4 364,068,000 4 ) A 36,000,000
(ZZELHF 1 #160,000,000T) X & 337
FH R w P B R AR EM(EE) BERE
A RBAMAERMERIERL AL
& # % 10,670,000,000 7T ( éz?\z?)c# DBl
7,327,500,000 T) Z ARATHE R W 0 E M (4
B) EZF R HMNA REFFA AN AT
MR E Y 35% o

Amount included fixed-rate bank borrowings of HK$9,912,992,000 (2007:
HK$7,197,272,000) which carry interest at average fixed rate of 6.46% per annum
(2007: 6.1% per annum) and variable-rate borrowings of HK$11,180,000,000 (2007:
HK$8,236,676,000) which carried effective interest at 2.94% (2007: 3.78%) per
annum and contractual interest at HIBOR plus a certain percentage ranging from
0.28% to 0.83% (2007: HIBOR plus 0.34%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable
by instalments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with the terms set out

in the respective loan agreements.

Included in the borrowings of the Group above are unsecured loans amounting to
HK$Nil (2007: HK$64,068,000) and HK$36,000,000 (2007: HK$60,000,000) which
were guaranteed by CRNC and CRH respectively. Also, in respect of bank borrowings
of the Group amounted to HK$10,670,000,000 (2007: HK$7,327,500,000), in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements, CRH is required to hold
not less than 35% of the issued share capital of the Company at any time during the

period of the loans.

S RENI AR
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34.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives under hedge accounting

| 25 2007

BT AT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
AR T HIT— A R I (M 2x) Cash flow hedges — interest rate swaps (Note) (42,832) =
A £ 42 2 Other interest rate swaps (94,092) -
(136,924) -

A BTk AR T AT R A A
A B AT A A AR A LA
it o

AR E T

AEBHRAMNERI(EE A FH)  EBH
FoA R AR EAE  EFRKLFEET
SRAT AR A R R o 9 5 A R 0 A AR JEAR
A6 B 0 B RN ) EER A
EHERMASEHAGHF TR o HEHF
E S ER & RIECRY

S EENE
4 RAER EIER:|
Notional amount Maturity

The above derivatives are measured at fair value which is estimated using valuation

technique with reference to interest yield and discounted cash flow analysis.

Cash flow hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps (net quarterly settlement) to minimise its
exposure to interest expenses of its floating-rate Hong Kong Dollar bank borrowings
by swapping floating interest rates to fixed interest rates. The interest rate swaps
and the corresponding bank borrowings have the similar settlement periods and the
directors of the Company considered that the interest rate swaps are highly effective

hedging instruments. Major terms of the interest rate swaps are set out below:

2008
#4 #HiPE B
Swaps Hedged item

#%:500,000,000T —RE—=F%JA+ktn
HK$500,000,000 17 September 2013
#%500,000,000T —E—=%hAt+Ltn
HK$500,000,000 17 September 2013

Mrsz o AR BB 5 &4 F % 45 1L # Asset Appraisal
Limited &3 & A7 4 Lk i — R REANF+ =
A=+—8AMEZ B EIM e PR o
Asset Appraisal Limited £ 44 il & % % & #%

AT A B FEAT A T B R AR AE R 48
“5:":\ o Hib R AL AT A T OB AE T KA A R %
JEAS AR T BT AGTAE R o

ZRENFESR
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WA BRATR A8 22,95 SAT B 25 %610,000,000 T
From HIBOR to 2.95% Bank borrowings of HK$610,000,000
WA BRATR AR 8 £3.00E AT B F A 1520,000,000T
From HIBOR to 3.00% Bank borrowings of HK$520,000,000

Note: The measurement and assessment of the effectiveness of the above hedges as
at and for the period ended 31 December 2008 have been carried out by Asset
Appraisal Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Asset Appraisal Limited has appropriate qualifications
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar hedge effectiveness
of derivatives. The hedge effectiveness was arrived at on the basis of the
measurement and assessment of the ability of the derivatives to offset changes

in cash flows attributable to the interest rate risk.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Other interest rate swaps
The terms of other interest rate swaps that are not qualified for hedge accounting are

disclosed below.
2008

4

Swaps

#1500,000,0007T —E—=%zAN1NA
HK$500,000,000 9 May 2013
#1500,000,0007T —E——%z AR
HK$500,000,000 9 May 2012
#1500,000,0007T —E——5B AN
HK$500,000,000 6 May 2012
#1500,000,0007T —E—=%wA+—
HK$500,000,000 11 April 2013

—RENF+_A=Z+—8 - AbHEETH
SRR AR ) R P
36,259,000 T ( =B RLF @ &) LR L L
M% 9 FIMER AR T H YA R sk
F 4T AL S BB AR 6,573,000 (=R R
LS ) ik B AR B A 0 TR 8 B AR
;‘ié\ﬁ“‘i% 092,000 T (= RRLHF @ &) A% L%
1#100,665,0007T » A48 5 732 o

WA BRITR XN EE3402
From HIBOR to 3.40%
WA BRATR X 23302
From HIBOR to 3.30%
WA BRAITR X B 23382
From HIBOR to 3.38%

2 WA R ARAT R X5 & 2298
From HIBOR to 2.98%

As at 31 December 2008, the effective portion of the loss on changes in fair value of
the interest rate swaps under cash flow hedge amounted to HK$36,259,000 (2007:
nil) has been deferred in equity. During the year, the loss on changes in fair value
of the ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge of
HK$6,573,000 (2007: nil) together with the loss on changes in fair value of other
interest rate swaps of HK$94,092,000 (2007: nil), totalling HK$100,665,000 is

recognised in profit or loss.

S RENI AR
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35. BA

35.

SHARE CAPITAL

A3 B

Number of shares

&
Share capital

I T T AT

BEFL BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
F R EAFRN0.10T X Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
T Authorised:
F At the beginning of the year 5,000,000,000  5,000,000,000 500,000 500,000
—RENF LA+ WA Increase on 14 July 2008
5 (W 32a) (Note a) 2,000,000,000 _ 200,000 -
S ¥ At the end of the year 7,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 700,000 500,000
CAAT Rk B Issued and fully paid
£ At the beginning of the year 4,025,201,318 3,322,815,409 402,520 332,281
Be4E #7 Bk (I 32b) Placement of new shares (Note b) - 400,000,000 - 40,000
FT A% 88 REAE (T 32¢) Exercise of share options (Note c)
(LI 3£36) (see Note 36) 14,345,000 33,295,000 1,435 3,330
A 2 M T B 8] 2 Issued in consideration for the
ARAR P2 A4T (B 22d) acquisition of subsidiaries (Note d) 675,799,850 269,090,909 67,580 26,909
ENS At the end of the year 4,715,346,168 4,025,201,318 471,535 402,520
i 32 Notes:
(a) =& z’?./\iﬁzt A-+vw B o A G 8 aE (a) On 14 July 2008, an ordinary resolution of the Company was passed to increase the
RE 583 3£2,000,000,000 8% A B H0.10 authorised share capital of the Company from HK$500,000,000 to HK$700,000,000 by the
PR L] ?fT IE B MR A kR KW R creation of 2,000,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each. Such new shares rank pari
500,000,000 7. 3% £ # 700,000,000 T ° 3% % passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.
RS T EILANG R B EARE
HEF) o
(b) —RBEXFRERAANR KN E EBREERE (b) On 8 May 2007, the Company issued and allotted 400,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
'13‘9 817'[/}3‘41‘75\% 400,000,000 8% 4 A% @7 18 each for consideration of HK$9.81 per share to finance the Group’s working capital. The
0 1AW Ed A  EAKEBREELFEL o new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspect.
3B SR A BTy SLIH A TR R S AHEA o
(c) PN KN 8] BRI IR A AL AT 4 547 14,345,000 (c) During the year, the Company issued 14,345,000 (2007: 33,295,000) ordinary shares of
FE (=R R X4 133,295,000 0% ) 4 B @ {6 3 5 HK$0.1 each upon exercise of share options. The exercise price of the share options during
0.17T 89438 B o HA P9 R AR A 09 47 1218 AT & the period ranges from HK$0.96 to HK$3.97 (2007: HK$0.96 to HK$4.59) per share. The
A0 T ERNEIITL(ZRELF  * new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all aspect.
1096 T £ & HEAB9T) o HEE M AE S T @
S Ry FA R FHEA] o
(d) ZRENFLRAFSB 0 KN E sk )E (d) On 16 July 2008, 675,799,850 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (Note 38) were issued for the
ift E] A3 4% /EL A 47675,799,850 it A acquisition of the Property Group of Smooth Day Group Limited. On 28 December 2007,
B AL 0.1 T 09 58 B (L 3238) o =& 269,090,909 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (Note 38) were issued for the acquisition of
z; LFE+F A= ANB 0 K8 ok A Speedy Gain Investments Limited (“Speedy Gain”).
%A A R a8 ([ |) 4547 269,090,909 A% £
@1&«5”*0 17089 538 B (LI 3238) o
ZRENFESR
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B B EMBSREHANZIARE AR
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EEIE AN RPEARRERELA =+ 08
BB ZFFFRBAE RN A —RRE—F— A
ZF— B AR A AR o — R R
F—A=Z+—8 0 ANF &R AT
B AT RAEREZ LA - BHE 24
FA g AR NG B EWB NG RE (LI
AN EF) o I 0 AHEAT AR b KA
AFEFERE AR B-RE—FIHA—BA
WA Z b AR EFZATE LR R RAA
ANE By @il o RFEEFINRTE S RE 2
IR AEAT IR B © AT AT B AT 403 - R
BRB_EE—FHA—BATEAZ ETHA
a9 LR o

(z‘w

B I AN FTIRAR RA—RR 5 —A
ZF—BXEEKRE LIRS E o F
EQTEEABLRE R BB ZFLHT
RS OHEANE PITRIEPITEE A
AAEMTIR B ~ AT R HATE E R L 2R
HRZEMEHZEA  AERAZIETEM - %
XM B LA AT RA B AR E &
PNEIE Y ES F NS Y
R AN ZEE  ATHARR EZM R
FAN B EZR R B o #7303 2 0% ARAT
BEHANNEERLL  FERAATZAHZ
RS RN E) B AR B I
1%~ BRI EF MBS TEmEER
Z - PR AR A @ AL o B AT AR AR DR FT < E)
¥ e R AT IR Z BT A A R HE M T R AT MR
4 s BATEARIEAT R M a4k TR
W HE VT R AR AT AR B R B A SR AR
Ft R TR M SR ARE AT LT AL
AP EFHZ LR o

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of promoting additional
commitment and dedication to the objectives of the Company by participants, namely
the “Old Scheme” and the “New Scheme”.

The Old Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the Company
pursuant to a board resolution passed on 20 July 2000, which subsisted until 31
January 2002. On 31 January 2002, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination (to the effect that no further options shall be offered) of the Old Scheme.
Eligible participants of the Old Scheme were the employees of the Company and
the subsidiaries (including directors of the Company). The exercise price of the
share option under the Old Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company.
The exercise price will not exceed the maximum discount permitted by the Listing
Rules applicable prior to 1 September 2001 and not less than the nominal value of
the Company’s shares. The maximum number of shares issued and permitted to be
issued on the exercise of options under the Old Scheme and to be granted to each
participant does not exceed the maximum limit as permitted by the Listing Rules

applicable before 1 September 2001.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the Company which
was approved by the shareholders in general meeting on 31 January 2002. The board
of directors may grant options to eligible participants, including executive or non-
executive directors of the Company, any discretionary object of a discretionary trust
established by any employee, executive or non-executive directors of the Company,
any executives and employees of consultants, professional and other advisors to the
Group, chief executive, substantial shareholder of the Company, associate companies
of the Group, associates of directors, chief executive and substantial shareholder of
the Company, and employees of substantial shareholder. The exercise price of the
share option under the New Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant, the average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and the nominal value of the share. The
total number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of all options granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and the maximum number of shares
that may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted thereunder and the
maximum entitlement of each participant under the New Scheme is respectively,

equivalent to the maximum limit permitted under the prevailing Listing Rules.

—REBENFEF
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B (a0)
7’%’&#%/\?”’*@15 R IR TR
BAZFANRN - IS ERFITRIEE
Tty o PTIE IR RAR G BB AT R
SRR - 258 AAT R R A
B35 h R AR X B AT R R AT AR v R
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36.

TR Z AR HEGS AR A X BB ) A B A
36,027,500 1% (=& & L F BBk %50,372,500

B) AR AN KON A B S AT R 0% A
0.76% (= ZZ AL F 1 0% %1.25%) °

TARWE %E(@%%?ﬁﬁ%i&a%&%%

Sy X
34
AR
Exercise A%
#ik B Hh price Exercisable
Date of grant  per share period

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options under both schemes may be accepted within 28
days from the date of the offer together with the payment of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The vesting and exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
at the entire discretion of the board of directors with the vesting period not exceeding
four years and the exercise period will not exceed a period of ten years immediately
after acceptance of grant. Options are lapsed if the employee leaves the Group before
the options vest. At 31 December 2008, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the Old Scheme and the
New Scheme were nil and 36,027,500 (2007: nil and 50,372,500) shares, representing
0% and 0.76% (2007: 0% and 1.25%), respectively, to the shares of the Company in

issue at that date.

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options held by

employees (including directors) and movements in such holdings during the year:

AR R
Number of share options

#» —RENF
—ERENF +=A
—A—8 F RS FRATIE F R =+—8
% R ATE Granted Exercised Lapsed ¥ kAT
Outstanding during during during Outstanding
at 1.1.2008 the year the year the year  at 31.12.2008

BT
HK$
33 04/03/2002 1.590 04/03/2002 to 03/03/2012 4,990,000 - 3,040,000 - 1,950,000
New Scheme  07/10/2002 0.960 07/10/2002 to 06/10/2012 1,200,000 - 20,000 - 1,180,000
28/04/2004 1.040 28/04/2004 to 27/04/2014 3,295,000 - 855,000 - 2,440,000
29/04/2005 1.420 29/04/2005 to 28/04/2015 5,812,500 - 1,180,000 - 4,632,500
01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 31/05/2015 5,000,000 - 1,725,000 - 3,275,000
02/06/2005 1.270 02/06/2005 to 01/06/2015 250,000 - 100,000 - 150,000
27/06/2005 1.340 27/06/2005 to 26/06/2015 400,000 - 200,000 - 200,000
03/01/2006 81225 03/01/2006 to 02/01/2016 24,700,000 - 6,975,000 - 17,725,000
17/02/2006 3.965 17/02/2006 to 16/02/2016 1,875,000 - 250,000 - 1,625,000
26/06/2006 3.580 26/06/2006 to 25/06/2016 2,850,000 - - - 2,850,000
50,372,500 - 14,345,000 - 36,027,500
S ST AT Exercisable at the end of the year 14,595,000
AT 347 1£ 18  Weighted average exercise price 2.48 - 233 = 2.54

ZRENF
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36. A E (4 36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
R AR
Number of share options

# SRS

B —RRXHF +=A

AR —HA—8 F AR F AT F R =+—=8

Exercise e & W R AR Granted Exercised Lapsed % R AT A

¥k B price Exercisable Outstanding during during during Outstanding

Date of grant  per share period at 1.1.2007 the year the year the year  at 31.12.2007

BT
HK$

33 27/06/1997 4.592 27/06/1997 to 27/05/2007 11,718,000 - (5,793,000) (5,925,000) -
Old Scheme  20/07/2000 0.990 20/07/2000 to 27/05/2007 1,990,000 - (340,000) (1,650,000) -
13,708,000 - (6,133,000) (7,575,000) -

#3tE 04/03/2002 1.590 04/03/2002 to 03/03/2012 10,710,000 - (5,720,000) - 4,990,000
New Scheme  15/04/2002 1.610 15/04/2002 to 14/04/2012 960,000 - (960,000) - -
07/10/2002 0.960 07/10/2002 to 06/10/2012 1,350,000 - (150,000) - 1,200,000

28/04/2004 1.040 28/04/2004 to 27/04/2014 10,204,500 - (6,909,500) - 3,295,000

29/04/2005 1.420 29/04/2005 to 28/04/2015 7,110,000 - (1,297,500) - 5,812,500

01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 31/05/2015 9,600,000 - (4,600,000) - 5,000,000

02/06/2005 1.270 02/06/2005 to 01/06/2015 500,000 - (250,000) - 250,000

27/06/2005 1.340 27/06/2005 to 26/06/2015 600,000 - (200,000) - 400,000

03/01/2006 83225 03/01/2006 to 02/01/2016 30,700,000 - (6,000,000) - 24,700,000

17/02/2006 3.965 17/02/2006 to 16/02/2016 2,000,000 - (125,000) - 1,875,000

26/06/2006 3.580 26/06/2006 to 25/06/2016 3,800,000 - (950,000) - 2,850,000

77,534,500 - (27,162,000) - 50,372,500

91,242,500 - (33,295,000) (7,575,000) 50,372,500

S YT AT 4R Exercisable at the end of the year 7,382,500
AT 3471818  Weighted average exercise price 2.52 = 2.29 3.81 2.48

ZRENFER
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36. BEARAHEE] (1) 36.
RPN ) AT AR R
Pt T ¢

R ZRENE

ABR —A—H

Exercise 7148 AT

#4848 price  Exercisable Outstanding

Date of grant per share period at 1.1.2008

SRS
Granted
during

the year

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

the Company included in the above table are as follows:

MHRHERR

Number of share options

ERATHR EACEE:d
Exercised Lapsed
during during

the year the year

Details of the movements of the share options during the year held by the directors of

SREAF
+=A
zt+—8
AT
Outstanding
at 31.12.2008

AR

Reallocation

BHEL (H2£1)
HK$ (Note 1)
A3t
New Scheme  01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 31/05/2005 1,650,000 - - - - 1,650,000
SEUHET AT Exercisable at the end of the year 1,275,000
T AT AR Weighted average exercise price 1.23 = = = = 1.23
MR R
Number of share options

i Er
#5 ~REReH t=A
AR i FRE EALy 4 LR ¢ zZt+-8
Exercise 7148 AT Granted Exercised Lapsed AT
#4848 price  Exercisable Outstanding during during during THHR Outstanding
Date of grant per share period at 1.1.2007 the year the year the year Reallocation at 31.12.2007

B (F21)
HK$ (Note 1)
#3t 3 04/03/2002 1.590 04/02/2002 to 28/02/2012 - - (540,000) - 540,000 -
New Scheme  01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 31/05/2005 1,900,000 - (750,000) (500,000) 1,000,000 1,650,000
1,900,000 - (1,290,000 (500,000) 1,540,000 1,650,000
U AT Exercisable at the end of the year -
AR AR Weighted average exercise price 1.23 = 1.38 1.23 1.36 1.23
P22 ¢ AR AE E A7 4B 75 B R A B AN KRR Note:  The reallocation of options arose when the option holders changed their positions in the
BEANG XA B ATEFR G EFH Company from employees to directors or vice versa during the year. The options were
HRBEmEL - AMMBRHECABESES granted to them in previous years.
A o
ZRENFESR
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36. BEEAEEE (1)
5 P9 BT AT 4 B A AN AT B B 2 e BT 3 R AR
AAEI2900 (ZEELE  BE10.97L) o

A B RAEAZRRNFE—A =
B —RENF_A+LBA_RENF A
=% B 8 AE ST T SR 7S ekl A st AT @ AT
TR o HANELT ¢

36.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share
price at the dates of exercise is HK$12.90 (2007: HK$10.97).

The total estimated fair values of the option determined at the date of grant on 3
January 2006, 17 February 2006 and 26 June 2006 were calculated using the Black-

Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

ZRERF —RERF —ERERF
—A=8 —A++xn ~A=+>=x8
3.1.2006 17.2.2006 26.6.2006

I 3 REAR

EeR &) Exercise price
T8 2 5 HA Expected life
AR e A & Risk-free rate
TR &= HF

AR B A T4
BT B AR AT AT AR

before date of grant

BEZE 0 A AE ) Sh AT B ST AR A XA e AR
BERZER QBB LS K I RER
BHREHATEEFHERTE -

FRAT S AR Z 3 B A — R 5 -

FA U 8 75 e TA A NEAR =) 3 AL AR £ 40% 3
B MBI AR A260 R B AR B TR A
KA o g X BT R T S ARIE E 2 R AR
THIEHE TR RAT AL B RARE T
1A o

ME-BREANF+ZA=Z+—BLFE
M AR RN ] AT AR o W AR K A
7,835,000 T (=& & 4 1 % 414,176,000

) e

Expected dividend yield

Weighted average share price

Fair values of option at grant date

Closing share price immediately

HK$3.23 HK$3.93 HK$3.53
HK$3.23 HK$3.97 HK$3.58
7 years 7 years 7 years
4.105% 4.25% 4.806%
1.86% 1.529% 1.702%
HK$1.72 HK$2.15 HK$1.87
HK$3.22 HK$4.00 HK$3.48

Note:  Because the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the volatility of share price, changes in subjective input

assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.

All options were under the graded vesting period between one to four years.

The expected volatility measured at the standard derivation of expected share price
returns of 40% is used, which is based on average of 260 day historical volatility.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural

considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$7,835,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2008 (2007: HK$14,176,000) in relation to share options granted
by the Company.
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37.

38.

- e R
—RE
Annual

PR 4] P B A 58 B 3T B BT B A
ZRENFALAZ+ R ([RABH]) » K F
Fay IR R B B Bt (318 ) - Askw A
AL ST 1040 21 B & i A7 2% o ARIR3H 3 a9 ik
ANE AT FBe P AR B 3k BUAR AT
TR ) 2R R B Ry o AL
BRBM - FIEARETE B T BH R A
19,900,000 A% 1% 14 #% % 162,242,000 /. 49 & 547
Bty » B3 &b B SRAEAT B fb A A A Sk
P AR R AN A B o

W B T B - 3]

BE_REANSF T _A=+—BILFE

(i) BN L B A RN 5] ([ #9008 )
AZEENFLA+xE - KNG AL
RAR # 19,212,170,000 T & 2 M &£ B 4
2 A B 2 ) Gain Ahead Group Limited
MO IR 230 AT A » SUREBA
RNa) A3k KNG« ZRRELL
()M E AR (a4 T B R
Z TP A EN ERR b KB E
BH > REWNERR - EENEEA
/éFﬁT*‘/éﬂiﬁ AR K2 ZHEARD ([H
¥ab ) AG)ETENLEFRLL
ﬁzﬁzﬁ»féﬁii}% [REEH ) 2 Mt

E_c

PO W e K B R A B
9,212,170,000 70 « M1 4 3 48 4 69 3 1
9,015,170,000 7. i it v 4 R s 13,3470
Z AR 6 5 9 B AR A 47675,799,850
RN B 9] A 4 R ZARAR B A AT dlk
B R A % 49 58 15 197,000,000 7 7 v 51
ST E

AN AR
Report 2008

37.

38.

SHARES HELD FOR RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME
On 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”), a Restricted Share Award Scheme (the
“Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant to the rules of the

Scheme, the Company has set up a trust, BOCI — Prudential Trustee Limited, for the

purpose of administering the Scheme and holding the shares. Under the Scheme, a
total of 19,900,000 issued shares amounting to HK$162,242,000 were purchased by

the Trustee from market and no shares reward have been granted to employees or

any other eligible participants up to the year end.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2008

()

Acquisition of Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”)

On 16 July 2008, the Company acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of Smooth Day for a total consideration of HK$9,212,170,000 from
Gain Ahead Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH. Smooth Day
Group Limited is an investment holding company and its principal assets are
its indirect interests in (i) the property development sites which comprise
of the Beijing Mentougou Site, the Beijing Daxing Site, the Wuhan Site, the
Chongqing Site, the Shenyang Dingxianghu Site and the Dalian Xinghaiwan
Site located in the Mainland Chinese (the “Property Group”); and (ii) the
furniture manufacturing and sale business in the Mainland Chinese (the

“Furniture Group”).

The consideration for the acquisition of Smooth Day Group of
HK$9,212,170,000 was satisfied as to HK$9,015,170,000 by the allotment
and issue of 675,799,850 Consideration Shares at the issue price of HK$13.34
each which were allotted, issued and credited as fully paid up the acquisition
of the Property Group and the remaining HK$197,000,000 by cash for the

acquisition of the Furniture Business.
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38. KB B ANE] (4%) 38.

BEZRENF+_AZ+—HILFE

(i) JE I B E B B AT RN S (#9008 ) ( ‘“g’
B K A
WA EMLSN EER T FE AT
B 69 40 A b 0 MO £ m A
N e By R o

L b AT A E e T

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

()

Acquisition of Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”) (continued)
Acquisition of the Property Group

Since the main tangible asset of the Property Group is property development
sites in the PRC, the acquisition of the Property Group has been accounted

for as the acquisition of assets.

The net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows:

BT T
HKS$ 000

PR RS A Net assets acquired:
W~ B R Property, plant and equipment 31,223
FasTALE 258 (M 3za) Prepaid lease payments (Note a) 473,180
WA (Hiza) Inventory of properties (Note a) 3,629,526
JE R B B R 4 JE N BR SR Trade receivables, other receivables and 5,385,225

e A e deposits paid
JENCR 4 T B 2 8] 3R Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 294
R RARATE S Cash and bank balances 321,703
JEAT R A B It AT PR R Trade and other payables (27,222)
JEAT ) 4 W B o 8] 20R Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (100,665)
JEAT T B 8] Y B R 3R Amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary (308,912)
BT MCH A E 1R Net assets acquired 9,404,352
VWA RAE S Minority interests (389,182)

9,015,170

HWARAR T 7] 77 X FZ AT ¢ Total consideration satisfied by:

& AT By (T 3xb) Shares issued (Note b) 9,015,170
WP AR A NS4 Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:

BT 32 R ARAT 4 Cash and bank balances acquired 321,703

M - Notes:
(a) KAE B ARS8 2 AT nh bk Fa A AR (a) The total fair value of the above-mentioned prepaid lease payments and inventory

THOR A E A H N TR 7 AR
IR AP AL AT R 4] ( ﬁ&%@ﬂ%@
B A A R R AL ) 0 £ 48
BAEIA X H A o &%%&&rm
NE A A A R SR
MEFREHEZ LR o MBS
BAE R MM ELRH BT HER
i e %\ii&"ﬁ'm\%ﬂﬁ}i&#ﬁmﬁjﬁ
093\ A BT FAATAL T BOA A
WEFRE o

(b) AN B) He BAT AR OB 1334 T BT
675,799,850 & 4 i% 1 48 % H 0.1 49 5
B AR B IR R 6 ARAR o

of properties acquired at acquisition date have been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out by CB Richard Ellis Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group after certain adjustments
for the transaction. CB Richard Ellis Limited has appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties. The total fair value of each site is then allocated to the
prepaid lease payments and inventory of properties based on the gross floor areas
of the respective portion of each site.

(b) As the consideration for the acquisition of Smooth Day Group, 675,799,850
ordinary shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.1 each and issue price of
HK$13.34 each were issued.

ZRENFER
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38, MEETH B AE) (4
MEZBRBENS+T A =+ —B L5 E(4)
(i) TR RNE ([F0F ) (#)
B R A E
ZOMCREAE R MO B N BR o 3R MO T AR
A3 A 37,036,000T ©

S Jy o FOMC 89 5 SR P AR T e
T

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)
(i) Acquisition of Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”) (continued)
Acquisition of the Furniture Group
This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. The

amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was HK$37,036,000.

The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as

follows:
AN PRAT A S
BT M 77 X AR B 1R (PH 3ta)
Acquiree’s Fair value
carrying amount adjustments A
before combination (Note a) Fair value

BT BT BT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
PR & & $8 ¢ Net assets acquired:
M B RRAR Property, plant and equipment 14,181 = 14,181
FAAHAL G 228 Prepaid lease payments 27,125 36,198 63,323
HA 5 Other inventories 47,428 = 47,428
JE N B B R A JE K B TR Trade and other receivables 86,683 = 86,683
A BARAT 8 Cash and bank balances 27,727 = 27,727
JEAT BRE A b JE AT BE IR Trade and other payables (58,882) = (58,882)
JEAT R 4 T B o8] #om Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (9,980) = (9,980)
JEATHLIA Taxation payable (1,466) = (1,466)
i IEFLIR A Deferred taxation liabilities - (9,050) (9,050)
132,816 27,148 159,964
Mgk E AR R (H3216) Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 16) 37,036
197,000
HARARR T 5] 7 X E AT - Total consideration satisfied by:
e AT A KR Cash consideration paid 197,000
DR A A I o Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
eAT A ARAR Cash consideration paid (197,000)
BT M B 30 RARAT 45 5 Cash and bank balances acquired 27,727
(169,273)
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R d - 0 PACIRE
;fxlj_,‘/\/\/\—?’}" )‘] +— B2k FE (4))

(i)

(ii)

WIS B AR5 ([0 ) (#)

O R A FH (4R)

BOKCHE B E &S B o) TR eI
R B A A R 5,063,000 T ©

TERE KRB EAMTARIEEAGE
Ry E -~ RABERRE EREFARY
W Bl BHE o

M3E

(a) AR B A B BT MO b TR AT AL
T AR G AL TR TS AR R R4
ARG (RAEREMEGH LT
MR EAEALE) A o IR AR
ALAT TR G A Al A A 0 AL
FREAAMBERASEI LR M
LA F R M EZL R HEAT
E s Sk A

IR Rk EMERG AN
o RAEHBRE_RREANS T+ A
=+ — B b Z B A R S AR
123,200,000 © K EZEEANEF =
24— Bk 2 A A B
23,955,000T + B st A MR E M E R
Z A -

K% Bridge Win Investments Limited

([ Bridge Win_J)
—EENF+—AZ+AB - And
VA X AR # % 17T B Central Investments
Limited (28 :# & B 2 2 %W B2 8] ) K
Bridge Win43f & 447 iZ A& ° Bridge Win
AR AERNG  LEIRFEAMBR
# Beijing American Club Co., Ltd. 2 80%
FEAE » M Beijing American Club Co., Ltd.
W EH I REE - B4 B B
Fx o

%O B R N TR o
”Ei?%a%’*‘kﬁl 0007T °

M Z AT de

38.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

()

(i)

Acquisition of Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”) (continued)
Acquisition of the Furniture Group (continued)

The post-acquisition result of the Furniture Group accounted for a profit of
HK$5,063,000 between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date.

In the opinion of the directors, the goodwill arising from the acquisition
represents the synergy in areas such as resources sharing, cost control and

quality assurance of its projects.

Note:

(a) The total fair value of the above-mentioned prepaid lease payments acquired at
acquisition date have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by CB
Richard Ellis Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. CB Richard Ellis Limited has appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices

for similar properties.

Purstuant to the sale and purchase agreement, CRH has provided
guarantee to the Company that the net profit after taxation of the
Furniture Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 will not be
less than HK$23,200,000 on a dollar-to-dollar basis. The profit after
taxation of the Furniture Group is HK$23,955,000 for the year ended

31 December 2008, and no compensation is receivable from CRH.

Acquisition of Bridge Win Investments Limited (“Bridge Win”)

On 28 November 2008, the Company acquired 100% of the entire issued
share capital of Bridge Win for a consideration of HK$1 from Central New
Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH. Bridge Win is an
investment holding company and its principal asset is its indirect 80% equity
interests in Beijing American Club Co., Ltd., which is currently inactive and

its principal activity in the future will run the business of entertainment.

This acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. The

amount of discount arising as a result of acquisition was HK$61,000.
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38. KB B ANE] (4%) 38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEZERNF+ A =+ —81L5FF (%) For the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)
(i1) J A% Bridge Win Investments Limited (ii) Acquisition of Bridge Win Investments Limited (“Bridge Win”) (continued)
([Bridge Win/) (#%)
L5 P AT 64 A E AR RO R AT de e The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the discount on acquisition
T arising, are as follows:

B BRAT
B MO 7 2
e g B T 4R
Acquiree’s
carrying amounts
and fair value

before combination

BT
HK$ 000
BB EE A Net assets acquired:
W~ R Property, plant and equipment 373
A Other inventories 275
& B 2 R A JE K B R Trade and other receivables 1,445
R RABATE S Cash and bank balances 359
JEAT B 2 B Ho A JE AT B R Trade and other payables (2,391)
61
FHON AR (3 G OB AL 3 Discount on acquisition credited to capital reserve (61)
WO PTB A RNIF 3 Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:
B W 308 R SRAT 4 7 Cash and bank balances acquired 359
Bridge Win# M i B B4 £ 45 5 B 698 14 £ 48 The post-acquisition result of the Bridge Win accounted for a loss of HK$357,000
2 AR #1357,000 T © between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date.
fibol i #1018 69 R ¥ # & Bridge Win#h — & & If the acquisition of the Furniture Group of Smooth Day and Bridge Win had been
NF—H—B 7 M2 £ BERE R completed on 1 January 2008, total group revenue for the period would have been
2 #159,312,060,000 7T+ 0 < B A B R A HK$9,312,060,000, and profit for the year would have been by HK$2,080,320,000.
#2,080,320,000T © 4 % A A E 3L - K The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
B TRIMBEARRENF—A —B TRZ an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would
AEREFBREEERES  TEALESTE have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2008, nor is it
A o intended to be a projection of future results.
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38.

S T B 2 3]

ﬁf’**k#+Aﬂﬁ+ AL A

(i)

—EEkS5LA=+8 AFEAR
4 RAR 3 1170,000,000 T B A 4R 3L
2> &) O B Toprun Investments Limited
(['Toprun]) &3 & # A7 K o 3% 78I
B VAR B N Bk o Toprun & - I B A
A TR ERRAATRERERGAERE
EH o aflﬁﬂiﬂﬁﬁfr“’ﬁﬂ/f}«?ﬁﬁy %*‘*
50,423,000 T ° X % “F BT M 09 A

1R FTAF T Bdm T

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2007

(i)

On 30 July 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of
Toprun Investments Limited (“Toprun”) from its immediate holding company
for a cash consideration of HK$170,000,000. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. The major activities of Toprun and
its subsidiaries are the decoration and construction business in Hong Kong
and the PRC. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of this acquisition
was HK$50,423,000. The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the
goodwill arising, are as follows:

AN BRAT
B MO 7 2
AR E A BT AE
Acquiree’s
carrying amounts
and fair value
before combination

POV & 4

W~ BB R

ik 2EFLIE K E

Y

JEMC AR AR ~ b OB RRR
B At Fe

JENRE P ¥ TAZ A

FAAHLE

P RAAT T

JEAT AR A B I AT PR TR

JEAT B P A TAZ A

JEAT B i 2 3 2k 7R

SRATRER

P MC B 7 i AE
B P43 T

VAT 7 77 X FAT
RERR

VB P AR 34 (R ) RN 13 48
AAKAE
PR 38,8 RARAT 45 1

g«&

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred taxation asset
Other inventories
Trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits paid
Amounts due from customers for contract works
Tax prepaid
Cash and bank balances
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to customers for contract works
Amounts due to related companies
Bank borrowings

Net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration

Net cash (outflow) inflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration
Cash and bank balances acquired

BEF L
HK$ 000

5,278
1,280
43
152,884

74,881
86
83,260
(122,905)
(36,822)
(408)
(38,000)

119,577
50,423

170,000
170,000
(170,000)

83,260

(86,740)
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Ao IR AL T AAIEER A
By )?U&#L BE B RE AR
W B B NE o

%%%%’Eik% A—RE&

R & S-SR &N R
3530000007@ i SRR A R K e

119,000,000 7T © # F A FEMEF A
*%ﬁ@fﬁg%%%»ggk%*
H—a%ﬁzﬁ%@%%%%a&%

CaR3E R R EHTRR o KRB AT
m&aaa%%BMﬂﬁﬁz SRR
i A o R A k% 361,000,000 T & &
14,000,000 7. ©

—RERELFHAATR 0 KEBABK
1B AR 462,859,000 T & B K46 B
% SEARANE ([EE RG] aHRe
BATRA « ERRIGER AT HEER
$%%%@ Bt ZAXHENKSL
M o

38.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

In the opinion of the directors, the goodwill arising from the acquisition
represents the synergy in areas such as resources sharing, cost control and
quality assurance of its projects.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2007, total consolidated
revenue for the year would have been increased by HK$353 million, and profit
for the year would have been HK$19 million. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of turnover
and results of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2007, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results. The turnover and profit contributed by the
subsidiaries acquired to the Group from the acquisition date was HK$361
million and HK$14 million respectively.

On 19 September 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital
of T K6 H EHEAMASE (“E X 46”) for a total consideration of
RMB462,859,000. The major activity of % &
Chongging, PRC, and accordingly, the transaction has been accounted for as

» X 4% is property development in

the acquisition of assets.

B aY
HKS$ 000
Pl B FE A Net assets acquired:
W~ B R AR Property, plant and equipment 698
H s Other inventories 58
B F L4k R HE G i B FOR Progress payments for the purchase of land use rights 714,805
A RARAT &5 Cash and bank balances 2,877
JEAT AR 2% B Ho A AT R IR Trade and other payables (243,128)
PR A E 4 Net assets acquired 475,310
AT 9 7 R XA : Satisfied by:
RAe KR Cash consideration 321,275
U 1ERAR (GEAEAT BR A Deferred consideration (included in trade
H b EATBRR) and other payables) 154,035
475,310
MR A (Rl ) RN IF4 Net cash (outflow) inflow arising on acquisition:
AT RAR Cash consideration paid (321,275)
P 30 RARAT 4 Cash and bank balances acquired 2,877
(318,398)

ZRBENF AR
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38.

WCRE T B 3] (41
MEZRRLHE+ A =+ — B RFE(4])

—RRLF+ A =+ANB - KER@E
B %) 7 B R AT A 2£269,090,909 A%
ARG Gy 0 B AR IR B MO

0 23R AT R o AR R LB N F)
FREPEMRMN  RHRKEREHE
B B HIARHEANRE T EK
B o

A TR N 8] AR AR A R )
HAERAEM(KR) 53 E R RN
(TEM Rk Doy 23tEsn - MRt b
AP B MR OR A B A A E
([4rAH/ALL] - mERLRREE
Foo RGN W EBA T A E AHIATHE
P K ik 6y 4y F R AL o

AR B — R 2 AW B A 5 Vikwood
Investments Limited ¥ 4 4 A 3 M 47
KU E (B ) A7 Fess 3] ([ 3 M AT 1)
#960% #E 35 o E M AN AP B AR
P ey srmASE “?%%%&
EH oo ANE) 6y LR HE BT
B Pe3b At 6 4 S AR o

WA B — K2 H W E A3 Complete
Power Holdings Limited M 4% 4 A % ¥
Aob A b E (B8) ARAE ([EHE
45 1) #960%HE 5 o FM & AHATEN
WA ZSHBEALE  KFHE
BIEER c AN IRHTAE A
b B e E R o

38.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

(iif)

On 28 December 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of Speedy Gain from its immediate holding company by issuing a
total of 269,090,909 shares of the Company to be allotted and issued to the
vendor. The major activities of Speedy Gain and its subsidiaries are property
development and investment in Hangzhou, Wuxi and Dalian, PRC, and
accordingly, the transaction has been accounted for as the acquisition of

assets.

A wholly owned subsidiary of Speedy Gain, Fortune Achieve Investments
Limited, holds 100% direct interest in China Resources (Dalian) Real Estate
Co., Ltd (“CR Dalian”). CR Dalian is a wholly owned foreign enterprise
(“WOFE”) incorporated in the Chinese Mainland and engaged in the property
development activities. The main tangible asset of the Company is a property

development site in Dalian, the Chinese Mainland.

Another wholly owned subsidiary of Speedy Gain, Vikwood Investments
Limited, holds 60% indirect interest in China Resources Sun Hung Kai
Properties (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd (“CR Hangzhou”). CR Hangzhou is a
WOFE incorporated in the Chinese Mainland and engaged in the property
development activities. The main tangible asset of the Company is a property

development site in Hangzhou, the Chinese Mainland.

Another wholly owned subsidiary of Speedy Gain, Complete Power Holdings
Limited, holds 60% indirect interest in China Resources Sun Hung Kai
Properties (Wuxi) Limited (“CR Wuxi”). CR Wuxi is a WOFE incorporated in
the Chinese Mainland and engaged in the property development activities.
The main tangible asset of the Company is a property development site in
Wusxi, the Chinese Mainland.
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38, N EET B AE (4) 38.  ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
RE_REBELE+ R =+ —8 L5 (4) For the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)
(iii)  (#%) (iii)  (continued)
AR
Fair value
BT
HK$ 000
(,2E&39))
(restated)
P B EE A Net assets acquired:
W~ R R AR (T 32a) Property, plant and equipment (Note a) 106,663
FaAHARLE 28 (W 32a) Prepaid lease payments (Note a) 2,362,950
W A5 (H3za) Inventory of properties (Note a) 4,680,580
JENC B~ Fo A BN AR OR A Trade receivables, other receivables and
EAT A deposits paid 8,260
R RABATE S Cash and bank balances 384,579
JEAT R AR A JE AT BRI Trade and other payables (71,622)
CRTRE N Eh e Deposits received from pre-sales of properties (475,432)
JEAT Y B R AR Amount due to a minority shareholder (503,084)
JEAT M i o 3] 3R Amounts due to related companies (100,148)
AT S R Bank borrowings (240,467)
PR B i AE Net assets acquired 6,152,279
b B A S Minority interest (1,623,479)
B I A E R Net assets acquired 4,528,800
VAT 9 77 K XA : Satisfied by:
e AT By (T 3Ec) Shares issued (Note c) 4,528,800
WP AF R RN T8 ¢ Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:
BT B 32 R ARAT 4 15 Cash and bank balances acquired 384,579

ZRENF
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MO B B 3 (

HE-R

(i) (#%)

£rft= ﬂ +— B (4

L

(a)

AEBERER &R HE (0
M BB AR TAAALE BOE
T 3 AR B PTOROIE 8Y 2 £ A
40T AR 75 AR AR R AL AL AT RN 8
(BAEREMEOBIOTREES
BB ) A 3% B 89 F A K X A AE BRI R B
FAE o WA ALI AL IR 8] A Al
FH o R A M B R H
L2t o HMELA LA H RN
EXRHBATHERMA o %im
TR A% A M AR e
?MT%&QH@%%%?%%‘ﬁ
AT HARDELY o

Fy o REB LT RGFER M ZRR
R R MO M A AT R E)
([ ) 236 B HE T AT A 2 A 8y
W o WA A R SRR
NIRRT B AR o

TR LA L KNS EEAE L
FEHos AL ATHE B
EATAY R RMB G4 R
(5 4 A 38 A 1 2,038,000,000 T~ i
# 144,000,000 7T % # ¥ 294,000,000
o it M EEER (GEASE - B
LR AR R Ry L RN W
1,888,000,000 T 4 & A E & £ 4
leEHFEMBEET -

AN 8] & H47269,090,909 B B @& {A
0.0 0GB N - AR B AR e
AR (H3£35) o A 3] FHROH A E 69
PTAA TS SN B e R Ja £
GRHERE o

EZ2ERALERS

ENe) PNGYPAEIES POV 4

HEAT A F]

FEAY o B2 S p 3 BAN T 2238 o

AR A

Ak Bk ¥ B R AT A8 & AT IE sk 5 AR o

BATHAMEZMTER
BRABIREFER - TFRA

REBRA M EBHEZ
L AR A

BLATFHEREX o

38.

39.

40.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

(iif)

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

The total fair value of the Group’s properties under development for investment
purpose (included in property, plant and equipment), prepaid lease payments
and inventory of properties acquired at acquisition date have been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by CB Richard Ellis Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group after
certain adjustments for the transaction. CB Richard Ellis Limited has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations. The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence
of transaction prices for similar properties. The total fair value of each site is then
allocated to the properties under development for investments purpose, prepaid
lease payments and inventory of properties based on the gross floor areas of the

respective portion of each site.

During the year, the Group has completed an exercise of assessing the
appropriate classification of the assets and liabilities acquired in respect of the
acquisition of 100% equity interest of Speedy Gain Investments Limited (“Speedy
Gain”) in December 2007. The acquisition of Speedy Gain was accounted for as

the acquisition of assets in last year’s financial statements.

Upon the completion of the above review, the directors of the Company made
certain reclassification entries which increased the initial carrying amounts
of prepaid lease payments, inventory of properties and minority interests by
HK$2,038 million, HK$144 million and HK$294 million, respectively and
decreased the initial carrying amount of the construction in progress (included
in property, plant and equipment) by HK$1,888 million. The comparative figures
in the consolidated balance sheet have been restated accordingly.

As the consideration for the acquisition of Speedy Gain, 269,090,909 ordinary
shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.1 each were issued (note 35). The
fair value of the assets acquired by the Company, determined with reference to
the market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties at the date of the

acquisition.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Part of the considerations for the purchases of subsidiaries that occurred during the

year comprised issuance of shares of the Company. Further details of the acquisition

are set out in note 38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the purchasers of

the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the delivery

of the properties to the purchasers or completion of the relevant mortgage properties

registration. In the opinion of directors, the fair value of the financial guarantee

contracts is not significant.

—REBENFEF
Annual Report 2008

141



Fe M AR AR GE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41, AJE 41. COMMITMENTS
BT FUT T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
AN EEIRAMELERZ Capital and development expenditure in respect of the
EABASER L acquisition of construction in progress and inventory
of properties:
B3T 49 M R A4 A0 5 SR R A Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 1,625,653 887,856
A KR £ 24k A A 2 R A Other commitment in respect of the acquisition of
land use rights 4,975,680 6,450,221
42. BEMYGRIE 42.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
R B R A RALA The Group as lessee
ARFENES IR MAETHE AR Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year in respect of
TRALA 2% # 19,097,000 (= B R L F @ il office premises was HK$9,097,000 (2007: HK$3,965,000).
3,965,000T) °
AR BA G B AR T AR T T sk At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease
BEMYZRFRAKMEARE 4T payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:
BT HUEF T
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
—F N Within one year 12,751 6,926
F_EF A (G RWE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 18,962 9,134
B ¥ 3 Over five years 2,681 3,519
34,394 19,579
BEMAISKERRLLETHATYEEATZ Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its
A o AP Wi —FE R EHHE 0 ALTH office premises. Leases are negotiated mainly for an average term of one year to five
HRERER o years and rentals are fixed for an average of two years.

142 ZRENFESR
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42, BEMLAKIE (4 42.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT (continued)
KNE B A HAA The Group as lessor
AR B IR Z M AL N 2 R 15811,683,000 Property rental income earned during the year was HK$811,683,000 (2007:
ANZBRERLF 0 #HUT738,957,000T) o Bk 4 HK$738,957,000). Included above, there was contingent rental income of
B L FE AR AL MR 76,389,000 T (=R &R HK$76,389,000 (2007: HK$64,511,000). The contingent rental for certain properties
LR BE64,511,000T) o T EZ R A was determined by a certain percentage of turnover. The properties held by the Group
LB YR LT ENLER c REBRFIEME for rental purpose have committed tenants for periods which ranged from one to
(%%&ﬁﬂéﬂiu%*ik#(ﬁ%o seven years.
AEBDALEFE D CRMBEIT AT R RRIA At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following
Az ARy future minimum lease payments:
| 2008 2007
BT BT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
— %R Within one year 500,858 507,508
H_EFBE(LIEGEWE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 514,941 698,860
BFIE After five years 999,464 347,270
2,015,263 1,553,638
43. F AWK 43. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
AED  AERCEMITIRITATAEE » 1F At the balance sheet date, the Group had pledged the following assets to banks as
Py KSR B AT — R ARAT BRI o securities against general banking facilities granted to the Group:
| 200 2007
BT BT
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
HAHEME Investment properties 8,208,013 6,509,308
FaAT AL E #ooA Prepaid lease payments 439,196 =
Wk~ B R A Property, plant and equipment 308,443 =
WEGE Inventory of properties 2,400,921 =
11,356,573 6,509,308
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44. BARAR AR

(a)

F#
EX T PN S E VS ES T LIPS T
ﬁ%(@ﬁéﬁ%loﬁﬁé#%%ﬁ
3386 A A 3 B 9T 89 R A

HETE o AR BM AT IR RIR
Y& B /AR B 3 25% A - £ A B

[ 245 4 48 B 3 41,000T o A543t 3]
FENEBERALH X REENE A
SRR o

F o AEEATEER LG 46
BRI M o A8 g A R R EAR
PR3 AL A BT ST R R & SR o 24

B e T

44.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

(a)

Hong Kong

The Group participate in a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. MPF scheme is a defined
contribution scheme in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’ salaries, up to a
maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per month. The assets of MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the group companies in an independently

administered fund.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to the scheme
in Hong Kong and charged to the consolidated income statement represent
contributions payable to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in the

rules of the scheme are as follows:

BT BT
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
EAEE R A GEABBE R Amount contributed and charged to the
E ] consolidated income statement 1,058 909
(b) k= ReEA (b) Chinese Mainland

AKEBAFENMZARER AHTENLE
Ho 77 BORE 488 0 B R 22 AR 4R A 53
ZHRE c AEBABRFETHFLEREAT H
et B AE AR R X A A o
AEB#EZFHIN 2 E—FELIE LI
RAEFR o

BB Rk LA B 2Rl g
&4

GOIB R R Z A AT

3

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective local
government in the Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the

specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
above-mentioned schemes in the Chinese Mainland during each of the years

are as follows:

BT BT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
CAEE R A SABR RIothZ Amount contributed and charged to the
ke consolidated income statement 41,239 23,392
ZRENFESR
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45.
(a)

Mk AE+x%H

HE AW BNE RN

VAT % kB B A K L3 RN 8] AR
AW BN EBITZERMEATR S
K

45.
(a)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries/holding companies
The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions

entered into by the Group with its holding company and fellow subsidiaries

during the year:
&R A S E R A
Rental and Construction

management fees received cost received

s N N N

M (ER)ARAE China Resources (Holdings)
Limited

EMEER NG China Resources Construction
Corporation

T D IR RN China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited

M 45 4k (£ ) A fR 23 China Resources Textiles
Holdings Limited

b e A ) A China Resources Vanguard

R AR ARAE B

M B A R )

Company Limited
Shenzhen Kapok Hotel

China Resources Breweries
Limited

REN R BT BHETL BT
Relationship HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RN 8]

Holding company 10,665 3,449 - -
EIENGY PN

Fellow subsidiary - - - 172,237
I % W B 28]

Fellow Subsidiary 4,420 3,895 - -
Fl % W B 2 8]

Fellow Subsidiary 3,970 3,391 - -
Fl % W B 2 8]

Fellow Subsidiary 7,246 6,709 - -
Fl % W B

Fellow Subsidiary 6,106 5,606 - -
Fl % W B 2 8]

Fellow Subsidiary 3,078 3,522 - -

BEZBEENF+_A=+—HLHF
B R AR B 5 R VA A AT B BT Ay
1 ARAE 8 R %W B A8 Gain Ahead
Group Limited¥c ik % R B 238 o A%
BB 3 S ok ok R R A AR
*lm%k?‘ﬁﬁ‘fF‘%%&k
it g b AR (JLW3238) -

BEZBRRLF+_A=+—HLHF
o AR 5 R ok 3L A AT B BT R Ay
PEBRAR - B ABIERA S FHEBIK
SRR NG o KEBEZFREM
Wk E ARG BT BN
A MMAKRE SR ERZIHERS
(JLH3238) °

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group has acquired certain
subsidiaries from its fellow subsidiary, Gain Ahead Group Limited, through
cash payments and issue of shares respectively as consideration. As a result of
the acquisitions, the Group has acquired the Furniture Group and obtained
the property interest of pieces of land in Beijing, Wuhan, Chongqing,
Shenyang and Dalian, the Chinese Mainland (see note 38).

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group has acquired certain
subsidiaries from its immediate holding company, CRH, through cash
payments and issue of shares respectively as consideration. As a result of
the acquisitions, the Group has acquired the construction and decoration
business and obtained the property interest of pieces of land in Wuxi,

Hangzhou and Dalin, the Chinese Mainland (see note 38).
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45. M AER G )

(b)

FREMAR XA
ANG EEAEMEZEEABAEN
Z e T

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key

management during the year was as follows:

BT FUT T
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
42 B4k B 43 A Short-term employee benefits 6,120 7,150
T 1% 43 A Post-employment benefits 294 335
JE A At 2 Share-based payment 341 835
6,755 8,320
ANEFTER I RATHABZHB g The remuneration of directors of the Company and key executives
FrE A B A ae £ BB R R LR T A 3 is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the
BB o performance of individuals and market trends.

s P B R EN RIS
i\’f B A P BB AL R R SR
I ER (TR RIERTE) A 8026
%%ﬂﬁT@@okﬁvﬁ%@ﬁ%w
2P B B BT A2 ) 2P B R M T — 18
BRAREBR NG Z—35

X () BT A& oh 0 AR R Sl
BRIz H B AEATER - éw%)ﬁi‘i &
BEEGEHRI D% EFE
FEHNERAEB LS =T

(i) AEBEA B wEHBETRET
BB R AR X ARAT R A R
%ﬂi FRYH o OREEGHAB

AR AR AT H Al — AR R AT Bk
ﬁoﬁ%%#ﬁﬁz%zﬁg’
ANEEFRLELBIWE L
-

(i) AEBREEPALEHETEF
XHh o MEFRAHREIHTZ
S BRERXH AT
Bl RAZBF R AT R T 4T o
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Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities in the Chinese
Mainland

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated
by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government
(“state-controlled entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger

group of companies under CRNC which is controlled by the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosure in (a) above, the Group also conducts business with
other state-controlled entities. The directors consider those state-controlled
entities are independent third parties so far as the Group’s business

transactions with them are concerned.

(i) The Group has entered into various transactions, including certain
deposits placements, borrowings and other general banking facilities,
with certain banks and financial institutions which are stated-
controlled entities in its ordinary course of business. In view of the
nature of those banking transactions, the directors of the Company

are of the opinion that separate disclosure would not be meaningful.

(i) The Group has sales and purchases transactions with customers and
suppliers, in which the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity of the counterparties
and accordingly whether the transactions are with other state-

controlled entities.
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46. B >3] S BN 5
() AXAEZEWMENAAZERANFAZ
RRHF+ A=+ —BZHHRI Ao

T
ERITRAS
EMAAL@HE
Nominal value
of issued
T B 2 3] % AR share capital/

Name of subsidiary registered capital

BEREARANS ([RERE] 76,000 % T

Strong Foundation Developments Limited US$76,000
(“Strong Foundation”)

Boom Go Group Limited (“Boom Go”) 11£7%

US$11

Best Hope Group Limited (“Best Hope”) 1574

US$1

Big Leap Group Limited (“Big Leap”) 1574

US$1

Direct Win Group Limited (“Direct Win”) 1574

US$1

Bright Choice Group Limited 1574

(“Bright Choice”) US$1

King Role Limited (“King Role”) 3£

US$3

Cosmart Resources Limited (“Cosmart”) EY

US$2

Kennex Enterprises Limited (“Kennex”) 1574

US$1

Charmlink Enterprises Limited (“Charmlink”) 157

US$1

46.

(a)

PN

Company

100%

100%

100%

HTFANDBEZ
EEATHRA S

- 100% -

- 100% -
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%

- 100% -
100% = 100%
100% = 100%
100% = 100%

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

and 2007 are set out as follows:

EF A AL @AY
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
T B 2 8]

Subsidiaries

| 0% 2007

KNG WA

Company

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008

EREH

Principal activities

BAER

Investment holding

BH R

Investment holding

BH IR

Investment holding

BH R

Investment holding

BH R

Investment holding

BRAR

Investment holding

BH IR

Investment holding

BH IR

Investment holding

BH IR

Investment holding

BH IR

Investment holding
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46. W3] SN E] (51) 46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
BTRA W AR HA L
aMEAZEE CRFTRES
Nominal value EME R @A LH
of issued Proportion of nominal
B 8] 4 4R share capital/ value of issued share capital/ EE2EH
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities
A T By p NN T B 2 8)
Company  Subsidiaries Company  Subsidiaries
Megapower Resources Limited (“Megapower”) 1£7 - 100% = 100% ELS il
US$1 Investment holding
Db M K LA FRA 8] (M 32d) 12,000,000 % T - 100% = 100% UET 4§
Beijing China Resources Building Company US$12,000,000 Properties investment
Limited (note d)
Jew E M A R (H:2d) 370,000 % - 100% - 100% hEER
Beijing China Resources Property Management US$370,000 Property management
Company Limited (note d)
EMEROET) BAA A AR - 96.07% - 95.62% BAERAE B
(M 22a) 1,300,000,000T Investment holding and
China Resources Land (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (note a) RMB1,300,000,000 property development
EMERET)HEF R AR - 96.07% - 95.62% MEEE
AR FAEAE) (B 32b) 5,000,000 Property management
China Resources Land (Beijing) Property RMBS5,000,000
Management Co., Ltd. (note b)
k?iﬂ?ﬁ%%éﬁ% AR - 96.07% = 95.62% WEER
NSy ) (M 3£b) 264,329,3607T Property development
Beijing China Resources Jingtong Property RMB264,329,360
Development Company Limited (note b)
bR EME LGN E R AR - 96.07% - 95.62% WEER
A IR F AR 3] (W 32b) 180,000,0007T Property development
Beijing China Resources Shuguang Real Estate RMB180,000,000
Development Co., Ltd. (note b)
3o F B AL £ A RN 3] (W 32b) 10,000,000 % 7T - 96.07% - 95.62% WEER
Beijing China Resources Jian Xiang Real Estate US$10,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (note b)
R ERE BRMA RFIEN S (B 2b) AR - 96.07% - 95.62% TRIAE
Beijing Huazhao Electrical 2,000,000T Electrical engineering
Equipment Co., Ltd. (note b) RMB2,000,000
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46. TR >3] S B F] ()

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

JbE 3 B b E 4 s A TR 8] (T 32D)
Beijing China Resources Property Agent
Co., Ltd. (note b)

LRERHAEE
A IR F AR 2] (W 32Db)

Beijing China Resources Xin Zhen Property
Co., Ltd. (note b)

B R A A S
A IR 8] (I zEc)

Beijing Zhongchengxin Property Development
Co., Ltd. (note c)

£ (B A A8 (M 32d)
China Resources Shanghai Company
Limited (note d)

FME(EHR)ARASE (H32d)
China Resources Land (Shanghai)
Limited (note d)

Strong Foundation Land
(Shanghai) Limited (# z£b) (note b)

China Resources Land (Shanghai)
Management Co., Ltd. (# 3d) (note d)

MR A R E) (H32d)
China Resources (Shenzhen) Company
Limited (note d)

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

AR
500,0007T
RMB500,000

AR
1,000,000,000T
RMBI,000,000,000

AR
28,000,000T
RMB28,000,000

40,000,000 % T
US$40,000,000

21,000,000%
US$21,000,000

AR
900,000,0007T
RMB900,000,000

150,000% 7L
US$150,000

#15400,000,0007T
HK$400,000,000

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

PN

Company

HFAADBEZ
ERATRAS
BRI LR |

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by

Y N PN

Subsidiaries

Company

96.07% -

96.07% -

76.86% -

100% -

100% -

99.8% -

100% -

100% -

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

95.62%

95.62%

76.507%

100%

100%

99.8%

100%

100%

EREH

Principal activities

hERE
Property agency

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERE

Properties investment

hERR

Property development

hEFE

Property management

hEFE

Property management

hERE

Properties investment
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46. BN E) LI BN E) (4

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

Y E ML T A RAE (Wzd)
Shenzhen China Resources Property
Management Company Limited (note d)

EME b (RAR) B RAT [N 2)
(TR AR AR ) (T 32d)

£ E b (BAR) B EA RAE

(TR ARE % 1) (F22d)
EME b ORAR) A R3] (M 32d)
China Resources Land( Chengdu) Limited

(note d)

China Resources Land (Mian Yang) Ltd.

AARE T E b E A RN (W 3Eb)

(note b)

China Resources Land (Wuhan)
Co., Ltd. (" 32d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Wuhan)
Management Co., Ltd. (fz£d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Hefei) Co., Ltd.
(M 32d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Hefei)
Management Co., Ltd. (I 3£d)
(note d)

ZRENF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

AR
5,000,000
RMBS5,000,000

#1£756,000,000 T
HK$756,000,000

64,000,000 % T
US$64,000,000

42,000,000 % T
US$42,000,000

96,000,000% &
US$96,000,000

AR
1,000,0007T
RMBL,000,000

#1562,240,000 7T
HK$62,240,000

500,000%
US$500,000

9,600,000%
US$9,600,000

100,000% 7.
US$100,000

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

HTFFNEHHZ
ERATRE,
EF A AL @AY
Proportion of nominal
EREH

Principal activities

value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
Tht B 2 3) A3

Subsidiaries Company

PN

Company

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

- 100% - 100% MmEFE

Property management
- 100% = 100% WEER

Property development
- 100% = 100% WEER

Property development
- 100% = 100% WEER

Property development
- 100% = - MmEFE

Property management
- 100% - 100% MmEFE

Property management
- 100% = 100% WEER

Property development
- 100% - 100% MmEFE

Property management
- 100% = 100% WEER

Property development
- 100% - 100% MmEFE

Property management
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46. TR >3] S B F] (1)

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

China Resources Land (Ningbo)
Co., Ltd. (" 32d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Hunan)
Co., Ltd. (¥ 32d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Ningbo)
Development Co. Ltd.

M E b GGRM) A R3] (K 32d)
China Resources Land (Suzhou) Ltd. (note d)

China Resources Land (Xiamen)
Ltd. (#32d) (note d)

China Resources Land (Xiamen)
Developments Ltd. (Ff32d) (note d)

F B R A6 A o8 (I 3zb)

(note b)

China Resources Land (Hunan)
Developments Ltd. (F#32d)

(note d)

China Resources Land (Hefei)
Industrial Ltd. (F32d) (note d)

M (Kik) B3 EA RAE) (K 32d)
China Resources (Dalian) Real Estate Co., Ltd.

(note d)

EM (ki) B XA MRS (H2d)
China Resources (Dalian) Realty Co. Ltd.

(note d)

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

#15385,000,000T
HK$385,000,000

#15240,000,000 7T
HK$240,000,000

#4574,000,0007T
HK$74,000,000

50,000,000%
US$50,000,000

#151,454,792,739 ¢
HK$1,454,792,739

#45770,000,000 7T
HK$770,000,000

AK20,000,000 7T
RMB20,000,000

#15700,000,000 7T
HK$700,000,000
#15700,000,000 7T
HK$700,000,000
#1585,000,0007T

HK$85,000,000

#15385,000,0007T
HK$385,000,000

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

PN

Company

Subsidiaries

HFAADBEZ
ERATRAS
BRI LR |

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
Tht B 2 3) A3

Company

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EREH

Principal activities

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development

hERR

Property development
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46. W B NE) SLEE AN (4) 46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
EREIFRAS ERE IR
B EALEE ERITRAS
Nominal value EMEARZ @A
of issued Proportion of nominal
B 8] 4 4R share capital/ value of issued share capital/ T2EH

registered capital held by Principal activities
Ad) TH B 2 8] Aod) T By 2 8]

Company  Subsidiaries Company  Subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary registered capital

152

M A b E (L) #490,000,0007T - 60% - 60% MERRE
A FAE] (F32d) HK$490,000,000 Property development
China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
(Hangzhou) Co. Ltd. (note d)
EMA L W E (£4)) 71,990,000 % 7T - 60% = 60% MERR
I8 (32d) US$71,990,000 Property development
China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
(Wuxi) Limited (note d)
EMA AN ETE (£ 3,000,000 £ 7T - 60% - 60% WERRE
A IR 3] (i 32b) US$3,000,000 Property development
China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
Management (Wuxi) Limited (note b)
AR FA ) ([RA]) ESH 100% - 100% - BH R
Speedy Gain Investments Limited (“Speedy Gain”) US$2 Investment holding
R AA A ([ ]) 1471 - 100% - 100% BH R
Fortune Achieve Investments Limited US$1 Investment holding
(“Fortune Achieve”)
Complete Power Holdings Limited 147 - 100% - 100% FAER
(“Complete Power”) Us$1 Investment holding
MR T3] ([ D) #1500,000,0007T - 60% - 60% ELd il
Brilliant Palace Limited HK$500,000,000 Investment holding
(“Brilliant Palace”)
Vikwood Investment Limited 1274 - 100% = 100% FAER
(“Vikwood”) US$1 Investment holding
ERHAAMRNE ([EFHF]) 100 7T - 60% - 60% B HIER
Wellview Investment Limited (“Wellview”) US$100 Investment holding

ZRBENF AR
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46. TR >3] S B F] (41)

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

Toprun Investments Limited
(“Toprun”)

Upper Able Investments Limited
(“Upper Able”)

Uconia Limited (“Uconia”) (P 3Ze) (note e)

Shanghai Uconia Building Decoration
Co., Ltd. (¥ 32d) (note d)

Beijing Uconia Decoration Engineering
Co., Ltd. (¥ 32d) (note d)

R A% B AR R AR TR 4]
(M5 2£b) (note b)

3 AT IR 3] (W 32D)

China Resources Construction Corporation
(note b)

A 4 B A R E) (T30 ])
Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”)

Grace Truth Holdings Limited
(“Grace Truth”)

TEHAAMAE ([FF )

Richgem Investment Limited (“Richgem”)

F8 (Kik) A RAE (H32a) (notea)

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

ESE
US$2
ESE
US$2

#1£10,000
HK$10,000

2,000,000%
US$2,000,000

2,000,000%
US$2,000,000

AR500,000
RMB500,000

A K 50,000,000 7T
RMB50,000,000
50,000 T

US$50,000

50,000%
US$50,000

#15400,000,0007T
HK$400,000,000

#15570,000,0007T
HK$570,000,000

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

PN

Company

100%

100%

[N IR
ERITRAS
EF A AL @AY
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by

TH B 2 8] Aod)

Subsidiaries Company

- 100%

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

55% -

55% -

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EREH

Principal activities

AR

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

KA IR

Decoration service

KA IR

Decoration service

KA IR

Decoration service

KA IR

Decoration service

%

Construction

B HIER
Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

B HIER
Investment holding

hERR

Property development

ZRENFER
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46.

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

P A B) ST BN B (4

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

HTFFNEHHZ
ERATRE,
EF A AL @AY
Proportion of nominal
EREH

Principal activities

value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
Tht B 2 3) A3

Subsidiaries Company

PN

Company

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

EIEELS ol 2N
Winning Profit Investments Limited

EF (KR ) B RA A
(M 2Za) (note a)

M E 0 OEF) B BRA TR )
(M 22b) (note b)

M E R OER) B EATRAE)
(M 22b) (note b)

EEZRAAFRAG ([ LE])
Upadvance Investments Limited

(“Upadvance”)

M (FB)HRAE (H3za) (note a)

EREEAMRAS ([ER])
Rising Bright Investments Limited
(“Rising Bright”)

FE R (ER) A R E
(M 3za) (note a)

B EN = iR LR A R E
(M 3b) (note b)

Bk A A R3] ([ L )
Merry Crest Investments Limited
(“Merry Crest”)

() FEARAT
(M 3za) (note a)

ZRENF
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50,000 %
US$50,000

#1£990,000,000 T
HK$990,000,000

A K 1,150,000,000 7T
RMBI, 150,000,000

A 1,150,000,000 7T
RMBI, 150,000,000

50,000 % T

US$50,000

A K #350,000,0007T
RMB350,000,000
50,000 % T

US$50,000
#1380,000,000

HK$380,000,000

AR500,000
RMB500,000

50,000 % T

US$50,000

AR500,000
RMB500,000

- 100% = = FA R
Investment holding

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% = = FA R
Investment holding

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% = = FAER
Investment holding

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% - - EER
Property development

- 100% = = FAER
Investment holding

- 100% - - LEL:Y;:3
Property development
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46. BN E) LI BN E) (4

T B 28] 4 4

Name of subsidiary

FERRAA R E ([FH])

Zelin Investments Limited (“Zelin”)

ARELIL FA P8 ([A72L]) (W ze)
Wealthy Growth Investments Limited
(“Wealthy Growth”) (note e)

M A GF17) B ASA TR F)
(M 22d) (note d)

REZAA RN ([RE])
Green Grace Investments Limited

(“Green Grace”)

Ry BARM (B3 ) A TN )
([ By B A7 ]) (P 32e)
Logic Furniture (Hong Kong) Limited

(“Logic Furniture”) (note e)

IR B AT R TR 8]
(M 3Za) (note a)

Bridge Win Investments Limited
(“Bridge Win")

Linfull Investments Limited (“Linfull”)

Beijing American Club Co., Limited
(“Beijing American”)

ERITRAS
EMAALBME
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

50,000 %
US$50,000

#1£10,000
HK$10,000
199,800,000 % 7T
US$199,800,000
50,000 %

US$50,000

#7£10,000
HK$10,000

#1575,000,000 T
HK$75,000,000

50,000 % &

US$50,000

#1£10,000
HK$10,000

4,500,000 % T
US$4,500,000

46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

PN

Company

[N IR
ERITRAS
EF A AL @AY
Proportion of nominal
value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by

TH B 2 8] Aod)

Subsidiaries Company

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

80% -

T B 23]

Subsidiaries

EREH

Principal activities

B HIER
Investment holding

B HIER
Investment holding

hERR

Property development

B HIER
Investment holding

B HIER
Investment holding

BHREERE 5
Furniture manufacturing

and trading

B HIER
Investment holding

B HIER
Investment holding

W5

Entertainment

ZRENFER
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46. TR >3] S B F] (1)

M3z ¢

(a) W 0N 8] 75— RA P B MR X
Ry AT PR E) o

(b) e B 8] 75— AP B N 2
ENALE -

T B 2 8) 75 — FAS T B bR
ﬁ“{t‘i

“?i&

(d) W B 8] 75— AN P B N 2
SPEAEAAE -

(e) WA A BREMR L ERE
H A A A A i o

TABINEFRALEYEREDES
A EZRANG M BHAE] o AndEF
ES-ECE RIE UGV PATIESE S S
Jo g b A~ TR o

& B-% 4% ~ Boom Go - Best Hope * Big
Leap ~ Direct Win ~ Bright Choice * King
Role ~ Cosmart * Kennex > Charmlink *
Megapower ~ it #% - 4% i¥ - Complete
MR ~ Vikwood ~ # F 4% &
Toprun ~ Upper Able ~ #1 J& -~ Grace
Truth » &% > A - L& - B B
M~ Bk~ 3B A Bridge Winsh 38 5 &
S B G R R A B EES 0 LR R
P By o 8] 2 3R 3 A b B P9 R 5 BB
i o

Power ~

Tr B o 8] 3 A B ATAEAT 4 5 o
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46.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subsidiary is a joint stock limited company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

(b) The subsidiary is a domestic wholly owned enterprise established in the Chinese
Mainland.

(c) The subsidiary is an equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.

(d) The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the Chinese
Mainland.

(e) The subsidiary is incorporated and has major operations in Hong Kong.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All the subsidiaries listed above are established and operating in the Chinese
Mainland except for Strong Foundation, Boom Go, Best Hope, Big Leap,
Direct Win, Bright Choice, King Role, Cosmart, Kennex, Charmlink,
Megapower, Speedy Gain, Fortune Achieve, Complete Power, Brilliant Palace,
Vikwood, Wellview, Toprun, Upper Able, Smooth Day, Grace Truth, Richgem,
Winning Profits, Upadvance, Rising Bright, Merry Crest, Zelin, Green Grace
and Bridge Win which are registered in the British Virgin Islands and their

place of operation is in Hong Kong.

No debt securities have been issued by the subsidiaries.
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46. W B ) SLEE BN (4) 46. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
(c) KEBHB BN A ER (c) Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2008 and 2007 are set
LHFEF+ A=+ —BZXEHHIN 4T ¢ out as follows:
ERATRA ES Y|
EMA AL @A HA AR
Nominal value of Attributable
AN E) 4 AR issued share capital/ interest held by EX:S 4

Name of associate

registered capital

the Group Principal activities

B B —

b5 3 K HL A PR 8] (B 32a) 12,920,000 % 7T 48.04% 47.81% MR T B
Beijing Hua Wei Center Co., Ltd. (note a) US$12,920,000 Property investment and
management
Jb 3 3 B R R A T AR A TR E] (T 32b) 350,000% 7T 36.03% 35.86% R E S HAG IR
Beijing Hua Jiade Decoration Engmeenng US$350,000 Provision of exterior
Company Limited (note b) decoration services
32 ¢ Notes:
(a) A NG T — R RN LA (a) The associate is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.
S
(b) The associate is a domestic enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland.

47.

(b) NS T — AT BN XN H A
%o

P 380 3] 3 B P9l R

ARG G2 47.

AR E R AR R B ST AT AR 4R
48 3R B ARALAE B R B KR AR R R
KK o

AEBXERRHEOEEL (QEAMIZNR
FZHATHR) ~ BATEEALRAE AR KRNF
ﬂx$%7ﬁ/\ﬁ“@;#§ﬁ OREGAR AR R
WHEZ CHEATHAR ~ A ARG EA) o

AN FEELNRF AR - B3t £F
F e HROR AR L E AR R M R o AR

BEFZ AR AERME B AARE - BT
%frﬂi R R BOBAT A AR B R = A R
o A ERE E ORI o

JFEARFF— 5 o

All the associates are established and operating in the Chinese Mainland.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through

the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the bank
borrowings disclosed in note 33, bank balances and cash, and equity attributable to
equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained

earnings as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of

existing debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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48. A EgRIT A 48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) 4w iximn (a)  Categories of financial instruments
AER THE GROUP
| 2008 2007
BT HHET L
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
BRREE Financial assets
B2 BN BR IR Loans and receivables
(LIERAEAALE) (including cash and cash equivalents) 7,131,797 5,684,469
TR E ARk A E Available-for-sale financial assets 187,994 196,220
7,319,791 5,880,689
ARk AR Financial liabilities
kT i Derivative financial instruments (136,924) =
e oH R A Amortised cost (26,243,962) (18,034,133)
(26,380,886) (18,034,133)
(b) IR REERAZ (b)  Financial risk management objectives

FTECLHMAFTEIRERAER YA
BEEREME - TFFTATHTALE
AEBHEAREERIR - KEBRLE
At # & #L#] 36 (Department of Corporate
Finance and Planning) & # %1 3 F & 1F
EoIRE o

AEBZRAREEER S ERN A S
AE B E R K~ R R R
BoyEd) ~ Bdr BR A B B RE TSR L
REBEHRIL o KK HiE 8T R A
ﬁ%ﬁ##ﬁﬁ$~&ﬁ%&%éﬁw
HAZRMERESR  FERGEY
FEAR S a9 IR A A FAE ©

AEBAXFELEZARERFEREEA
BT AR R BCR SR 6 L
3G AR ST MR R B AT @ R e R R
EHBNEALTRE c AEREHEER &
& BB EE o MAEEHA
[/ P2 4 ) AR B AT W ALA R R A
Mo toEHEERERLER o
AE B2 TR ABAE R R R
w7 Kb BARATBE

ZRENFESR
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The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment
and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Board is
responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management
policies. The Department of Corporate Finance and Planning of the Group

reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse
the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Group’s activities.
The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which

all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to
the risks faced by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in its
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of

which are reported to the audit committee.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the

manner in which it manages and measures.
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48.
(b)

g T B ()

3 B 22 B AZ (4))
RN EF i AT R R B KA LY
MR RIRE  BERATEAMALER
EHZ B R o %% R SR

RS E R A E AR 15 R R
T AR B A R o

AR

ISP B 2R

AR B I U AT B A R B 5T
ié~ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ#“v&@ﬁ%
BRI o REB@BEMENERES

%E%Eﬂ%°$%@ﬂﬁi£%E%
MR o B F IR R JEINE AR
AR H B H G ST E KIE R o

EREH O KREBRAEATEAZE
HERRE AL @A T

48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives (continued)

The Board of Directors of the Company monitors and manages the financial
risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports
which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk)

credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

The Group conducts its treasury functions and maintain certain cash and
bank balances and bank borrowings in foreign currencies, hence is exposed to
foreign currency risk. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of the foreign currency exchange rates. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider

hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amount of the Group’s Hong Kong dollars denominated

monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:

3

Assets

B 1
Liabilities

0 M T

Hong Kong dollars

T T, Sl T ST 7,
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
465,249 592,546 11,180,000 8,236,676

Ty
TARFEAEBRHART (KA AA
PR AR BB A G MR L
T & b S R EAK10% 89 B © 10%
Be) N £ R AR 2RI E R R B
F R Z AR A B Bp A R G SR T 4
TR BN R ITAE o B AT AL
P AR ARMERERAR 0 AN
KB 3 E 10% 2k 38 A Mk H
AR SLBRTIE R E4 o IR
TENEA G I o FARKLBETEF
TFE10% » A 45 P9 A ) F a4
B o

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and
decrease in the Renminbi, the functional currency of the Company and
subsidiaries operating in the PRC, against Hong Kong dollars. 10% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number indicates an increase in profit for the
year where the Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar. For a 10%
weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, there would be equal but

opposite impact on the profit for the year.

BT AT
HK$ 000 HKS$ 000
Bkt Profit for the year 836,929 477,758
—REBENFEF
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48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
bank balances and borrowings. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings and other interest rate

swaps (see Notes 33 and 34 for details).

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in

the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings and other interest rate
swaps at the balance sheet date and assuming the stipulated change taking
place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout
the reporting period in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A
100 basis point increase or 50 basis point decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents

management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2008
would decrease by HK$30,940,000 (2007: decrease by HK$51,479,000). If
interest rates had been 50 basis points lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2008 would
increase by HK$13,847,000 (2007: increase by HK$25,740,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank

borrowings and other interest rate swaps.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current
year mainly due to the addition in variable-rate debt instruments and other

interest rate swap.

In order to keep borrowings at fixed rate and to minimise the cash flow
interest rate risk, the Group uses floating to fixed interest rate swaps
to manage the cash flow interest rate risk exposure associated with the
borrowings amounting to HK$11,180 million issued at floating rates (see
Note 33 for details). Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge and
fixed rate bank borrowings expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. At
31 December 2008, bank borrowings of approximately HK$9,913 million were

at fixed rates.
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48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives (continued)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the

Group is arising from:

. the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as

stated in the consolidated balance sheet; and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to the financial

guarantees as disclosed in note 40.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and debt investments at
each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

Other than the amount due from an associate, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of

counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensure compliance with loan covenants. Details of the Group’s borrowings

are set out in Note 33.

—REBENFEF
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48.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its

non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities.

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be

required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows.

THE GROUP
ZEEANF
AT AR +=A
Tt AgHE  =t+-—H
Weighted W ZAR@A
average 1218 A 5% L Total Carrying
effective AT 122% 255% Over undiscounted ~ amount at
interest rate 12 months or less 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows  31.12.2008

ZEEAE 2008
AR A Non-derivative financial liahilities
s Non-interest bearing
JEABRA R H AL A AR R Trade and other payables
JEATF 4 1B 8) 208 Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
JEA ) B R B R Amounts due to minority shareholders
RELE Fixed interest rate instruments
RITHER Bank borrowings
EARTE Variable interest rate instruments
SATRR Bank borrowings
MAELE—#i$E Derivative — net settlement
GE 2 Interest rate swap

% BlEfL BB BEfFL BEfTL BETL BETA
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4,226,299 - - - 4226299 4,226,299

13,098 - - - 13,098 13,098

911,573 - - - 911,573 911,573

6.46 4,254,271 1,651,774 5,096,093 287,882 11,290,020 9,912,992
1.33 267,719 147,018 11,230,646 - 11645383 11,180,000

9,672,960 1,798,792 16,326,739 287,882 28,086,373 26,243,962

55,150 110,300 59,728 - 225,178 136,924

].62 ZERBENSFER
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48.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

b S
i LES
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Financial risk management objectives (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
—ERXHE
REEH, +=A
AERE =+—n
iy ZHREE
1218 A 5% L Total Carrying
AT 122% 2255 Over undiscounted ~ amount at
12 months or less 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows  31.12.2007

% BEFL  REFL RBTL R%FL BREFL BEFA
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
337 2007
FrALBAK Non-derivative financial liabilities
S Non-interest bearing
JEAL B R A AR Trade and other payables 2,096,676 - = — 2096676 2,096,676
JEA R % 1 B 3] 39 Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 425 - = = 425 425
JEAT Y B R HR Amount due to a minority shareholder 503,084 = - - 503,084 503,084
FELR Fixed interest rate instruments
SATHE R Bank borrowings 6.1% 3,107,598 3,166,505 1,494,446 314,083 8,082,632 7,197,272
SETE Variable interest rate instruments
RATR R Bank borrowings 3.78% 415,808 549,455 8,930,911 - 9,896,174 8,236,676
6,123,591 3715960 10,425,357 314,083 20578991 18,034,133
(c) (c) Fair value of financial instruments

AT EAZ AT
éﬁﬁé&ﬁ@é%<A+ﬁﬁ%?ﬂ
#

aﬁ%ﬁ%%&%ﬁﬂ%%mﬁ
HTHE FL A EI AT
ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁmﬁ
Z R

o HATAZAFHERBEBAR
s g
i R R BHEAT A TR+ K
IR AR R (RAEATA TR 3

5 -

FERE o BB R AN G SR A
5‘ PRty 2 pk A E A A ek A X AR {5
Ho-FAEAR

49. PEMHHERE
HT3ZI63 AT R A LA EENF =
A=+ 8 BEEGIERIZHR -

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as

follows:

3 the fair value of financial assets with standard terms and conditions
and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices; and

. the fair value of derivative instruments is calculated based on

discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the
duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option
pricing models for optional derivatives.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

49. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements set out on pages 73 to 163 were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2009.

S RENI AR
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

KEBES Group’s results
FhT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
K EHE Revenue 9,133,605 5,681,095 3,936,730 2,706,886 1,889,680
AL AT i A Profit before taxation 3,056,920 2,771,434 1,332,486 485,260 79,622
P4 HLER 2 Income tax expense (965,596) (1,296,192) (480,611) (46,937) (108,676)
R i A Profit for the year 2,091,324 1,475,242 851,875 438,323 (29,054)
JEAL Attributable to:
ANE) R FHA Equity holders of the Company 2,037,631 1,431,082 858,675 384,512 21,361
D HE RS Minority interests 53,693 44,160 (6,800) 53,811 (50,415)
2,091,324 1,475,242 851,875 438,323 (29,054)
AEBFER G Group’s assets and liabilities
FUEF T BT BT BT BT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
(¥Z 7))
(restated)
LES Goodwill 87,459 50,423 - - -
W~ B R Property, plant and equipment 2,263,789 1,273,490 817,831 541,035 388,574
fastAL g oA Prepaid lease payments 2,876,565 2,399,137 40,362 42,208 43,131
BEME Investment properties 9,998,305 8,967,812 7,619,400 6,967,634 440,800
ik HEIEFE Deferred taxation assets 395,333 374,174 369,403 248,863 242,869
£ %A Long-term investments 919,093 789,820 686,699 817,930 772,534
JEN— RIS 8] #OR Amount due from an associate 265,178 237,464 245,070 230,708 236,149
A E Current assets 53,952,581 33,686,737 16,960,550 8,926,325 8,250,651
HEE Total assets 70,758,303 47,779,057 26,739,315 17,774,703 10,374,708
A AR Current liabilities 15,931,976 9,874,272 8,182,314 4,977,380 4,074,570
A 1k Long-term liabilities 17,030,097 12,721,736 6,157,538 3,959,538 1,813,019
i IEFLIR A Deferred taxation liabilities 1,520,162 1,276,939 666,289 507,942 4,072
A eI A Derivative financial instruments 136,924 = = = -
Atk4a Total liabilities 34,619,159 23,872,947 15,006,141 9,444,860 5,891,661
36,139,144 23,906,110 11,733,174 8,329,843 4,483,047
RN B HE S A Equity attributable to equity holders
JE AL A 5 of the Company 33,805,135 22,129,461 11,513,357 8,106,286 3,728,074
b B RAE B Minority interests 2,334,009 1,776,649 219,817 223,557 754,973
36,139,144 23,906,110 11,733,174 8,329,843 4,483,047

S REN LR
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